

United States Department of Agriculture Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service

Risk Assessment of the Movement of Firewood within the United States



Agency Contact:

Plant Epidemiology and Risk Analysis Laboratory Center for Plant Health Science and Technology Plant Protection and Quarantine Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service United States Department of Agriculture 1730 Varsity Drive, Suite 300 Raleigh NC, 27606

Executive Summary

Exotic and native forest pests such as *Agrilus planipennis* (emerald ash borer), *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Asian longhorned beetle), *Dendroctonous ponderosae* (mountain pine beetle), *Ophiostoma novo-ulmi* and *O. ulmi* (pathogens associated with Dutch elm disease), *Cryphonectria parasitica* (pathogen associated with chestnut blight), and *Geosmithia* sp. (pathogen associated with thousand cankers disease of black walnut) cause serious damage to urban and natural forests in the United States. These pests and many others disperse various distances through multiple pathways including movement of nursery stock and firewood. Firewood is a raw forest product that is widely utilized and moved throughout the United States with relatively limited consideration of the potential pests within or the associated with the movement of firewood such as users, movement, insects and diseases, potential impact to natural and urban forests, and trends in firewood use. From our assessment, we estimate firewood to be a high-risk pathway for the movement of forest pests for the following reasons.

- Firewood is a well-known pathway for the movement of wood pests.
- The United States requires treatment of all imported firewood, with a few exceptions from Canada and Mexico.
- Regulations prohibiting the domestic movement of firewood are already justified and in place for several states for five exotic forest pests.
- Firewood readily moves commercially and privately throughout the United States.
- Urban forests are particularly susceptible and increasing in number.
- High diversity and coverage of forests in the United States.
- The value of the economic resources in the United States at risk if exotic or native forest pests are spread to additional areas is very high.
- High regulatory costs of forest pest management.

Movement of firewood is a high-risk pathway for spreading non-native and native forest pests in the United States. We recommend that Federal and State regulatory agencies examine the current regulations for firewood movement and coordinate efforts to mitigate the potential risks, with primary focus on long-distance and urban area movement.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary i
List of Tables
List of Figures
Nature of the Problem
Statement of Purpose
Scope of the Assessment
Definition of Firewood
Overview of Treatments for Wood Products Entering the United States
Current Federal Treatment Requirements for Firewood
State Regulations for Firewood
Firewood Use in the United States
Description of Firewood Pathways
Firewood imported from other countries
Firewood distributors7
Firewood users
Home heating9
Camping13
Initiation, Approach, and Distribution of Pest Risk16
Pest Interceptions Associated with Firewood16
Border Interceptions
Firewood Surveys and Studies
Potential for Movement and Establishment of Pests in Firewood19
Resources at Risk
United States Forests
Urban forests
Economics of Forest Products and Regulatory Costs
Pests Associated with Firewood
Insects
Pathogens

Evolving forest pathosystems and the concerns they raise with domestic movement of unmitigated	
firewood	31
Historical examples	32
New Understanding and Risks	33
Summary	. 34
Authors	. 36
Reviewers	. 36
Editor	. 36
Acknowledgements	. 36
Appendices	. 37
Appendix A. Overview of treatments for wood products entering the United States	37
Appendix B. Insects associated with firewood (fact sheets)	42
Appendix C. Pathogens Associated with Firewood (fact sheets)	74
Appendix D. Literature Cited	87

List of Tables

Table 1. States with regulations relating to the movement of raw wood, including firewood	4
Table 2. Approximate weight per standard cord of various woods and	5
Table 3. Ratings for popular firewood species.	5
Table 4. United States firewood imports by custom districts (2009)	6
Table 5. Estimated quantity and value of firewood utilized for home heating	10
Table 6. Fuelwood (cords) removed from public (BLM) lands 2003-2007	11
Table 7. Orders of insects detected on firewood at California inspection stations	17
Table 8. Examples of insects known to move on raw wood/firewood	27
Table 9. Examples of forest pathogens and associated diseases with potential to move on raw	
wood/firewood	30

List of Figures

Figure 1. Firewood distributors advertising firewood and reporting over \$163,000 in annual	
sales	9
Figure 2. Trends in oil prices and the cumulative annual sales (11 years) of fireplaces and	
woodstoves	10
Figure 3. Fuelwood permits from Federal lands.	12
Figure 4. Residential Sector 2005 - Energy consumption from fire/fuel wood and 2002 average	•
miles per shipment for logs and other wood in the rough (all transport modes)	13
Figure 5. Federal, State, and public campgrounds throughout the United States	14
Figure 6. Firewood interceptions by state	17

Figure 7. Urban areas of the United States and Canada depicted using city lights	20
Figure 8. Transportation corridors throughout the United States.	21
Figure 9. United States Forest Service reporting regions.	22
Figure 10. United States Forest Service forest types.	23
Figure 11. National insect and disease risk map for the United States	26
Figure 12. Emerald ash borer detections and regulated areas in North America. Source:	44
Figure 13. Counties and municipalities with S. noctilio detections (2004-2008)	48
Figure 14. U.S. distribution of beech bark disease constituents in 2005	81

Nature of the Problem

The risks associated with the movement, introduction, and establishment of forest pests in firewood are well recognized, with regulations prohibiting the movement of firewood without treatment or inspection from quarantine areas for forest pests regulated by the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS). Additionally, nearly all firewood imported into the United States is required to have treatments prior to importation to mitigate the risk of pest introduction. The rapid spread of *Agrilus plannipennis*, the emerald ash borer (EAB), in the United States has been attributed primarily to movement of infested nursery stock and firewood (emeraldashborer, 2010). The regulation of ash nursery stock movement was easier to enact due to the identifiable industry and commodity involved; however, regulation of hardwood firewood movement has been more difficult to manage and less effective due to the diverse nature of the firewood industry and the use and movement of firewood by the general public.

Numerous stakeholders representing Federal, State, and private forestery, as well as academia, attended a Firewood Forum for the northeastern United States in New Jersey in 2008. The unanimous message was that firewood is a high-risk pathway for moving exotic forest pests. Groups such as the National Association of State Departments of Agriculture, the National Association of State Foresters, the Southern Group of State Forests, and the Southern Forest Insect Work Conference published position papers recommending strong outreach and educational campaigns, and requesting the regulation of interstate commerce in firewood (NASDA, 2007; NASF, 2009; SFIWC, 2008).

The National Plant Board (NPB) responded by developing a national strategy to mitigate the risks associated with the domestic movement of firewood (NPB, 2007). Resolutions included the following: United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) APHIS and the USDA Forest Service, in cooperation with the NPB and the National Association of State Foresters, will develop a national education and outreach program to inform interstate tourists and travelers that firewood can introduce dangerous and damaging plant pests and as such should not be carried for long distances. The USDA will develop and approve measures (criteria/processes) to mitigate the movement of pests in firewood, and USDA-APHIS should start the process to federally regulate the interstate movement of firewood as a commodity. A National Firewood Task Force (NFTF), a coalition of State and Federal agricultural and natural resource officials, has since been formed to further this process.

Currently, Federal regulations restrict the movement of firewood in several states. As these regulations often pertain to firewood associated with the EAB quarantine, they fail to address the broad risk of firewood movement. This assessment was initiated to examine the risks associated with the domestic movement of firewood in the United States.

Statement of Purpose

The specific objectives of this pest risk assessment are to:

• describe the characteristics of firewood as a pathway for the spread of wood pests,

- assess the potential for movement and establishment of wood pests that may be transported in firewood, and
- estimate the potential economic and environmental consequences these pests may have on forest and tree resources, including the urban environment, if the pests are moved to new areas in the United States.

Although in this assessment we attempt to describe potential risks associated with transport of pests in firewood, there is no way to predict which specific organisms may actually move and cause damage, when such events may occur, or the magnitude of actual damage (Orr et al., 1993). As such, this document presents an analysis of pest risk potential for firewood rather than a pest-specific risk assessment.

Scope of the Assessment

In this document, we evaluate the risk of movement of wood pests in firewood within the United States. Firewood can be composed of nearly all hardwood and softwood species of wood, and numerous pests have been reported to occur on these hosts. Therefore, a comprehensive list of wood pests, hosts, and reported distribution was not generated. Instead, key species of wood pests were selected to illustrate movement potential and probable impacts.

Many organisms in the forest ecosystem work to break down and remove dead or dying trees. These organisms are an essential part of a healthy forest. In this assessment, we are primarily focused on native or exotic organisms associated with firewood that could potentially affect healthy trees in new areas through their movement and establishment.

In describing the firewood pathway, we considered the association of pests with firewood, the amount of firewood, the movement and distribution of firewood within the United States, and the difficulties involved in detecting wood pests in firewood shipments.

In addition to being capable of moving with firewood, an organism must be able to become established in a new environment and cause harm to be considered a pest. Biological characteristics of organisms contribute to their ability to gain entry, become established, and cause harm in new environments. Knowledge of these characteristics can be used to categorize an organism's pest risk threat.

Definition of Firewood

Firewood is defined as "wood that has been cut, sawn, or chopped into a shape and size commonly used for fuel, or other wood intended for fuel" (7 CFR § 301.92, 2010).

Overview of Treatments for Wood Products Entering the United States

The general requirement for any consignment of wood or lumber products is for documentation to accompany each shipment that identifies the commodity, quantity, and its origin. All shipments are subject to inspection and may require other actions deemed necessary by USDA-APHIS Plant Protection and Quarantine (PPQ) as a result of inspection. The universal import

Rev.Original May, 2010

option for logs or lumber includes either heat treatment or kiln drying and must be conducted prior to arrival. Treated or dried logs or lumber cannot be commingled with other regulated materials unless all regulated articles in the same hold or container have been heat treated or kiln dried. Heat treated or kiln dried lumber must be marked by permanent marking on each piece of lumber or on the cover of bundles of lumber. Alternatively, the importer document accompanying the shipment must state that the logs or lumber have been heat treated or kiln dried.

Regarding specific types of firewood originating from specific regions or countries, temperate hardwood logs and lumber must be fumigated prior to arrival. If pine originating from Canada moves through an area of the United States quarantined for pine shoot beetle, articles must be shipped in an enclosed vehicle or completely covered. *Fraxinus* spp. from Canada originating in areas regulated for EAB must be debarked or chipped. Raw lumber is not authorized from areas in Asia that are east of 60 degrees east longitude and north of the Tropic of Cancer. Allowable raw lumber from Asia must be completely debarked and cannot be commingled with other regulated materials unless the raw lumber and the other regulated articles are in separate holds or in separate sealed containers. Raw lumber on the vessel's deck must be in a sealed container. (CFR 319.40-6)

Current Federal Treatment Requirements for Firewood

All ash logs and all hardwood firewood from EAB quarantine areas are required to undergo treatment T314-a, specifically, heat treatment at 71.1°C for 75 minutes¹. All logs (including firewood) from gypsy moth quarantine areas are required to undergo treatment T314-b, specifically heat treatment at 56°C for 30 minutes.

The treatment manual also provides treatments premitted for export of oak logs to destroy oak wilt disease (T312-a and -b, methyl bromide) and pine logs to destroy pine shoot beetle [T313-b and D301.50- $10(a)^2$, methyl bromide].

State Regulations for Firewood

Federal quarantines regulate interstate movement and State quarantines regulate intrastate movement. Twenty-eight states within the conterminous United States have regulations for internal or external quarantines relating to the movement of raw logs. The more recent quarantines cite firewood explicitly as a regulated item, while some cite "logs" and "branches," of a given species or of multiple species, and firewood is implicit. The organisms that have prompted Federal and State quarantines include EAB, Asian longhorned beetle (ALB), gypsy moth, pine shoot beetle, sudden oak death, sirex wood wasp, hemlock woolly adelgid, and the European larch canker (Table 1). A number of states are developing regulations to restrict the movement of firewood, among other raw wood products, in connection with thousand cankers disease (Nebraska, Kansas, and Missouri) and laurel wilt disease (Florida). New York was the

¹ Recent thermotolerance studies show that EAB survival is variable depending on the heating conditions, and an internal wood temperature of 60°C for 60 minutes should be considered the minimum for safe treatment of firewood (Meyers et al., 2009).

² This treatment applies only to domestic movement of regulated articles.

first state with firewood regulations prohibiting the movement of untreated firewood into the state and within the state over distances of greater than 50 miles. Regulations pending in Florida will allow the use of untreated firewood only within a 50-mile radius; otherwise the wood must be certified (Hornby, 2010).

Organism	States with Regulations
Emerald ash borer (Agrilus planipennis)	IL, IN, MD, MI, MN, MO, NY, OH, PA, VA, WI,
	WV
Asian longhorned beetle (Anoplophora glabripennis)	CT, IL, MA, ME, NH, NJ, NY, RI, VT, WI
Gypsy moth (Lymantria dispar)	CA, CT, DC, DE, IL, IN, MA, MD, ME, MI, NC,
	NH, NJ, NY, OH, PA, RI, VA, VT, WI, WV
Pine shoot beetle (Tomicus perniperda)	CT, IA, IL, IN, MA, MD, ME, MI, MN, NH, NJ,
	NY, OH, PA, RI, TN, UT, VA, VT, WI, WV
Sudden oak death (Phytophthora ramorum)	CA, OR, WA, WI
European larch canker (Lachnellula willkommi)	ME
Hemlock woolly adelgid (Adelges tsugae)	ME, MI, NH
Sirex wood wasp (Sirex noctilio)	MD, NC
Thousand Cankers Disease (Geosmithia sp. nov.,	MO
Pitvophthorus juglandis)	

Table 1. States with regulations relating to the movement of raw wood, including firewood.

Firewood Use in the United States

Trees utilized for firewood production are often unsuitable for any other purpose. They are often stressed, crooked, damaged, diseased, insect-ridden, or killed, and are removed in urban/ residential areas for aesthetic or safety reasons and in timber stands to improve site conditions for crop trees. As the source of firewood is often stressed or dying trees, it will frequently contain wood pest organism(s) that may have contributed to its demise, thus increasing the risk of firewood. Bark is not purposefully removed from firewood and it frequently remains on the firewood for extended periods of time. The presence of bark increases the ability for wood pests to survive and the suitability and attractiveness of the wood to secondary invading pests. Several characteristics determine whether or not a tree is suitable for lumber or veneer, including diameter, height, branching, and the presence of defects. Urban and yard trees are often utilized as firewood. They are grown in open areas, resulting in short boles and numerous branches, and are often avoided by timber mills because of the risk that they may contain embedded objects (nails, wires, etc.) that could damage equipment and present hazards to sawyers.

A standard cord is the amount of firewood contained in 128 cubic feet of space when the firewood is tightly stacked (80 cubic feet of solid wood). A cord of firewood is a pile which measures 4 feet wide, 4 feet high, and 8 feet long. The number of trees in a cord of wood depends on the size of the tree–for example, one mature tree with a 22-inch diameter at breast height (DBH, 4.5 feet from ground level) is all that is needed for a cord of firewood, while it would take 50 trees with a 5-inch DBH to comprise a cord (Patmos, 2005). Another common measurement is the "face cord" or "rick" which is a pile of firewood measuring 4 feet by 8 feet by 24 inches (or whatever length each stick is cut), approximating one-half of a standard cord. Firewood bundles, often seen at supermarkets or other retail outlets, represent between 1/100 of a cord (a bundle weighing 36 pounds) and 1/64 of a cord (a bundle measuring 1 foot by 1 foot by 2

feet) (Slusher, 1985). Individuals selling firewood may sell it by the truckload, in which case determining the true volume of wood is difficult.

The fuel value of wood varies by the type of wood and depends on its density and moisture content. Denser (heavier) woods, if properly dried, will deliver more Btu per cord (Table 2). Hardwoods are more desirable for firewood because they have a higher fuel value (Table 3), burn longer, and tend to produce more coals that last longer when compared to softwoods. Each of the tree species noted in the tables below is commonly utilized as firewood. Each is associated with a variety of native organisms that could become pests in a new environment, and each could serve as host for any number of forest pests.

	Pounds	Pounds	Million Btu
	green ¹	air-dried ²	available ³
Ash	3,940	3,370	23.6
Basswood	3,360	2,100	14.7
Box elder	3,500	2,500	17.5
Cottonwood	3,920	2,304	16.1
Elm (American)	4,293	2,868	20.1
Elm (Red)	4,480	3,056	21.4
Hackberry	4,000	3,080	21.6
Hickory (shagbark)	4,980	4,160	29.1
Locust (black)	4,640	4,010	28.1
Maple (silver)	3,783	2,970	20.8
Maple (sugar)	4,386	3,577	25.0
Oak (red)	4,988	3,609	25.3
Oak (white)	4,942	3,863	27.0
Osage orange	5,480	4,380	30.7
Pine (shortleaf)	4,120	2,713	19.0
Red cedar	3,260	2,700	18.9
Sycamore	4,160	2,956	20.7
Walnut (black)	4.640	3.120	21.8

Table 2. Approximate weight per standard cord of various woods and potential heat of air-dried wood.

¹ Approximate weight of standard cord, for the first two columns of figures.

² To 20% moisture content.

³ Potential available heat from standard cord with 100% unit

efficiency. Heat at 20% moisture content.

Source: Wood fuel for heating (Slusher, 1985).

Table 3	. Ratings	for pop	ular firew	ood species.
---------	-----------	---------	------------	--------------

	Relative amount of heat	Easy to burn?	Easy to split?	Have heavy smoke?	Pop or throw sparks?	General rating and remarks
Hardwood Trees						
Ash, red oak, white oak, beech, birch, hickory, hard maple, pecan, dogwood	High	Yes	Yes	No	No	Excellent
Soft maple, cherry, walnut	Medium	Yes	Yes	No	No	Good
Elm, sycamore, gum	Medium	Medium	No	Medium	No	Fair-too much water when green
Aspen, basswood, cottonwood, yellow poplar	Low	Yes	Yes	Medium	No	Fair–but good for kindling

Softwood Trees						
Southern yellow pine	High	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Good, but smoky
Cypress	Medium	Medium	Yes	Medium	No	Fair
Eastern red cedar	Medium	Yes	Yes	Medium	Yes	Good–good for kindling
9 (91 1 1005)						

Source: (Slusher, 1985).

Description of Firewood Pathways

Firewood imported from other countries

From 2005 to 2009, the United States received imports of firewood ("fuelwood": billets, twigs, and faggots), with values exceeding \$39 million. The majority (64.4%) came from Canada; 33.9% was imported from Central and South America, Europe, or Asia; and a little less than 2% from Mexico. This firewood comes into the United States through multiple districts and is then distributed throughout the country. Imports received in 2009 were valued at just under \$7.1 million (Table 4), primarily going into the northeast (NY, ME, VT) at \$2.5 million, the Pacific Northwest (WA) at \$2 million, and the south (TX, FL, LA, VA) at \$2 million. As with the five-year data, most firewood is imported into the United States from Canada, Honduras, and Estonia.

Country of Origin	U.S. Customs District	Total (US\$)
Argentina	Houston TX (District)	45,414
Canada	Anchorage AK (District)	28,476
	Buffalo NY (District)	85,054
	Detroit MI (District)	108,449
	Ogdensburg NY (District)	366,794
	Portland ME (District)	313,956
	Seattle WA (District)	2,047,937
	St Albans VT (District)	467,895
China	Columbia-Snake (District)	11,039
Colombia	Houston TX (District)	6,006
El Salvador	New Orleans LA (District)	30,636
Estonia	Baltimore MD (District)	2,138
	Los Angeles CA (District)	74,855
	New York City NY (District)	1,080,695
Honduras	Houston TX (District)	154,053
	Los Angeles CA (District)	163,196
	Miami FL (District)	1,538,685
	New Orleans LA (District)	135,922
	Norfolk VA (District)	32,738
	San Francisco CA (District)	45,221
Indonesia	New York City NY (District)	12,300
Japan	Los Angeles CA (District)	2,305
Latvia	Los Angeles CA (District)	20,710

Table 4. United States firewood imports by custom districts (2009).

	Miami FL (District)	23,812
	New York City NY (District)	148,554
Mexico	El Paso TX (District)	53,626
	Laredo TX (District)	29,932
	Nogales AZ (District)	19,548
Netherlands	New York City NY (District)	8,837
Sweden	New York City NY (District)	7,007
	San Francisco CA (District)	13,904
Switzerland	New York City NY (District)	18,042
Grand Total		7,097,736

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census: Foreign Trade Division USA Trade[®] Online; U.S. Import and Export Merchandise trade statistics.

In general, imported firewood must undergo heat treatments of 71°C for 75 minutes prior to entrance into the United States, although regulations vary for wood from Canada and Mexico³. If proof of treatment cannot be provided, the entire shipment is rejected; however, firewood is not inspected upon entry into the United States as long as the importing country provides proof of treatment, (Jones, 2010). Much of the material imported is in single bundles for personal use (for fireplace ambiance or camping) and these single bundles are shrink-wrapped. Some are entirely wrapped in plastic and some have only the center portion of the bundles wrapped, open at both ends. Firewood double-bagged entirely (but loosely) in contractor grade 4 mil plastic bags is an inexpensive and effective method for preventing the spread of emerald ash borer (Poland et al., 2008) and most likely other forest pests as well.

Canada also exports large quantities of "hog fuel" into the United States. Hog fuel, defined by the Harmonized Tariff Codes of the United States⁴ as "wood waste," often comes in the form of 5-foot slabs cut from logs prior to processing at the sawmill (Jones, 2010). These slabs, taken from any number of tree species, are often sent into the Pacific Northwest. During 2009, Canada exported 189.7 thousand metric tons of hog fuel to the United States. This material may not be covered within the existing regulatory structure, as it is not considered "firewood" and, as such, does not require treatment. Because these slabs are likely to contain bark and outer sapwood, the importation of hog fuel from Canada may be a pathway for the introduction of forest pests into the United States.

Firewood distributors

Firewood dealers range from individuals selling wood locally from the back of a truck to very large distributors that ship firewood from coast to coast. Logs and other materials utilized for firewood are cheap (often free) and easily obtained through sawmills, logging operations, tree

³ Conifer firewood from Canada (with the exception of *Pinus* firewood from pine shoot beetle-infested areas) and all firewood from Mexican states adjacent to the United States are exempt from treatment requirements.

⁴ The Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States defines the term "wood waste" as residual material other than firewood resulting from the processing of wood, including scraps, shavings, sawdust, veneer clippings, chipper rejects, and similar small wood residues, as well as larger or coarser solid types of residual wood such as slabs, edgings, cull pieces, and veneer log cores

service companies, land clearing companies, construction companies, and homeowners. Forest landowners often produce firewood as an added benefit of managing woodlots for timber production. Wood can be cut and kept to save fuel costs or sold to generate income, and this improves timber quality, species composition, and growth rate by removing undesirable trees (Gardner, 1997). As discussed above, firewood is also imported from other countries and distributed throughout the United States, particularly into urban areas.

Commercial firewood, particularly if sold by large distributors, may be moved long distances. For example, firewood sold in Ohio may come from Missouri, brokered by a firm in Texas (Buck, 2008). Given the ubiquitous nature of this industry, the exact number of firewood dealers is unknown and any estimate will include a great deal of uncertainty. We obtained data on firewood distributors (dealers) from an organization that collects information on businesses throughout the United States. As of January 2010, this database contained 1093 businesses that reported the sale of firewood as their primary source of income. Annual sales range from \$163,000 to over \$16 million, with the majority (82%) earning less than \$500,000 (Figure 1) and consisting of one to three employees. The total sales volume reported by these companies exceeds \$619 million. These firewood dealers are scattered throughout the country, particularly clustered on the West Coast and in the northeastern United States, which represents 23 and 26 percent of the total sales volume reported, respectively.

Firewood Distributors



Figure 1. Firewood distributors advertising firewood and reporting over \$163,000 in annual sales.

Regarding acquisition of wood for sale, distributors may produce the wood themselves, obtain local firewood, travel several hours to collect it (Buck, 2008), or, as is the case in some western states, they may travel hundreds of miles (Jacobi, 2007). Firewood is sold "green," "seasoned," or "kiln dried." Green firewood is freshly cut and should be dried prior to burning. The risk associated with green firewood is high, as any insect or pathogen present in the wood will have a greater probability of surviving transport into a new habitat. Seasoned wood has been allowed to air dry for a time, generally six months to a year, although under the right conditions (cut during the winter and allowed to air dry), wood may be considered "seasoned" after three months. While these periods may allow the wood to dry sufficiently to burn well, insects and pathogens may still be present and living within the wood. For example, wood infested with the emerald ash borer may contain both newly initiated and fully developed larvae and it may take two successive emergence periods (i.e., two summers) for all EAB adults to emerge (Petrice and Haack, 2007). Wood dwelling nematodes like the pine wood nematode (Bursaphelenchus xylophilus (Steiner & Buhrer) Nickle) are able to survive in chipped wood for 20 months (Panesar et al., 1994). Further, the fruiting bodies of fungi may remain viable in firewood for more than three years .

Treatment practices by some firewood distributors may reduce the risk of pests associated with firewood. For example, a site visit to a large firewood production facility in Pennsylvania (Chaloux, 2008) revealed that incoming inventories of stock are purchased from sawmills within a 25 to 30 mile radius. Raw logs (approx. 20 feet long) are transported to the lumber yard, cut to firewood length and split into firewood. Prior to stacking, wood is either screen cleaned to remove loose bark and dirt or kiln dried. The piled wood is utilized to fuel the kilns during periods of high demand or sold locally by the cord. This distributor routinely kiln-dries the wood to produce firewood that burns cleanly and easily; their protocol calls for a 36-48 hour run in the kiln at 110-115°C, a treatment that would likely destroy any potential pests.

Firewood users

Home heating

There are an estimated 41 million wood stoves and wood-burning fireplaces in homes throughout the United States (EPA, 2009). Residential wood combustion meets 9% of the nation's space-heating energy needs and wood is burned regularly in approximately 30 million homes (Houck et al., 1998). As prices for home heating oil rise and the cumulative acquisition of fireplaces and woodstoves rises, it becomes more likely that people will supplement their home heating with firewood (Figure 2).



U.S. Cumulative Annual Sales Beginning 1998 of Fireplaces, Freestanding Woodstoves and Inserts, Units Shipped and Annual Average Price for U.S. No. 2 Heating Oil Residential Price cents / gal.

Firewood consumption for home heating varies throughout the country and is affected by other fuel costs, air pollution regulations, the availability of firewood, and population density. In Michigan, for example, utilizing wood for home heating may require up to 7 cords per winter (Pentico, 2010), while in Oklahoma, only 3 or 4 cords may be required (Marcoullier and Anderson, n.d.).

Houck et al. (1998) estimate that 20.4 million households utilize wood for residential spaceheating in the United States and consume 27.4 million cords of wood per year. This equates to approximately 219 million pole-sized trees (8-inch DBH). A second estimate of the quantity and value of firewood utilized for home heating, based on research conducted by Skog and Watterson (1983), is found in Table 5.

Table 5. Estimated quantity and value of firewood utilized for home hea in the United States.				
Total U.S. households 2002 (U.S. Census)	107,366,878			
28% of households using firewood 1980/81 heating season (Skog and Watterson 1983)	30,062,726			
Number of cords consumed @ 1.91 cords/household (Skog and Watterson	57,419,806			

Source: Shipment Data: Hearth, Patio & Barbecue Association http://www.hpba.org and for 2009 based on available news report. Heating Oil price series data from U.S, Dept. of Energy.

Figure 2. Trends in oil prices and the cumulative annual sales (11 years) of fireplaces and woodstoves.

1983)	
Cubic feet of solid wood @ 80 cubic feet solid wood / cord	4,593,584,508
Estimated Value @\$80 per cord	\$4.593 billion

Firewood for home heating may be obtained locally or transported long distances. Buck (2008) estimated that the potential spread is frequently 150-200 miles. Firewood is a significant resource on public lands in the western United States. Between 2003 and 2007 fuel wood sales from Bureau of Land Management (BLM) lands roughly doubled (Table 6)⁵. Interestingly, the majority of tree harvest permits requested in one forest region in 2008 were requested by individuals residing less than one hundred miles from the harvest area. However, some applicants resided nearly 2000 miles from the harvest area (Figure 3) and it is reasonable to assume these individuals, if granted permits, transported the cut wood over large distances.

Fuelwood Cords						
Fiscal Year (October - September)		2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
Alaska		713	481	705	1,232	1,032
Arizona		443	285	468	214	589
California		556	482	453	796	950
Colorado		1,384	1,759	2,630	5,126	6,469
Idaho		507	362	498	313	445
Montana		381	3,455	1,046	1,589	1,857
Nevada		4,356	3,368	4,459	4,604	3,759
New Mexico		1,954	2,815	4,552	6,506	7,496
Oregon		4,576	4,788	4,508	5,442	7,192
Utah		3,239	2,967	4,356	2,641	5,616
Wyoming		855	289	676	975	2,070
	Total	18,964	21,051	24,351	29,438	37,475

Table 6. Fuelwood (cords) removed from public (BLM) lands 2003-2007.

Source: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management, Public Land Statistics 2003 through 2007.

 $^{^{5}}$ Includes volumes related specifically to fuelwood sales during the fiscal year. The unit of measure used is cords, the traditional standard for fuelwood. Two cords are approximately equal to one MBF = one thousand board feet; one board foot measures 1 foot in length by 1 foot in width by 1 inch in thickness. Volumes and values associated with BLM's Stewardship Contracting authority are not included.



USDA: Forest Service Northern Region (Montana and Northern Idaho) 2008 Fuelwood Permits Issuance



The graph below highlights the individual states that consume wood for residential heating and also the average number of miles that states ship firewood and other raw wood (Figure 4). States such as Indiana, Rhode Island, New Hampshire, Missouri, and Idaho rank higher than others in average shipment miles (over 500 miles). Homeowners frequently cut and haul their own firewood making this specific pathway very difficult to assess.



Figure 4. Residential Sector 2005 - Energy consumption from fire/fuel wood and 2002 average miles per shipment for logs and other wood in the rough (all transport modes).⁶

Camping

Thousands of campgrounds are scattered throughout the United States (Figure 5) and camping is a popular recreational activity for millions of people each year. Campfires are an integral part of camping, and campers often bring their own firewood due to the cost and quality of firewood provided at or near campgrounds. Surveys from the west and the northeast indicate that 8 to 57% of campers may bring firewood from home, often travelling 100 to 200 miles and frequently crossing state lines (Jacobi, 2007; Jacobi et al., 2009; Weimer, 2008). Research conducted in the western states estimates that 330,000 campers (RVs, trailers, tents) are moving firewood into national parks every year (Jacobi et al. 2010). Although most national park campers buy firewood inside the park, some campers have been known to bring firewood from one side of the country to another—for example, from California to New Hampshire (NHDR, 2006).

⁶ Source: U.S. Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration, Table S4. Residential Sector Energy Consumption Estimates, 2005 2002 Commodity Flow Survey, Transportation-Commodity Flow Survey, Bureau of Transportation Statistics and U.S. Census Bureau, 2005 Economic Census. Table 5a. Shipment Characteristics by Two-Digit Commodity for State of Origin: 2002.

Campgrounds



Figure 5. Federal, State, and public campgrounds throughout the United States.

In connection with the EAB program, PPQ conducted firewood surveys during two peak holiday periods (Memorial Day and Labor Day) in Michigan and Ohio during the summer of 2004. The Michigan survey was targeted towards reducing the amount of firewood moved out of EAB quarantine areas and the Ohio survey was targeted toward reducing the amount of firewood coming from quarantined areas into Ohio. In Michigan, within a two-day period (Thursday/Friday), there were 128 referrals for firewood with 101 quarantine violations. There were 4871 pieces of firewood seized; only eight of these pieces were ash, but of these, six were infested with EAB. Because the insect of interest was EAB, no survey was done of any other wood pests that may have been present on the seized wood. The Labor Day survey in Ohio resulted in fewer seizures (7 seizures totalling 254 pieces of firewood, and no EAB observed), but it was noted in the report that although the firewood originated in Michigan near the Ohio border destinations included Indiana, Ohio, and Pennsylvania (APHIS PPQ EAB Program 2004).

As an example of a specific camping-related activity, stockcar racing is a popular spectator sport for millions of people in the United States. Races take place from February through November at venues scattered throughout the country and many fans camp while traveling the circuit. In 2006, after an employee at Great Smoky Mountains National Park noticed a visitor with firewood

coming from an EAB-quarantined area, PPQ conducted a firewood survey in eastern Tennessee, including Sullivan County, where the Bristol Motor Speedway is located. Campgrounds near the speedway hosted campers from 40 different states; campers from 14 states had transported firewood to the race. Four seizures were made in violation of EAB quarantines, approximating 120 pieces of firewood (Pentico, 2006). The hardwood firewood seizures came from Michigan, Indiana, and the Canadian province of Ontario, localities over 500 miles from the campgrounds. Additionally, most of the out of state visitors with firewood came from from Florida, North Carolina, Georgia, and other southern states. This is noteworthy because the redbay ambrosia beetle, Xyleborus glabratus, is associated with a fungal pathogen, Raffaelea lauricola, which causes laurel wilt disease (LWD) and kills trees in the Lauraceae family, including redbay, sassafrass, and others. These tree species occur in LWD-infected areas and are often utilized as firewood. Similar blitzes were conducted in the Bristol, TN, area in 2007 and 2008. In 2008, a total of 29 firewood seizures occurred. Of these seizures, 75% of the people moving firewood knew about the quarantines, but moved the wood out of the quarantined areas anyway. Conversely, people who made reservations at campgrounds that expressly directed people not to bring firewood with them did not bring firewood, thus demonstrating the potential efficacy of citizen outreach programs (Cooley, 2008).

A 2008 survey of campers in Wisconsin revealed that most campers (87%) felt strongly that fires were an important part of the camping experience; while some (27%) continued to bring firewood from home or from some other distant location, this was a marked reduction from their 2006 survey, in which 44% of campers brought their own firewood (Peterson and Nelson, 2009). Most campers (75-78%) used 4-6 armload size bundles or more of firewood during their camping experience.

Scientists from Colorado State University conducted surveys of state park campers in Colorado and National Park campers in Wyoming, Colorado, Utah and Nevada from 2007-2009 to determine camper home states, firewood presence, firewood state sources, and the risk of harboring pests (Jacobi et al., 2010b). They surveyed campers in 15 state and 30 Federal campgrounds (from 7 state and 13 National Parks) and found that 66% of state and 60% of Federal campers interviewed had firewood at the campsites. Tent campers were more likely to have firewood than those with other means of camping (e.g., tent trailers, RVs, trailers). In Colorado state campgrounds, 4% of campers brought firewood from out-of-state sources, or, when weighted with visitor statistics, 2,358 campers per year. In Federal campgrounds, 39% of campers brought firewood from out-of-state sources, or, when weighted with value of from out-of-state sources, or, when weighted with National Park visitor statistics, 329,919 campers per year. Firewood type was primarily conifer and the majority of both conifer and hardwood firewood had bark attached. On out-of-state firewood, signs of prior insect infestation and fungal infection were present on 41% and 13%, respectively.

Much work has been done to raise awareness of the issues surrounding the movement of firewood by campers, and it does appear that people are becoming aware of the associated risks and that some are altering their habits. Many campgrounds and state forestry agencies are adding their assistance and urging visitors to parks and campgrounds to leave firewood at home and purchase it locally. Shenandoah National Park has just issued a ban on firewood purchased or brought from outside the park and will allow campers to gather dead and downed firewood in the park or purchase it at Park Camp Stores (NPS, 2010).

In general, the movement of firewood by campers is associated with the spread of forest pests. During the initial spread of EAB infestations in the northeast, 75% of new infestations were found in campgrounds or parks-these included campgrounds in Michigan, Ohio, Indiana, and West Virginia (Buck, 2008; Ellis, 2008). Firewood is often made from diseased or insect-ridden or killed trees, and curing or drying times for firewood can be as little as three months. People camp more often during the summer and early fall months, and insects or other pests are most active during these seasons. Movement of firewood by campers is often limited to 100 or 200 miles, presenting a substantial risk for exacerbating the spread of pests locally. Because some campers move firewood long distances, this is a greater risk for new long distance spread infestations.

Initiation, Approach, and Distribution of Pest Risk

Pest Interceptions Associated with Firewood

Border Interceptions

Forest pests accompany firewood by becoming associated with the wood in several ways. Pests present on the exterior surface of trees may be transported as hitchhikers, particularly if the bark is not removed. Forest pests that attack live trees often survive tree felling, rough processing, and shipping of firewood (e.g., many bark, longhorned, and buprestid beetles, as well as fungal pathogens). Pests may attack the wood after the tree is felled, in the landing, during transport, or while lying in a lumber or firewood yard.

In general, firewood imported from other countries must undergo heat treatment of 71.1°C for 75 minutes prior to entrance into the United States (Jones, 2010). Exporting countries are required to provide proof of treatment or the firewood is refused entry. For this reason, there are no records in the PPQ database (PestID) specifying interceptions on firewood from any country other than Canada and Mexico. Recent border inspections of firewood from Canada and Mexico provide documentation that reportable pests may be moving into the United States via this pathway (APHIS, PestID queried 3/15/2010). Between July 2006 and February 2010, there were 93 interceptions on firewood from Canada and 17 from Mexico. Although these detections were rarely identified to species, the families Buprestidae, Cecidomyiidae, Cerambycidae, Curculionidae (including bark beetles within Scolytinae), Lonchaeidae, and Tortricidae were represented.

Domestically, there are numerous reports of various organisms detected in firewood at California state agricultural inspection stations. Focused inspections of firewood moving from other states into California between August 15, 2006, and August 19, 2009, resulted in 1071 interceptions from 48 states (CDFA, 2009). The majority (60%) were from states west of the Mississippi River, but 428 interceptions (40%) were from the east, many from states along the Eastern Seaboard (Figure 6). The interception data from California demonstrates that many types of live organisms are readily moved in firewood.



Figure 6. Firewood interceptions by state.

Table 7. Orders of miseets detected on me wood at Camorina mispection stations

Order	Interceptions	Order	Interceptions
Blattodea	9	Lepidoptera	47
Coleoptera ¹	547	Neuroptera	2
Collembola	28	Orthoptera	1
Dermaptera	6	Psocoptera	28
Diptera	51	Raphidioptera	3
Embioptera	1	Thysanoptera	9
Hemiptera ²	73	Thysanura	4
Hymenoptera	179	Trichoptera	1
Isoptera	13	TOTAL	1002

¹There were beetles from 43 families found on firewood. The most frequently intercepted families were Cerambycidae (110), Tenebrionidae (88), Curculionidae (86 [78% were scolytids]), and Buprestidae (77). ²This order includes the piercing-sucking insects formerly classified as the order Homoptera.

Firewood Surveys and Studies

Over the past few years, a number of surveys and studies have focused on the domestic movement of firewood.

Haack et al. (2010) conducted a survey on firewood surrendered in 2008 at the Mackinac Bridge in Michigan and found that of the 1045 pieces of wood examined, 23% contained live borers and 41% more had evidence of previous infestations. The live borers included species from three orders and seven superfamilies or families including Bostrichoidea, Brentidae, Buprestidae, Cerambycidae, Cossidae, Curculionidae (Scolytinae and non-Scolytinae), and Siricidae. The wood pieces represented 21 genera of trees, with all genera reported to be currently or previously infested except Salix and Thuja (both of which had a very small sample size). The percentage of infested wood was 15, 16, and 33%, during the survey periods in April, July, and September, respectively. Live Buprestidae, Cerambycidae, and ambrosia (Curculionidae: Scolytinae) beetles were found during all three survey periods, while true bark beetles (Curculionidae: Scolytinae) were found only in the later two periods. Nearly half of the wood inspected was estimated to be cut from live trees the proceeding year and bark was present on 73% of all firewood pieces. This information indicates firewood transported by the public could easily transport wood pests that infest live or recently dead trees. Detailed interviews with people surrendering firewood on the bridge over four years found that most (75%) of vehicles that surrendered firewood originated from 61 counties in the Michigan lower peninsula, while 7% came from 10 counties in the upper peninsula. Sixteen percent of the vehicles surrendering firewood came from 17 other U.S. states (Indiana, Ohio, Wisconsin, Illinois, Minnesota, New York, Pennsylvania, Iowa, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Kentucky, Louisiana, New Jersey, New Mexico, Texas, and Virginia), while 1% came from Canada (Ontario, Alberta, and Newfoundland).

A Pennsylvania survey of firewood producers and sellers revealed that most customers were private buyers who utilized the wood for home heating. These producers did not think that treating firewood was feasible, nor did they think that customers would be willing to pay more for treated wood (Ellis, 2008). The Kansas Department of Agriculture (KDA, 2007) found that firewood for retail sale in Kansas came from as far as California and New York and, although many of the bundles were labeled as "dried," after being placed in boxes for a period of weeks, a third produced adult longhorned and bark beetles (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae and Cucurlionidae: Scolytinae). Surveys in New York State campgrounds in 2007 revealed differences in the percentage of campers who are likely to bring firewood from home–27% of people camping in the Catskills were likely to bring firewood with them, while 51% of people camping in the Adirondacks bring firewood from home; overall, 36% of campers in New York campgrounds routinely brought firewood from home (Williamson, 2008).

From firewood retail surveys conducted over two summers, Jacobi et al. (2009; 2010a) found that in the west (Colorado, New Mexico, Utah, Wyoming), up to 75% of firewood still had bark attached and the majority (68-91%) exhibited evidence of preexisting insect infestation or fungal infection. Firewood bundles purchased from urban retail operations were labeled as having come from multiple states, including Arizona, California, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Kentucky, Louisiana, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Texas, and Washington. Some were labeled as having come from British Columbia. Most (75%) of the retailers were reported as selling firewood in both winter and summer. These firewood bundles

were placed into enclosed bins (1-2 bundles per bin), and the bins were checked every 4-6 weeks. The first assessments found that of 196 bins, 67 (34%) had insects. These included scolytids, cerambycids, buprestids, wasps, carpenter ants, leaf beetles, parasitic flies, and predatory beetles. Walnut with thousand cankers disease was purchased, which highlights the risk associated with this particular disease complex moving on firewood.

Potential for Movement and Establishment of Pests in Firewood

The likelihood that an organism will move to and become established in a new environment is related to the chance of the organism being associated with the host or commodity, its ability to survive transport, its ability to locate and colonize suitable hosts, and its ability to reproduce and spread. The likelihood of introduction will vary with biology, origin, time, and destination.

For untreated firewood, the likelihood of a potential pest being associated with the wood depends primarily on the population levels in the area of origin and the habits and seasonalities of the life stages of the organism. Potential pests may be present at the time of harvest or may colonize before shipment. Many species of bark beetles and wood borers are attracted to recently cut wood and low grade trees, which may have pest infestations. Forest insects and pathogens of nearly every kind that have life stages closely associated with tree trunks, bark, and branches (such as wood borers, bark beetles, and pathogens) pose the greatest risk of infesting firewood. A potential pest infesting firewood must be able to survive transit conditions. Since firewood is minimally processed (cut and possibly split) and transit time is typically short duration, pests are likely to survive.

The likelihood of an organism becoming established in a new location may increase in relation to the number of individuals imported at a given time or with repeated introductions. Many factors affect the ability of invasive species to establish, such as climate, suitable hosts, competition with native species, and extinction of small populations. Regions with the greatest risk of pest entry are those with high levels of human mobility and trade; therefore, urban areas (Figure 7) are more at risk than isolated forests for introduction of forest pests (Liebhold et al., 1995).



Figure 7. Urban areas of the United States and Canada depicted using city lights data (Imoff et al., 2004)

Biological invasions of non-native and native organisms are believed to be heavily influenced by, and associated with human mediated activities (Wilson et al., 2009), (Valery et al., 2009). The nature of the human involvement can be used to estimate the possible type of impact and pattern of dispersal as well as the risks associated with the movement. The frequency and volume of material moved and introduced into new areas, such as firewood, increases the likelihood of pest introduction.

We classified firewood movement into three main patterns characterized primarily by distance moved: local, intermediate, and long-distance. This is similar to the stratified dispersal of gypsy moth described by Sharov and Liebhold (1998), which involves local and long-distance dispersal. The distance, volume, and likely endpoint of the firewood are the main risk points associated with firewood dispersal pathways. The most frequent dispersal pathway for firewood is local or leading-edge dispersal, due to the general availability of the resource, the cost of transportation, and the relatively low value of the commodity. Leading edge dispersal can be natural or human-mediated dispersal, which involves gradual range expansion into new areas with near-continuous introduction frequency (Wilson et al., 2009). The local movement of firewood can increase the speed of the leading edge movement compared to natural dispersal. If the pest organisms are native, the range expansion of the pest is typically mirrored by natural enemies in leading edge dispersal.

The intermediate and long-distance movement of firewood is estimated to occur less frequently than local movement. Large volumes of firewood can be moved intermediate and long distances

by commercial firewood distributors into metropolitan areas and regional or national retail distribution chains. Both of these markets have high demand for the resources and may pay higher prices. Lower volumes of firewood can also be moved intermediate and long distances by non-commercial entities such as campers, recreational event participants, and second home owners, primarily for convenience and cost savings, but the destination endpoints can be widely dispersed. The dispersal pathway that most accurately depicts the intermediate and long-distance movement of firewood is a modified corridor/cultivation pathway (Wilson et al., 2009). The extensive interstate highway and railway transportation system in the United States (Figure 8) provides artificial corridors that connect suitable habitat forms facilitating the movement of firewood. Firewood contains the organisms that are collected from and distributed to many different regions. The organisms are within a suitable host that will often allow for development and possible establishment to occur. It is important to recognize that there are many impediments to the establishment of organisms when introduced into new areas. One of the most notable impediments are Allee effects, which are factors that cause extinction in low-density populations due to problems with mate location, host defense, inbreeding depression, and natural enemies. Allee effects vary depending on the biology of the pest, volume, and frequency of introduction and susceptibility of the habitat (Contarini et al., 2009).

> Transportation Corridors Roads, Railroads, Rivers



Figure 8. Transportation corridors throughout the United States.

Resources at Risk

United States Forests

Approximately 751 million acres (33%) of the United States land area is forest land, with roughly equal amounts found east and west of the central plains. The forests contain over 800 species of trees, of which 82 are reported as non-native (Smith et al., 2009). The total forested land area has remained relatively unchanged over the last 100 years. There are 77 million acres (10%) protected from commercial timber harvest in wilderness areas, parks, and other reserved areas.

For purposes of classification by the U.S. Forest Service, the country is divided into four main regions (Figure 9): North, South, Rocky Mountain, and Pacific Coast. Additionally, there are sub-regions (North East, North Central, South East, South Central, Great Plains, Intermountain, Pacific Northwest, and Pacific Southwest). Roughly 40% of the North, South, and Pacific Coast regions are forested land, while 20% of the Rocky Mountain region is forested. Private ownership accounts for 57% of the overall forested land in the United States, but the percentage by region is 76% in the North, 88% in the South, 25% in the Rocky Mountain region, and 57% in the Pacific Coast.



Figure 9. United States Forest Service reporting regions.

The main forest types (Figure 10) in the east are oak-hickory (35.9%), loblolly-shortleaf pine (14.5%), maple-beech birch (13.9%), oak-pine (7.7%), oak-gum cypress (5.7%), elm-ash-

cottonwood (5.2%), Aspen-birch (4.5%), Spruce Fir (3.9%), and white-red jack pine (2.8%), with other forest types and non-stocked comprising the remaining 5.9%.

The main forest types in the western regions are fir-spruce (20.5%), other softwoods (19.4%), pinyon-juniper (14.9%), western hardwoods (13.9%), Douglas fir (10.7%), ponderosa pine (6.7%), hemlock-sitka spruce (4.7%), lodgepole pine (4.3%). Western white pine, larch, redwood, and non-stocked comprise the remaining 4.9%.



Figure 10. United States Forest Service forest types.

In a recent forest products report (Smith et al., 2009), fuelwood products are defined as wood used for conversion to some form of energy, primarily in residential use. For the entire United States, 9.3% of the roundwood product is designated as fuelwood, with 6.2% listed as hardwoods source and 3.2% listed as softwoods source, but there are substantial differences in percentages by region. For the North region 18.9% of all roundwood products harvested were designated as fuelwood, with 17.8% listed as hardwoods and 1.1% softwoods. For the South region, 4.3% was designated as fuelwood, with 3.9% listed as hardwoods and 0.4% softwoods. For the Rocky Mountain region 17.5% was designated as fuelwood, with 5.8% hardwood and 11.7% softwoods. For the Pacific Coast Region, 12.6% was fuelwood, with 0.6% hardwoods and 12% softwoods.

A national woodland ownership survey determined that family forest ownership accounts for 35% of all forest land in the United States (Butler, 2008). Most family forest owners (63%) have less than 10 acres of forest land, but of the total acreage held by family forests, 53% have 100 or more acres, and that forest has been owned on average for 26 years or more. Of the 12 reasons

rated for owning forest land, firewood production was rated 11th with 15% of the family forest area represented, but there were future plans in 28% of the area to harvest firewood. Insects and plant diseases were the number one concern of family forest owners, accounting for nearly 58% of the family forest area.

Urban forests

From 1990 to 2000, the urban area of the conterminous United States has increased from 2.5 to 3.1% of the total land volume, an area roughly the size of Vermont and New Hampshire combined. Urban expansion during this period was greatest in forested areas (33.4%), resulting in increased urban-forest interface and the associated potential risks of fire, exotic pest infestation and forest fragmentation (Smith et al., 2009). Urban areas are predicted to expand up to 8% of the United States by 2050, or roughly the size of Montana, dramatically increasing the urban forest interface (Nowak and Walton, 2005). The close proximity of forests and stored wood products, such as timber, firewood and pallets can result in an increased likelihood in pest introduction and establishment. A study of bark beetle movement in timber found that storage time and proximity of the material to forests had the greatest impact on likelihood of introduction and establishment of the beetles (Skarpaas and Okland, 2009). The most urbanized areas of the United States are in the Northeast and Southeast, which are also the areas where the percentage of urbanization increase is the greatest (Smith et al., 2009).

Several factors increase the susceptibility of urban forests to invasion by pest species. Urban forests are located in regions of greater human mobility and trade than non-urban forests (Liebhold et al., 1995). A study on urban forests and levels of herbivory found small forest sites had greater levels of damage than interior forest sites (Christie and Hochuli, 2005). Cregg and Dix (2001) found that urban trees can experience increased moisture stress, heat or soil compaction that can increase the chance for insect infestation, with hardwood trees more affected than conifers.

The susceptibility and importance of introduction and establishment by forest pests in urban areas can be dramatically magnified by the high costs of management after pest detection. Tree removal, replacement, or treatment can be extremely expensive in public areas, but necessary due to liability issues. Kovacs et al. (2009) estimated the potential costs of EAB in United States communities from 2009-2019 to be \$10.7 billion, with tree removal and replacement or treatment costs calculated over 25 states and 17 million ash trees replaced. The economic costs for ALB in urban areas over the next 30 to 50 years are estimated as a cumulative non-discounted replacement costs for nine selected cities were \$1.7 billion (APHIS, 2007).

Forest Pest Damage Examples and Estimates

Mortality from insects was detected by aerial survey on 5.3 million acres of the 400 million acres surveyed in 2006, with 50% of the mortality attributed to *Dendroctonus ponderosae*, the indigenous mountain pine beetle, but the estimates do not include acres where mortality is sparse. Insect-caused defoliation was reported on 8.5 million acres of forests, with forest tent

caterpillar, budworms (western spruce, spruce, and jack pine), aspen leaf miner, and gypsy moth accounting for most of the defoliation (more than 90 percent) (Smith et al., 2009). Diseases caused by dwarf mistletoes, root pathogens, and canker fungi are not easily detected by aerial survey, but may be present on millions of acres of forest causing loss of growth, mortality or increasing the mortality caused by other organisms such as bark beetles. In 2006, the Forest Health Technology Enterprise Team estimated 25 percent or more of the standing live trees larger than 1 inch in diameter would die in the next 15 years, representing 58 million acres (Smith et al., 2009).

In addition, evidence suggests that changes in environmental conditions and forest ecosystems have resulted in increased susceptibility of forests to invasion by forest pests. This has been observed primarily with indigenous forest pests like the mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus ponderosae* (Hopkins), which is affecting nearly 1.5 million acres of forest since 1996 in Colorado (Colorado State FS, 2008). The epidemics of mountain pine beetle are attributed to lack of cold temperatures, drought, and the increased availability of mature hosts.

A study of climate change and 134 individual tree species in the northeastern region of the United States found that a large change in forest species composition was likely to occur as a result of climate change. Iverson et al. (2008) estimated that the mature trees will eventually be in climates less suitable for their growth leading to increased susceptibility to pests and pathogens. Similarly forest pests would be able to develop more rapidly with increasing temperatures and expand their potential range (Iverson et al., 2008).

Economics of Forest Products and Regulatory Costs

The forest products industry of the United States is commonly divided into two groups, paper and lumber, with both groups using large amounts of the forest resources in the United States. In 1998, the forest products industry harvested 19 billion ft³ of hardwood and softwood timber with 50% used in construction and building materials and 30% used in pulp and paper. The United States is the world production leader in lumber and wood products for residential construction, furniture, and pulp and paper. In 1997, there were over 44,000 forest product facilities in the United States employing nearly 1.3 million people and producing shipments valued at \$262 billion (US DOE, 2000).

There is considerable uncertainty about the potential economic impact of new forest pest establishment on the forests and the forest products industry. Losses could be substantial during pest outbreak situations or if impacts are severe on particular ecosystems (i.e., redbay or thousand canker disease of walnut). The size of area, rate of spread, and type of impact are the primary factors that would influence the potential economic impact. Many different forest pests are present in the United States that cause significant damage to forested areas, but losses to these areas may be managed or tolerated, such as with southern pine beetle and *Cronartium comandrae* Peck (comandra blister rust of pine).

The average cost of Federal forest pest regulatory programs in the United States by USDA-APHIS-PPQ from 2004-08 was approximately \$279 million (Lewis, 2008). In addition, there are regulatory programs and costs for management of forest pests borne by state departments of agriculture. The high cost of regulatory response combined with the difficulty of forest pest eradication (Moore, 2005) emphasizes the need to prevent the spread of forest pest species to new areas.

Pests Associated with Firewood

Native insects and diseases are important components in healthy forest ecosystems and at endemic levels help to remove stressed trees and to maintain species diversity. Native trees generally exhibit a certain level of resistance to native pests and are able to tolerate infestations at low levels. However, overcrowding, overmaturity, drought, and other stressors appear to have now placed North American trees and entire forest populations at a higher risk for infestation and outbreaks. A national estimate from 2006 (Figure 11)⁷ places approximately 58 million forest acres at risk from native and introduced pests, many of which are known to move on firewood. Half (29 million acres) are at risk from bark beetles (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae).



Figure 11. National insect and disease risk map for the United States.

⁷ Risk is defined as the expectation that 25% or more of the standing live volume of trees greater than 1" in diameter will die over the next 15 years. Source: U.S. Forest Service (Available at http://www.fs.fed.us/foresthealth/technology/images/RiskMap agents hillshade md.jpg)

Since firewood is derived from a large number of woody taxa and may contain bark, it is likely that many species of insects and wood pathogens could move with the commodity. Many forest pathogens utilize insects as vectors. Scolytid beetles are commonly reported as vectors; however other beetles in the Cerambycidae, Curculionidae, and Buprestidae, as well as some mites, scales, wasps, and moths, are also effective vectors of forest pathogens (Haugen and Hoebeke, 2005; Houston and O'Brien, 1983), (FDACS, 1983; Malloch and Blackwell, 1993). This movement ranges from external associations to intricate symbiotic interactions (Malloch and Blackwell, 1993). In some instances the insect is believed to utilize the fungus to overcome host plant defense mechanisms (Eckhardt et al., 2004; Horntvedt et al., 1983) or use by-products of the fungus for brood development within the tree (Eckhardt et al., 2004).

Insects

Examples of insects known to move on raw wood and firewood are outlined below (Table 8). Fact sheets for the majority of these insects are in Appendix B.

Insects			
Order: Coleoptera			
Family: Bostrichidae			
Species/			
Common name	Origin	Host genera	Pathways for movement
Scobia declivis / lead	native (west)	Hardwoods: Quercus, Acer,	Intercepted in CA in firewood from MO and
cable borer		Acacia, Eucalyptus, Umbellularia	CO; detected in FL in 2000
Family: Buprestidae			
<i>Agrilus coxalis /</i> goldspotted oak borer	native (west)	Hardwoods: Quercus	Expanding native range in western states; a pest in CA; likely introduced into CA on firawood from Maxico
			mewood nom mexico
Agrilus planipennis /	Exotic	Hardwoods: Fraxinus,	Wood packing material (WPM)
emerald ash borer		Juglans, Pterocarya, Ulmus	(introduction); domestic spread traced to movement of logs, firewood, nursery stock
Agrilus sulcicollis /	exotic (now	Hardwoods & possibly	Believed introduced into Great Britain in
European oak borer	in Canada)	conifers: Quercus, Castanea, Carpinus, Fagus: possibly	imported timber; common in cut wood piles in forests for later use as fuel
		Pinus	
<i>Buprestis aurulenta /</i> golden buprestid	native (west)	Conifers: Abies, Picea, Pinus, Pseudotsuga, Thuja	Intercepted in CA on firewood
Chrysobothris trinervia /	native (west)	Conifers: Picea, Pinus; also	Found in MN on barked logs of Larix
metallic woodboring beetle		Larix, Pseudotsuga	occidentalis from the west
Melanophila drummondi	native	Conifers: Abies, Larix, Picea,	Found in MN on barked logs of Larix;
/ flathead pine borer	(west/east)	Tusga, Pseudotsuga, Pinus	introduced into China on unprocessed logs imported from western U.S.
Family: Cerambycidae			

Table 8. Examples of insects known to move on raw wood/firewood.

<i>Anoplophora glabripennis /</i> Asian longhorned beetle	Exotic	Hardwoods: Populus, Salix; also Acer, Aesculus, Alnus, Betula, Fraxinus, Hibiscus, Liriodendron, Malus, Morus, Platanus, Prunus, Pyrus, Robinia, Rosa, Sophora, Ulmus	WPM (introduction)
<i>Megacyllene antennata /</i> mesquite borer	native (southwest)	Hardwoods: Prosopis	Intercepted in CA in firewood from TX
<i>Monochamus obtusus /</i> the obtuse sawyer	native (west)	Conifers: Abies, Pinus, Pseudotsuga	Vectors <i>Bursaphelenchus xylophilus</i> , pine wilt nematode; intercepted in CA in firewood from WA and MI
Neoclytus muricatulus / 	native (east and west)	Conifers & Hardwoods: Abies, Larix, Picea, Pinus, Pseudotsuga; Quercus	Found in MN on barked logs of <i>Larix occidentalis</i> from the west
Phymatodes decussatus /	native (west)	Hardwoods: Quercus	Intercepted in CA in firewood
Phymatodes dimidiatus / spruce bark borer	native (west and north)	Conifers: Abies, Larix, Picea, Pseudotsuga, Tsuga	Found in MN on barked logs of <i>Larix occidentalis</i> from the west
Phymatodes lecontei /	native (all of U.S.)	Conifers: Pinus, Larix, Abies, Picea	Genus has been intercepted at U.S. border in dunnage and firewood; found in MN in barked logs of <i>Larix occidentalis</i> imported from the western U.S.
<i>Tetropium velutinum /</i> western larch borer	native (west)	Conifers: Abies, Picea, Pinus, Larix, Pseudotsuga, Tsuga	Found in MN in barked logs of <i>Larix</i> imported from western U.S.
<i>Xylotrechus longitarsus</i> / zebra beetle	native (west)	Conifers: Pseudotsuga	Found in MN in barked logs of <i>Larix</i> imported from western U.S.
<i>Xylotrechus nauticus /</i> oak cordwood borer	native (west)	Hardwoods: Quercus, Arbutus, Eucalyptus, Prunus, Salix, Juglans	Intercepted in CA in firewood from PA
<i>Xylotrechus sagittatus /</i> arrowhead borer	native (east)	Conifers: Abies, Picea, Pinus	Likely introduced into OR in WPM and other raw wood products
Family: Cucuijidae			
<i>Cucujus clavipes /</i> cucujid beetle	native (east and west)	Hardwoods: Fraxinus, Populus	Intercepted in CA on firewood from MI and OK
Family: Curculionidae: S	colytinae		
<i>Dendroctonus</i> <i>ponderosae /</i> mountain pine beetle	native (west)	Conifers: Pinus; Picea	WPM; intercepted in CA on firewood from OR
<i>Dendroctonus</i> <i>pseudotsugae</i> / Douglas- fir beetle	native (west)	Conifers: Pseudotsuga, Larix, Tsuga	Found in MN on barked logs of <i>Larix</i> occidentalis; most likely WPM or other raw products from the west; intercepted in Great Britain on timber from Canada
Dendroctonus valens / red turpentine beetle	native (US except for Gulf States)	Conifers: Pinus, Picea, Abies, Larix, Pseudotsuga	Found in MN on barked logs of <i>Larix</i> occidentalis; most likely WPM or other raw products from the west; intercepted in Great Britain on timber from Canada
<i>Dryocoetes confuses /</i> western balsam bark beetle	native (west)	Conifers: Abies, Picea, Pinus	

Hylesinus californicus / 	native (west)	Hardwoods: Fraxinus, Olea	Recent detection in east most likely the result of its introduction in WPM and other raw wood products
Hylesinus criddlei /	native (west and midwest)	Hardwoods: Fraxinus	Recent detection in east most likely the result of its introduction in WPM and other raw wood products
<i>Ips mexicanus /</i> Monterey pine ips	native (west)	Conifers: Pinus	Intercepted in CA in firewood from AZ; vectors <i>Fusarium circinatum</i> (pitch canker)
<i>Monarchrum fasciatum /</i> yellow banded timber beetle	native (east to Texas)	Conifers & Hardwoods: Pinus, Tsuga; Betula, Quercus, Carya, Malus, Mimosa, Nyssa, Populus, Prunus, Acer, Castanea, Liquidambar	Likely introduced into OR in WPM and other raw wood products
Pityophthorus juglandis/ walnut twig beetle	native (west)	Hardwoods: Juglans	Vectors <i>Geosmithia</i> sp. (thousand cankers disease); likely to move on raw wood; has been observed in walnut firewood for sale in CO
<i>Polygraphus rufipennis /</i> four-eyed spruce bark beetle	native (broadly distributed)	Conifers: Pinus, Larix, Abies, Picea	Intercepted at U.S. border in dunnage & firewood; found in MN on barked logs of <i>Larix occidentalis</i> from western U.S.
<i>Pseudopityophthorus</i> <i>pubipennis /</i> western oak bark beetle	native (west)	Hardwoods: Quercus, Lithocarpus, Castanea, Aesculus	Intercepted in CA in firewood from TX
<i>Scolytus laricis /</i> larch engraver	native (west)	Conifers: Larix	Found in MN in barked logs of <i>Larix</i> from western U.S.; intercepted in Great Britain on timber from Canada
<i>Tomicus piniperda /</i> pine shoot beetle	exotic (in NE/Central U.S.)	Conifers: Pinus, Picea, Abies, Larix	Vectors blue-staining fungi; intercepted on WPM (especially dunnage) at U.S. borders; logs containing overwintering adults pose a risk
<i>Xyleborus glabratus /</i> redbay ambrosia beetle	exotic (in SE U.S.)	Hardwoods: (Lauraceae) Persea, Sassafras, Lindera, Litsaea, Phoebe, Cinnamomum; (Dipterocarparceae)Shorea; (Eabaceae)Leucagna	Vectors <i>Raffaelea lauricola</i> (laurel wilt disease); thought to have been introduced into U.S. in WPM; firewood is indicated in spread in southeastern states
<i>Xyleborus xylographus /</i> ambrosia beetle	native (east)	Hardwoods: Quercus, Corylus, Prunus, Malus, Alnus, Acer, Abies, Juglans	WPM implicated in spread from eastern U.S. into OR
<i>Xyloterinus politus /</i> ambrosia beetle	native (primarily east but also in WA and AK)	Hardwoods & Conifers: Acer, Alnus, Betula, Carya, Castanea, Fagus, Fraxinus, Magnolia, Populus, Prunus, Quercus, Ulmus; Picea, Pinus, Tsuga	Potential vector for <i>Ophiostoma ulmi</i> (Dutch elm disease); WPM implicated in spread from eastern U.S. into WA
Family: Lyctidae			
<i>Lyctus cavicollis /</i> western lyctus beetle	native (widespread)	Hardwoods: Eucalyptus, Carya, Fraxinus, Quercus, Citrus, Ulmus, Prunus, Platinus, Robinia, Juglans	Intercepted in CA in oak firewood from MN; introduced into Europe on consignments of sawn hardwood from the U.S.
Family: Micromalthidae			

Rev.Original May, 2010

<i>Micromalthus debilis /</i> telephone pole beetle	native (east)	Conifers & Hardwoods: Pinus, Tsuga, Castanea, Quercus	Articles of wood - dunnage and other WPM implicated for introduction from eastern U.S. into OR and WA
Order: Hymenoptera			
Family: Siricidae			
Sirex noctilio / European	exotic	Conifers: Pinus; also Abies,	Symbiotic fungus, Amylostereum areolatum,
(sirex) woodwasp	(established	Larix,Picea, Pseudotsuga	kills host trees; WPM (introduction)
	in northeast)		

Pathogens

Pathogens are cryptic organisms that can express symptoms that may be confused with symptoms of abiotic damage, or the pathogen can be present in the host but remain latent. These characteristics complicate detection in the field or at ports-of-entry. There are few port interception records of pathogens with wood or wood products due to the difficulty in visually detecting them as well as the time and expertise required for making accurate and timely identifications (Rogers, 2008; USDA, 2000). The taxonomy for many wood pathogens, particularly the deep wood fungi in the Ophiostomatoid group is very complex (Mireku and Simpson, 2002; Uzunovic et al., 1999; Wingfield et al., 1993).

While most publications focus on the threat and potential damage from exotic pathogen introductions, movement of native or long established pathogens within the United States is also important. This movement could bring the pathogen or pathogen vector to areas of the United States where they have not been reported. Over time, new opportunities for pathogens arise as strains develop, different mating types of the same species or strain become more virulent or susceptibilities change. Climate change is considered one of the reasons for expanding distributions and host ranges for pathogens (Dale et al., 2001; Woods et al., 2005); the timing and type of forest/nursery/landscape management practices is considered another (Castello et al., 1995; Harrington and Wingfield, 2000; MacDonald, 2003; Ostry and Juzwik, 2008; Ward and Mistretta, 2007).

Examples of fungi and associated diseases with potential to move on raw wood are outlined below (Table 9). Fact sheets for the majority of these pathogens are in Appendix C.

Pathogens			
Class: Ascomycetes			
Order: Helotiales	Origin	Host genera	Pathways for movement
Gremmeniella abietina var. abietina (anamorph: Brunchorstia pinea) / scleroderris canker	exotic; (established in eastern U.S.)	Conifers: Pinus, Picea, Larix, Pseudotsuga, Abies, Tsuga	Trunk cankers can form on bark—infests and remains latent in host tissues—difficult to detect
Order: Hypocreales			

Table 9. Examples of forest pathogens and associated diseases with potential to move on raw wood/firewood.

<i>Fusarium circinatum /</i> pitch canker	native (east)	Conifers: Pinus, Pseudotsuga	Vectored by beetles <i>Pityophthorus</i> , <i>Conophthorus</i> , <i>Ernobius</i> , <i>Ips</i> , <i>Pissodes</i> ; can survive in cut wood for 1+ years
<i>Geosmithia</i> sp. / thousand cankers disease	origin unknown (west)	Hardwoods: Juglans	Vectored by bark beetle (<i>P. juglandis</i>); likely to be moved in raw wood products; has been observed in walnut firewood for sale in CO
<i>Neonectria faginata /</i> beech bark disease	exotic (found in eastern U.S.)	Hardwoods: Fagus	Movement in MI associated with firewood and campgrounds
Order: Microascales			
<i>Ceratocystis</i> fagacearum / oak wilt	native? (east)	Hardwoods: Quercus	Vectored by sap beetles (Nitiluidae) and occasionally by bark beetles (<i>Pseudopityophthorus</i>)
Order: Ophiostomatales			
<i>Leptographium wageneri /</i> black stain root disease	native (west)	Conifers: Pinus, Pseudotsuga, Abies, Larix, Picea, Tsuga	Vectored by root feeding beetles (Dendroctonus, Hylastes, Hylurgops, Ips, Pissodes, Steremnius); vectors are associated with raw wood
<i>Raffaelea lauricola /</i> laurel wilt disease	exotic (in SE U.S.)	Hardwoods: (Lauraceae) Persea, Sassafras, Lindera, Litsaea, Phoebe, Cinnamomum; (Dipterocarparceae)Shorea; (Fabaceae)Leucaena	Vectored by ambrosia beetle (<i>X. glabratus</i>); thought to have been introduced with the vector in WPM; firewood is indicated in spread in southeastern U.S.
Class: Basidiomycetes			
Order: Russulales			
Heterobasidion annosum / annosum root rot/butt rot	native (east & west)	Conifers: Pinus, Picea, Pseudotsuga, Tsuga	Vectored by pine weevil (<i>Hylobius</i>); can survive in dead wood for long periods of time
Class: Oomycetes			
Order: Pythiales			
Phytophthora ramorum / sudden oak death	exotic (in western U.S.)	Hardwoods & Conifers: Many known hosts, including Acer, Aesculus, Camellia, Castanea, Fagus, Fraxinus, Magnolia, Quercus, Rhododendron, Rosa, Salix, Vaccinium; Pseudotsuga, Sequoia, Taxus, Abies, and others	Firewood in <i>P. ramorum</i> -affected areas is federally regulated to prevent movement of this organism

Evolving forest pathosystems and the concerns they raise with domestic movement of unmitigated firewood

As pathogens are exposed to new variables such as new hosts, new vectors, different climates, or different forestry practices, the likelihood for new strains or associations increases (Dale et al., 2001). Domestic movement of unmitigated firewood could distribute pathogens, their vectors, or both, to environments where there are susceptible tree taxa and climatic conditions that could
result in broader geographic distributions of the diseases or epidemics. There are costly historical examples of unexpected pathogen interactions as well as many new threats being reported.

Historical examples

Two well-known examples of unexpected interactions with introduced species are Dutch elm disease and pine wilt disease. In each of these forest pathosystems, a native species interacts with an introduced species and together the organisms cause damage far beyond what each organism could do on its own.

For Dutch elm disease, the association of an introduced *Ophiostoma* fungus with a native North American insect (*Hylurgopinus rufipes* (Eichhoff) [Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae] and exotic European elm bark beetle (*Scolytus multistriatus* (Marsham) [Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae] led to the downfall of elm as a major landscape and forest tree (Allen and Humble, 2002). Wood (1982) notes in his description of *H. rufipes* that prior to the association with the Dutch elm disease fungi, the native beetle was considered a species of limited economic importance (Allen and Humble, 2002; Wood, 1982).

Pine wilt disease is also a case where an introduced pathogen interacted with insect vectors already present to cause extensive tree mortality. This was the scenario in Japan with the introduced nematode (*Bursaphelenchus xylophilus* Stein) and the Japanese sawyer beetle (*Monochamus alternatus* Hope.) [Coleoptera: Cerambycidae] (CABI, 2007).

Hausner et al. (2005) conducted a study on the types of fungi associated with the pine shoot beetle (*Tomicus piniperda* (L.)) [Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae] in Ontario, Canada. From their results, they suggested that *T. piniperda*, a relatively new forest pest issue for North America, may have also introduced more aggressive or virulent strains of fungi, and that the beetle could promote faster spread of pathogens to new hosts or to new vectors. Jacobs et al. (2004) reported that the forest pathogen *L. wingfieldii* was introduced to North America by *T. piniperda* and then was able to become associated with other native bark beetles [*Ips pini* (Say) and *Dendroctonus valens* LeConte] in its new location. Jacobs et al. (2004) contrasted this behavior to the behavior of *L. wingfieldii* in Europe where the fungus appears exclusive to *T. piniperda*.

Recently, a new disease was reported in the western United States called thousand cankers disease (Hoheisel, 2008; Murray, 2008); Tisserat et al., 2009). The pathogen is killing walnut trees, primarily black walnut (*Juglans nigra*), planted in the western United States (Murray, 2008); Tisserat et al., 2009). The causal organism is a newly described species of *Geosmithia* (proposed name *Geosmithia morbida*) [Ascomycetes: Eurotiales] and is vectored by the walnut twig beetle (*Pityophthorus juglandis*) [Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae], an insect native to the southwestern United States (Campbell and Tisserat, 2008). *Geosmithia* species have been reported with bark beetles previously but this is the first association between the walnut twig beetle and walnut trees (Murray, 2008). Prior to this outbreak, the walnut twig beetle was reported as only a minor pest of the native Arizona walnut (*Juglans major*) in the southwestern United States (Campbell and Tisserat, 2008; Murray, 2008). Mortality of western populations of black walnut from this insect-pathogen complex is increasing and there is concern

Rev.Original May, 2010

the disease could devastate the large native population of black walnut in the east or reduce commercial nut production of English walnut (*J. regia*) in California (Grainger et al., 2008).

The adaptability of these pathogens and vectors in different environments, combined with the United States' high volume of trade provides many opportunities for new pest interactions.

New Understanding and Risks

Nuances of these pathosystems are discovered as new molecular techniques are developed and applied, Some of the most important North American forest diseases and subsequently most heavily studied diseases are now being reported as complexes of species or subspecies with unique host ranges and distributions. This is the case with *Heterobasidion annosum*, where various intersterility groups and separate species are now reported that have unique host ranges and distributions (Linzer et al., 2008). *Ceratocystis fimbriata*, the causal agent of wilt and canker diseases around the world, was recently split into three geographic clades with multiple species emerging from those clades (Johnson et al., 2005). In some instances, such as in the North American clade, all previous reports of *C. fimbriata* on woody hosts in North America are no longer considered valid (Hodges, 2007). A similar scenario exits for the root-rotting fungi within the genus *Armillaria* (CABI, 2007), where prior to 1980 the species *A. mellea* was used for almost all reports of the disease in North America (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). More recently the taxon has been separated into at least ten different species in North America and identification presents a challenge (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005).

Researchers who study beetle-vectored fungi frequently encounter new species of fungi. With these new discoveries, their distribution outside of the region of initial detection is not yet known and because pathogens are not always easily detected, once damage reaches a noticeable level the pathogen may have been present for a long time. When researchers began studying hickory decline and mortality in the eastern United States they found the beetle, *Scolytus quadrispoinosus* Say. [Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae], and attributed the decline to a combination of stressed trees and the beetle activities (Juswik et al., 2008). However, additional research of this decline led to the discovery of a new fungus *Ceratocystis smalleyi* (Johnson et al., 2005). The fungus and beetle are believed to be part of a complex that is killing the hickory trees (Juzwik et al., 2008). The laurel wilt pathogen, *Raffaelea lauricola* Harr, Fraedrich and Aghayeva [Ascomycetes: Ophiostomatales] is another example. This is a newly described fungus that is killing native Lauraceae, particularly redbay (*Persea borbonia*) in the southeastern United States (Harrington et al., 2008). *Xyleborus glabratus* Eichhoff [Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae] is believed to be the vector that arrived with the pathogen in wood packing materials from its native range in Asia (FDACS, 2008; Harrington et al., 2008).

Across the border, in Canada, *Leptographium fruticetum* Almouti, Kim & Breuil was identified in association with *Ips perturbatus* Wood & Bright (Alamouti et al., 2006). From this same collection study, *Ophiostoma manitobense* Reid & Hausner (Synonym: *Ceratocystiopsis manitobensis* (Reid and Hausner) Zipfel, de Beer & Wingf.) was also found and identified (Alamouti et al., 2007; Zipfel et al., 2006). This species had recently been reported and newly named from *Pinus resinosa* in Manitoba (Hausner et al., 2003; UBCF, 2004). In British Columbia, *Leptographium longiclavatum* Lee, Kim & Breuil was found in association with *Dendroctonus ponderosae* Hopkins (Lee et al., 2005). *Dendroctonus ponderosae* is native to North America and is present in the western United States (CABI, 2007). Studies by Lee et al. (2006) found that the fungus is pathogenic and may contribute to the mortality of pines infested by *D. ponderosae*.

There are also many examples of these types of detections beyond North America. Some examples from the last few years of published research include *Ophiostoma aurorae* Zhou & Wingf. associated with Hylastes angustatus (Herbst) in pine (Zhou et al., 2006); O. ainoae Solheim, O. flexuosum Solheim, and O. cucullatum Solheim associated with Ips typographus (L.) in spruce (Solheim, 2007); Ceratocystis bhutanensis van Wyk, Wingf. & Kirisits associated with Ips schmutzenhoferi Holzschuh in spruce (Van Wyk et al., 2004); O. aoshimae Ohtaka, Masuya & Yamaoka and O. rectangulosporium Ohtaka, Masuya & Yamaoka associated with scolytid beetles in fir trees (Ohtaka et al., 2006); O. breviusculum Chung, Yamaoka, Uzunovic & Kim associated with bark beetles in larch trees (Chung et al., 2006); O. karelicum Linnakoski, De Beer & Wingf. associated with Scolytus ratzeburgi Janson in birch trees (Linnakoski et al., 2008); Leptographium koreanum Kim & Kim associated with Tomicus piniperda (L.) in pine logs (Kim et al., 2004); and Leptographium sinoprocerum Lu, Decock & Maraite associated with Dendroctonus valens LeConte in pine trees (Lu et al., 2008). New associations are being found at a rapid rate. These findings, both past and present, raise the uncertainty of the current reported distribution of wood pathogens and their associations, and raise the level of concern regarding the movement of pathogen, vectors, or both in unmitigated firewood.

Summary

From our assessment we believe there are high risks associated with the movement and establishment of native and exotic forest pests in firewood. We based our risk determination on the following factors:

1. Firewood is a well-known pathway for the movement of wood pests. Firewood is a raw wood product. It is minimally processed: cut to usable length, bark in place, possibly split, and often freshly obtained from recently killed or stressed trees. Surveys of firewood have found that upwards of 20% may be infested with insect or pathogen forest pests.

2. The United States requires treatment of all imported firewood, with a few exceptions from Canada and Mexico. The United States imported nearly \$8 million of firewood from 29 different countries annually from 2005-2009. The fact that firewood treatment is nearly universally required to allow entry indicates the recognized risk of the product.

3. Regulations prohibiting the domestic movement of firewood are already justified and in place for several states for five exotic forest pests. Currently, 16 states have regulations prohibiting the movement of firewood due to the presence of invasive species, but the regulations are often unclear or unknown to the public, they may vary from state to state and they are difficult to enforce.

4. Firewood readily moves throughout the United States. There are commercial firewood distributors in all 50 states. Interceptions of firewood from 48 states into California have been

documented at border inspection stations. Firewood surveys support the fact that firewood moves readily through the United States, even out of quarantine zones. Additionally, numerous surveys conducted at stores and campsites illustrate firewood is being transported frequently and over substantial distances.

5. Urban area susceptibility. Urbanization of the United States is increasing with forested areas being urbanized at the greatest rate. Urban forests have a higher potential for invasion by forest pests due to human activity and trade and the urban trees can have increased susceptibility to attack due to various stresses. Urban areas are importers of firewood, which increases the likelihood of pests within the firewood moving short distances into the neighboring forest interface and establishing. The estimated cost of potential EAB damage in United States communities from 2009-2019 is \$10.7 billion based on 25 state infestation and removal and replant or treatment of 17 million ash trees. Estimates for ALB costs in urban areas ranges from \$1.7 billion for nine selected cities to \$669 billion for the entire United States. Additionally, the increased cost of fuel oil for home heating been related to increased use of alternate fuel sources such as firewood. The increased demand of firewood would also increase the distance that firewood could be economically moved into urban areas, further increasing the risk of long distance movement and urban area introduction.

6. Diversity and coverage of forests in the United States. Forests cover 33% of the United States with 22 main forest types. Although some tree species are preferred for use as firewood based on some characteristics like heat production and splitting, all species of trees can and are utilized as firewood. Fuel wood use is reported in varying amounts and type depending on region of the United States. Transportation routes allow for rapid and extensive movement of people and firewood, increasing the chance for forest pest introduction and establishment into new areas.

7. The value of the economic resources in the United States at risk if exotic or native forest pests are spread to additional areas is very high. The lumber and paper industries in the United States is a \$262 billion a year industry, employing 1.3 million people (US DOE, 2000). However, it is difficult to estimate the economic impact to forest pest introductions as costs would vary based on the area of infestation, rate of spread and damage incurred.

8. Regulatory costs of forest pest management. The current average cost of USDA-APHIS-PPQ forest pest regulatory programs from 2004-2008 is \$279 million (Lewis, 2008) and there are significant additional regulatory costs at the state level. The high cost of regulatory response combined with the difficulty of forest pest eradication and the high value of industry and resources at risk emphasizes the need to prevent the spread of non-native and native forest pests in the United States.

The movement of firewood is a high risk pathway for spreading non-native and native forest pests in the United States. In addition to known forest pests, new associations of insects and fungi (such as with Dutch elm disease) continue to occur, causing extensive damage.. We recommend that Federal and State regulatory agencies examine the current regulations for firewood movement and coordinate efforts to mitigate the potential risks, with primary focus on urban areas and long-distance movement. Urban areas are at greater risk of introduction due to

many factors and costs of management are high. As discussed by Liebhold and Tobin (2008), long-distance spread events are typically less frequent than short distance, but have greater impact on rate of spread. Efforts to reduce long-distance movement may be the most effective in minimizing the risk of firewood.

Authors

Daniel Borchert, Risk Analyst-Entomologist^a Leslie Newton, Risk Analyst-Entomologist^a Thomas Culliney, Risk Analyst-Entomologist^a Heather Hartzog, Risk Analyst-Plant Pathologist^a Robert Ahern, Risk Analyst-Entomologist^a Lynn Garrett, Economist^a

Reviewers

Gary Cave, Senior Risk Analyst-Entomologist^a Scott C. Redlin, Senior Risk Analyst-Plant Pathologist^a

Kenneth E Lakin, Senior Risk Analyst- Entomologist^a (early draft)

Editor

Ashley Jackson, Editorial Assistant^a

^a United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) Plant Protection and Quarantine (PPQ) Center for Plant Health Science and Technology (CPHST) Plant Epidemiology and Risk Analysis Laboratory (PERAL)

Acknowledgements

Portions of this document were extracted from the "Pest Risk Assessment for Importation of Solid Wood Packaging Material into the United States" (USDA, 2000). Contributors to this publication are hereby acknowledged.

Appendices

Appendix A. Overview of treatments for wood products entering the United States

The general requirement for any consignment of wood or lumber products is documentation accompanying each shipment that identifies the commodity, quantity, and its origin. All shipments are subject to inspection and may require other actions deemed necessary by Plant Protection and Quarantine as a result of inspection. Notice of arrival may be required at the discretion of the Officer in Charge at the port of first arrival. All pallets and other regulated wood packing materials used in the shipment are subject to inspection and must conform to 7 CFR 319.40-3(b).

The universal import option for logs or lumber includes either heat treatment or kiln drying and must be conducted prior to arrival. Treated or dried logs or lumber cannot be commingled with other regulated materials unless all regulated articles in the same hold or container have been heat treated or kiln dried. Lumber on the vessel's deck must be in a sealed container unless it has been kiln dried. Heat treated (HT) or kiln dried (KD) lumber must be marked by permanent marking on each piece of lumber or on the cover of bundles of lumber HT or KD, respectively. Alternatively, the importer document accompanying the shipment must state that the logs or lumber has been heat treated or kiln dried.

Tropical hardwood logs with no more than 2% of the total surface in a lot with bark and no single log with more than 5% bark on its surface are enterable. Lumber must be completely free of bark. Tropical hardwood logs and lumber (greater than 15 pieces, not debarked) must be fumigated prior to arrival. Tropical hardwood logs and lumber (less than 15 pieces, not debarked) cannot be imported into Hawaii, Puerto Rico, or the Virgin Islands of the United States.

Temperate hardwood logs, lumber (with or without bark), and untreated railroad ties are not authorized from areas in Asia that are east of 60 degrees east longitude and north of the Tropic of Cancer. Temperate hardwood logs and lumber must be fumigated prior to arrival. Imported railroad ties must be completely free of bark and accompanied by an importer document stating that the cross-ties will be pressure treated with an approved preservative within 30 days following release from the first port of arrival.

Regarding movement of regulated articles of pine originating from areas in Canada non-infested with pine shoot beetle to or through U.S. non-infested areas, articles must be consigned to a designated U.S. facility that operates under a compliance agreement with the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) for specified handling or processing of the articles. The name and address of the U.S. facility (including county and State) receiving the regulated articles must be plainly indicated on the articles or, if applicable, on the outer covering, packaging, or container. If the regulated articles are to be moved through an area of the United States quarantined for pine shoot beetle, en route to an area or areas in the United States not quarantined for pine shoot beetle during the period of January through September when the temperature is 10° C (50° F) or higher, then the regulated articles also must be shipped in an

enclosed vehicle or completely covered (such as with plastic canvas, or other closely woven cloth) so as to prevent access by pine shoot beetle.

Fraxinus spp. logs and wood from Canada originating in areas regulated for emerald ash borer (EAB) must be accompanied by a phytosanitary certificate (PC) and meet one of the following conditions: (i) Debarked with an additional declaration (AD) stating that, "The articles in the shipment were debarked and vascular cambium was removed to a depth of 1.27 cm during the debarking process," or (ii) Heat treated at a temperature of at least 71.1° Celsius for a minimum of 75 minutes. The details of the treatment must be specified in the treatment section of the PC. Ash wood chips or bark chips larger than 1 inch in diameter from a county regulated for EAB are prohibited importation into the United States. Ash wood chips or bark chips 1 inch or less in diameter from a county regulated for EAB must be accompanied by a PC. Fraxinus spp. logs and wood from Canada originating in counties not regulated for emerald ash borer but located within a regulated province or territory must be accompanied by a phytosanitary certificate (PC) with an additional declaration (AD) stating that, "The articles in the shipment were produced/harvested in a county where the EAB does not occur, based on official surveys." Ash wood chips or bark chips from Canadian counties not regulated for EAB, but located within a regulated Province or Territory, must be accompanied by a PC with an AD stating that, "The articles in the shipment were produced or harvested in a county where the EAB does not occur, based on official surveys."

Raw lumber, including solid wood packing material imported as cargo, is not authorized from areas in Asia that are east of 60 degrees east longitude and north of the Tropic of Cancer. Raw lumber must be completely debarked and cannot be commingled with other regulated materials unless the raw lumber and the other regulated articles are in separate holds or in separate sealed containers. Raw lumber on the vessel's deck must be in a sealed container. Raw lumber must be consigned to an approved facility operating under a valid compliance agreement with Plant Protection and Quarantine at the time the lumber is imported. The name of the approved facility will be submitted and re-approved before importation occurs. Lumber must be heat treated within 30 days from the time the lumber is released from the port of first arrival.

Wood & bark chips from tropical plantation grown trees must be accompanied by an importer document stating that the chips were derived from live, healthy, tropical species of plantation grown trees, grown in tropical areas. Chips must be free from rot at the time of importation, and chips cannot be co-mingled with other regulated materials (other than solid wood packing materials) unless the chips and the other regulated articles are in separate holds or in separate sealed containers. Chips may be shipped on deck if no other regulated articles are present on the vessel and the chips are completely covered by a tarpaulin during the entire journey. Shipments with covered chips must transit directly from the port of export to the United States. Chips must be consigned to an approved facility operating under a valid compliance agreement with Plant Protection and Quarantine at the time the chips are imported.

Pinus radiata chips from Chile must be accompanied by a certificate stating that the wood chips were treated with a surface pesticide treatment within 24 hours after the log was chipped and were retreated with a surface pesticide treatment if more than 30 days elapsed between the date of the first treatment and the date of export to the United States. Further, chips must be derived

from live, healthy, plantation-grown trees grown trees that were apparently free of plant pests, plant pest damage, and decay organisms, and the logs used to make the wood chips were debarked before being chipped. No more than 45 days can have elapsed from the time the trees used to make the wood chips were felled to the time the wood chips were exported. During shipment to the United States, no other regulated articles (other than solid wood packing materials) are permitted in the holds or sealed containers carrying the wood chips. Wood chips on the vessel's deck must be in a sealed container. Wood chips must be processed within 45 days of arrival at a U.S. processing facility.

Wood to be used as wood mulch, compost, or litter must be fumigated, heat treated, or heat treated with moisture reduction prior to arrival. Wood, chips, cork, and bark to be used for food, for the manufacture of containers of fermented liquids, manufacture of medicine, flavoring additive to fermented beverages, or chemical extraction may be imported if free from rot at the time of importation and subject to the inspection and other requirements. Wood and back chips not from tropical plantation grown trees must be fumigated, heat treated, or heat treated with moisture reduction. Chips cannot be commingled with other regulated materials (other than solid wood packing materials) unless the chips and the other regulated articles are in separate holds or in separate sealed container.

Pinus radiata logs from New Zealand must be accompanied by a certificate stating that the logs are consigned to an approved facility. The logs must be from live healthy trees which are apparently free of plant pests, plant pest damage, and decay organisms, and logs must be debarked in accordance prior to fumigation. During shipment to the United States, no other regulated article is permitted on the means of conveyance with the logs, unless the logs and the other regulated articles are in separate holds or separate sealed containers, or, if the logs and other regulated articles are mixed in a hold or sealed container, the other regulated articles either have been heat treated with moisture reduction or have been fumigated in the hold or sealable container. Upon arrival of the logs in the United States, the logs must be kept segregated from other regulated articles from the time of discharge from the means of conveyance until the logs are completely processed at the approved facility operating under a valid compliance agreement with Plant Protection and Quarantine at the time the lumber is imported. The logs must be moved from the port of first arrival to the approved facility by as direct a route as reasonably possible.

Pinus radiata logs or lumber from Chile consigned to an approved facility may be imported if wood products originate from live, healthy trees which are apparently free of plant pests, plant pest damage, and decay organisms. Logs or lumber must be debarked prior to fumigation. Logs or lumber and solid wood packing materials to be used with the logs and/or lumber during shipment to the United States must be fumigated within 45 days following the date the trees are felled and prior to arrival of the logs in the United States, in the holds or in sealable containers. Fumigation must be conducted in the same sealable container or hold in which the logs and lumber and solid wood packing materials are exported to the United States. During shipment to the United States, no other regulated article is permitted on the means of conveyance, unless wood products and the other regulated articles are in separate holds or separate sealed containers, or, if wood products and other regulated articles are mixed in a hold or sealed container, the other regulated articles either have been heat treated with moisture reduction or have been fumigated in the hold or sealable container. Upon arrival of the logs or lumber in the United

States, the logs must be kept segregated from other regulated articles from the time of discharge until the logs and/or lumber are completely processed. The logs or lumber must be moved from the port of first arrival to an approved facility operating under a valid compliance agreement with Plant Protection and Quarantine by as direct as a route as reasonably possible.

Bamboo timber consisting of whole culms or canes that are completely dry as evidenced by lack of moisture in node tissue may be imported into any port of the United States subject to inspection and other requirements. Bamboo timber consisting of whole culms or canes may be imported into Guam or the Northern Mariana Islands subject to inspection and other requirements.

In accordance with the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) regulations, each shipment of regulated material must have CITES export permit or certificate from the exporting country and, if listed in Appendix I, a CITES import permit from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service will be required as well. Additional information should be obtained from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Management Authority. A valid General Permit to Engage in the Business of Importing, Exporting, or Re-Exporting Terrestrial Plants (PPQ Form 622) issued by USDA-APHIS-PPQ is also required.

Shipments of logs, lumber, plywood, or veneers of Swietenia macrophylla CITES-regulated materials may enter only at an approved designated port. A shipment of S. macrophylla imported from a country in the Neotropics (Mexico, Central and South America, and the Caribbean), must be accompanied by an original, valid CITES export permit that was issued by the CITES Management Authority of the exporting country. A shipment that originated in the Neotropics but which is being imported into the United States from a country other than the country of origin must be accompanied by a CITES re-export certificate issued by the CITES Management Authority of the re-exporting country. Businesses in the United States which import, export or reexport logs, lumber, plywood or veneers of S. macrophylla must possess a valid General Permit to Engage in the Business of Importing, Exporting, or Re-Exporting Terrestrial Plants issued by USDA-APHIS-PPQ. CITES import documents must be surrendered at the time of entry into the United States to the DHS [Customs and Border Protection (CBP) Agricultural Quarantine and Inspection (AQI)]. Importers of S. macrophylla should also supply additional copies of the CITES document to CBP-AQI. A copy of the CITES export document, validated by CBP-AQI, will be returned to the importer for his/her records provided the shipment and permits are in compliance with CITES.

Cedrela odorata imported from Colombia, Peru, or any other country that may list this plant in Appendix III of CITES, must be accompanied by an original CITES export permit issued by the CITES Management Authority of the exporting country. A shipment of *C. odorata* that originated in Colombia or Peru, but which is being imported into the United States from a country other than the country of origin, must be accompanied by a CITES re-export certificate issued by the CITES Management Authority of the re-exporting country. Each commercially traded shipment of CITES-regulated *C. odorata* must be accompanied by a valid General Permit to Engage in the Business of Importing, Exporting, or Re-Exporting Terrestrial Plants issued by the USDA-APHIS-PPQ. Regulated articles of *C. odorata*, must adequately describe the shipment.

CITES documents must be surrendered to PPQ at the time of entry. CITES regulated materials may enter only at an approved designated port. Importers must receive a legible copy of the CITES export document validated by PPQ for their records. Therefore, importers should supply PPQ with additional copies of the CITES document for this purpose at the time of import.

Gonystylus spp. imported from Indonesia, or any other country that may list any species of Gonystylus in Appendix III of CITES, must be accompanied by an original CITES export permit issued by the CITES Management Authority of the exporting country. A shipment of Gonystylus spp. harvested from countries other than those described above must be accompanied by an original CITES certificate of origin issued by the CITES Management Authority of the exporting country. A shipment of Gonystylus spp. which is being imported into the United States from a country other than the country of origin must be accompanied by a CITES re-export certificate issued by the CITES Management Authority of the re-exporting country. Each commercially traded shipment of CITES-regulated Gonystylus spp. must be accompanied by a valid General Permit to Engage in the Business of Importing, Exporting, or Re-Exporting Terrestrial Plants (PPQ Form 622) issued by USDA-APHIS-PPQ. Regulated articles of Gonystylus spp., the container in which it is shipped, or the documents accompanying shipments of Gonvstylus spp., must adequately describe the shipment. CITES documents must be surrendered to PPQ at the time of entry. CITES regulated materials may enter only at an approved designated port. Importers must receive a legible copy of the CITES export document validated by PPQ for their records. Therefore, importers should supply PPQ with additional copies of the CITES document for this purpose at the time of import.

Appendix B. Insects associated with firewood (fact sheets).

Agrilus coxalis Waterhouse

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Buprestidae

Distribution: southeastern Arizona, Mexico, Guatemala; recently detected in southern California (Coleman and Seybold, 2008a).

Hosts: Oaks (Quercus spp.) (Coleman and Seybold, 2008b).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Coleman and Seybold (2008a) reported a 67% infestation rate in oaks in southern California, resulting in a significant degree of tree mortality. The species is said to pose a threat to the health of standing trees in the urban and peri-urban forests of the western United States (Seybold et al., 2009). Symptoms of injury include twig dieback, crown thinning, bark staining, and adult exit holes (Camilli, 2009).

Biology: Coleman and Seybold (2008a, b) outlined what little is known of the biology of *A*. *coxalis*. Eggs probably are deposited in bark crevices. Larvae construct galleries primarily on the sapwood surface along the main stem from the base of the trunk up to the larger branches. Pupation occurs in the outer bark. Evidence suggests that there is one generation per year.

Phytosanitary Significance: Oak firewood from Mexico is thought to have been a possible pathway for introduction of the beetle into California (Coleman and Seybold, 2008a).

Management: Possible management options include chemical and cultural controls (Coleman and Seybold, 2008b). For example, soil- or trunk-injected systemic insecticides may be effective in suppressing infestations of the beetle in hosts. Surface treatment of high-value trees with insecticide along the main stem, larger branches, and foliage may prevent attack. Removing dead and dying trees infested with the beetle and destruction of infested material may reduce localized populations.

* * * * * * * * * *

Agrilus planipennis Fairmaire, emerald ash borer (EAB)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Buprestidae

Distribution in North America: Canada (Ontario and Quebec), United States (Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, Maryland, Michigan, Missouri, Pennsylvania, Virginia, West Virginia, Wisconsin) (EPPO, 2005; Kimoto and Duthie-Holt, 2006; NAPPO, 2008). Figure 12 is a map of EAB detections and regulated areas in North America. The species is native to East Asia.

Hosts: *Fraxinus, Juglans, Pterocarya*, and *Ulmus* spp. (Kimoto and Duthie-Holt, 2006). *Fraxinus* spp. (ash) are the only known hosts in North America (Anulewicz et al., 2008).

Environmental/Economic Importance: The serpentine tunnels excavated by feeding larvae interrupt the transport of nutrients and water within the tree, causing foliage to wilt and branches to die; infested trees may lose 30-50% of their canopy after two years, and may die after three to four years (McCullough and Katovich, 2004). Heavy, tree-killing infestations may hasten succession in forests dominated by *Fraxinus* spp. (Eckardt and Kane, 2008). Continued spread of *A. planipennis* through North America threatens at least 16 endemic species of ash (MacFarlane and Meyer, 2005; Poland and McCullough, 2006). Since its introduction, the pest has killed 10-15 million ash trees in Michigan (Nzokou et al., 2006). Projected total economic losses to ash plantings in Ohio range from \$1.8 billion to \$7.6 billion should the pest destroy all native street, park, and private trees (Sydnor et al., 2007).

Biology: McCullough and Katovich (2004) outlined the reproductive biology of the species in North America. Adult beetles are 7.5 to 13.5 mm in length, the male being smaller than the female. Adult emergence, through characteristic D-shaped exit holes, begins in early June and continues through late July; adults live for about three weeks. Females may mate with several males. Eggs are deposited individually in bark crevices on the trunk or branches. Fecundity ranges from 60 to 90 eggs per female; one to two years may be required to complete development. After hatching, larvae tunnel through the bark and into the cambium, spending the next few weeks feeding on the phloem and outer sapwood tissues. Pupation occurs in late April or May in chambers excavated in the outer sapwood or in the bark on thick-barked trees.

Phytosanitary Significance: The species is thought to have been introduced into the United States in crating, dunnage, or pallets from Asia (Haack et al., 2002). Domestic spread has been traced to the movement of infested ash logs, firewood, and nursery stock (Herms et al., 2004). The natural flight range of females averages 1.7 km in 24 hours and rarely exceeds 4 km; for males, maximal flight range may exceed 5 km (Taylor et al., 2005).

Management: Biological Control: Microbial agents, such as the fungi *Beauveria bassiana* (Balsamo) Vuillemin and *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Metschnikoff) Sorokin, may prove useful in the containment and management of North American populations of *A. planipennis*, provided that application rates and delivery methods can be optimized (Liu and Bauer, 2006), (Liu and Bauer, 2008). Recent work suggests that the release of parasitoids in classical biological control programs also may prove effective in managing populations of the beetle (e.g., (Liu et al., 2007b; Wang et al., 2008).

Chemical Control: Application of insecticides, such as permethrin, bifenthrin, or imidacloprid, is effective in controlling *A. planipennis* infesting tree trunks if applied annually (Harrell, 2006; Petrice and Haack, 2006).



Figure 12. Emerald ash borer detections and regulated areas in North America. Source: http://www.emeraldashborer.info/files/MultiState_EABpos.pdf

* * * * * * * * * *

Agrilus sulcicollis Lacordaire

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Buprestidae

Distribution in North America: Canada (southern Ontario); first detected in 2006 (Koehler, 2009). The species is palearctic (Eurasian) in origin (Kubán, 2004). It has been expanding its range across Europe in recent years (Anonymous, 2008).

Hosts: Oaks (*Quercus* spp.) appear to be the preferred hosts (Müller and Goßner, 2007). The pest is reported to attack *Fagus* spp., *Castanea* spp., and *Carpinus betulus* L. (Evans et al., 2004). The beetle also may be attracted to *Pinus sylvestris* L. (Eklund and Larsson, 2004), perhaps where its usual hosts are scarce or absent.

Environmental/Economic Importance: Larvae excavate galleries under the bark, eventually girdling the trunk, resulting in tree mortality (Moraal, 1999). *Agrilus sulcicollis* also may be a vector of fungal pathogens, causing tracheomycoses in host oaks (Čapek, 1986). The species has been implicated as a contributor to oak decline in Europe (König, 1996; Thomas et al., 2002). It is regarded as a threat to forests in Poland (Gutowski, 1988).

Biology: Little information is available on the biology of the species. Although *A. sulcicollis* appears primarily to infest dead wood (e.g., Ranius and Jansson, 2000; Wermelinger et al., 2002), it will attack living trees, particularly those in a weakened state (Moraal, 1999). Trees in exposed, sunny locations are preferred (Lindhe et al., 2005). The species tends to infest upper parts of stems and branches, and smaller-sized host trees (Evans et al., 2004). Development occurs mainly in the weaker branches (Mühle, 2007). Larvae develop in or under bark; completion of the life cycle requires 1-2 years (Bílý, 1982). Pupation occurs usually in the bark. The insect is reported to be generally uncommon over its range (Gellermann and Schreiber, 2007). In Finland, it has received the IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature) designation *vulnerable*, and is considered in danger of extinction (Rassi et al., 2001).

Phytosanitary Significance: The beetle is thought to have been introduced into Great Britain, where it was first detected in 1992, in imported timber (Alexander, 2003). Hedin et al. (2008) reported larvae to be common in cut wood piled in forests for later use as fuel, thus suggesting a significant potential for the species to be moved in firewood.

Management: Biogical Control: Parasitism of *A. sulcicollis* by the braconid *Polystenus rugosus* Förster has been reported (Čapek, 1986), although the degree of natural control achieved is unknown.

* * * * * * * * * *

Anoplophora glabripennis (Motschulsky), Asian longhorned beetle (ALB)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution in North America: Canada (Ontario), United States [California (detected, but not established), Illinois (eradicated), New Jersey, New York] (APHIS, 2007); (EPPO, 2006). The species is indigenous to China (EPPO, 2007a).

Hosts: Major hosts are *Populus* and *Salix* spp. (EPPO, 2007a). Species of *Acer*, *Alnus*, *Malus*, *Morus*, *Platanus*, *Prunus*, *Pyrus*, *Robinia*, *Rosa*, *Sophora*, and *Ulmus* have been recorded as hosts in China. Lingafelter and Hoebeke (2002) report 18 species and 12 genera as hosts of ALB in North America, including *Betula* and *Fraxinus* spp., *Aesculus hippocastanum*, *Liriodendron tulipifera*, and *Hibiscus* spp. Controlled studies suggest that oaks (*Quercus* spp.) may also be suitable hosts (Morewood et al., 2003), (Morewood et al., 2005).

Environmental/Economic Importance: In China, poplar wood damaged by *A. glabripennis* larvae has been downgraded, losing as much as 46% of its value (EPPO, 2007a). The potential annual economic losses due to infestations in Canada range from an estimated C\$100 million in

maple syrup production to C\$9 billion in the wood products industry (Claudi, 2002). Infestations in Illinois, New Jersey, and New York have resulted in the removal of more than 30,000 trees at a cost exceeding \$269 million (APHIS, 2007). In the absence of measures to prevent the beetle's spread, losses in the urban environment alone could total 1.2 billion trees worth \$669 billion (Nowak et al., 2001).

Biology: Fecundity averages 32 eggs per female; depending on latitude, the life cycle is completed in one or two years (EPPO, 2007a). Eggs are laid singly within the bark, and hatch in about two weeks. Larvae feed initially in the cambium, later entering the woody tissues. Pupation occurs in chambers in the heartwood. Adult emergence peaks between late June and early July (EPPO, 2007a).

Phytosanitary Significance: *Anoplophora glabripennis* demonstrates a significant capacity for dispersal. For example, a flight range up to 2.6 km has been reported (Smith et al., 2004). Longer-distance spread is facilitated by the transport of wood products in trade. The pest is thought to have entered the United States in solid wood packaging material (APHIS, 2007; EPPO, 2007a). Based on results of simulation models, Peterson et al. (2004) concluded that much of eastern North America is vulnerable to invasion by *A. glabripennis*, whereas only limited areas in the western part of the continent are suitable for its establishment.

Management: Biological Control: Results reported by Dubois et al. (2004a), (2004b) suggested that microbial agents, such as the fungi *Beauveria brongniartii* (Sacc.) Petch, *Beauveria bassiana* (Balsamo) Vuillemin, and *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Metschnikoff) Sorokin, may hold promise for controlling *A. glabripennis*. The potential efficacy of entomopathogenic nematodes, such as *Steinernema feltiae* (Filipjev) Wouts et al. and *S. carpocapsae* (Weiser) Wouts et al., in controlling populations of the beetle also has been favorably assessed (Fallon et al., 2004).

Chemical Control: Trunk injection with systemic insecticides, such as imidacloprid, can be of value in controlling the pest, particularly as part of an integrated eradication or management program (Poland et al., 2006). Fumigants such as methyl bromide and sulfuryl fluoride are effective in disinfesting solid wood packaging material (Barak et al., 2005), (Barak et al., 2006).

* * * * * * * * * *

Sirex noctilio F. European woodwasp

Taxonomy: Hymenoptera: Siricidae

Distribution In North America: Canada (Ontario), United States (Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania) (Anonymous, 2007; Dodds et al., 2007). The species probably is native to Eurasia, but has been introduced into South America, Africa, and Australasia, in addition to North America (CABI, 2007). A map of *S. noctilio* detections in North America can be found in Figure 13.

Hosts: *Pinus* spp. appear to be the favored hosts; the wasp also has been recorded on species of *Abies, Larix, Picea, and Pseudotsuga* (Hoebeke et al., 2005).

Environmental/Economic Importance: While depositing eggs, females inject a toxic mucus and symbiotic fungus into the sapwood (Haugen and Hoebeke, 2005). The mucus causes foliage to wilt and yellow, providing favorable conditions for the fungus to grow and spread throughout the tree. This, combined with larval tunneling through vascular tissue, disrupts water circulation, often resulting in death of the tree (ISSG, 2007). Between 1987 and 1989, an outbreak of *S. noctilio* in Australia destroyed more than 5 million maritime pines (*Pinus radiata* D. Don) worth A\$10-12 million (Haugen et al., 1990). An estimated 250,000 ha of pine plantations in southern Brazil are infested with the pest, which is spreading rapidly (Ciesla, 2003). Tree mortality exceeding 80% has been reported in pine plantations in South America (Hopkins et al., 2008).

Biology: Hoebeke et al. (2005) summarized the biology of the species. Fecundity ranges from 20 to 500 eggs per female; the wasp usually completes one generation per year, but may require two years in colder regions. Females insert the ovipositor through the bark and into the sapwood, depositing one to three eggs at a time. During oviposition, the fungus *Amylostereum areolatum* (Fries) Boidin (Basidiomycetes) is introduced and provides food for the larvae as they tunnel through the wood. Adults range in size from 9 to 35 mm long and are strong fliers.

Phytosanitary Significance: *Sirex noctilio* is thought to have entered the United States in solid wood packaging material accompanying shipments from western Europe (Anonymous, 2005). A flight range of 48 km has been reported (Ismail et al., 2007), indicating that the wasp has significant spread potential.

Management: Biological Control: Both classical and augmentative techniques have proved effective in controlling the wasp in regions into which it has been introduced (e.g., (Fernández-Arhex and Corley, 2005). A key agent, effective in regulating populations of the wasp below economically significant levels, is the parasitic nematode *Deladenus siricidicola* Bedding (Neotylenchidae), which infects larvae, ultimately sterilizing the adult female (Haugen and Hoebeke, 2005).

Cultural Control: Damaged or stressed trees appear to be more susceptible to attack. Thus, a major preventative measure is to increase stand vigor by thinning (Haugen et al., 1990). Destruction of infested trees can be useful in maintaining low abundance of *S. noctilio* in newly infested areas (Hurley et al., 2007).



Figure 13. Counties and municipalities with *S. noctilio* detections (2004-2008) Source; http://www.aphis.usda.gov/plant_health/plant_pest_info/sirex/downloads/postivecountiesbyyear.pdf

* * * * * * * * * *

Buprestis aurulenta L.

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Buprestidae

Distribution: western Canada (British Columbia), western United States (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). There is one anomalous record from Florida (Capelouto, 1949).

Hosts: *Abies, Picea,* and *Pinus* spp., *Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco, *Thuja plicata* Donn ex D. Don (Furniss and Carolin, 1977; Garnett, 1918).

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Buprestis aurulenta* is said to be the most damaging western species in the genus (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). Larvae mine in and around fire scars and other wounds in trees. They damage structural wood in particular, such as boards and timbers used in buildings. Infestations may originate in the forest, in lumberyards, and in exposed parts of wooden structures (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). Larval tunneling also may facilitate the entry of wood-rotting fungi (Garcia and Morrell, 1999), thus compounding damage.

Biology: Little information is available on the reproductive biology of the species. Normally, larvae require from one to three years to complete development (Linsley, 1943). However,

individuals may be extremely long-lived, the developmental period lasting as long as 51 years in one case (Smith, 1962). Females possess only one ovary (Rubio et al., 2008) which, in addition to long generation times, suggests that fecundity may be rather low. Eggs are deposited in flat masses on bark or in fire scars or cracks in the wood (Ebeling, 1975; Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Phytosanitary Significance: The beetle can survive in large sections of fresh wood that are subsequently processed into other products (Garcia and Morrell, 1999). It has been intercepted at the California border in firewood (data from California Department of Food and Agriculture [CDFA]), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: Mechanical Control: Infestations are unlikely to occur in wood from trees removed from the forest soon after they are felled (Ebeling, 1975). Larvae are unable to survive in kiln-dried lumber. Wood preservatives may discourage oviposition to some extent.

* * * * * * * * * *

Chrysobothris trinervia (Kirby)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Buprestidae

Distribution: western Canada, western United States (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). The beetle also has been reported from eastern North America: North Carolina (Hilchie, 2003) and Quebec Province (Vigneault, 2007).

Hosts: *Picea* and *Pinus* spp., *Larix laricina* (Du Roi) K. Koch, *Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco (Furniss and Carolin, 1977; Hilchie, 2003).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Most species of *Chrysobothris* bore through the bark and outer wood of limbs, trunks, and roots of weakened, dying, and dead trees and shrubs (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). Generally, they appear to be of little importance in the forest. However, *C. trinervia* is considered to be an important forestry pest in interior Alaska (Magoun and Dean, 2000).

Biology: No information is available on the biology of *C. trinervia*.

Phytosanitary Significance: The species has been found in Minnesota in barked logs of *Larix occidentalis* Nutt. imported from the western United States (Dodds et al., 2004), indicating the facility with which it may be moved intracontinentally in articles of wood.

Management: Cultural Control: As buprestids rarely injure healthy trees, maintenance of conditions promoting vigorous growth should reduce incidence of attack (Solomon, 1995). Sanitation (removal of dead and dying trees) should be practiced to preclude the availability of breeding sites.

* * * * * * * * * *

Cucujus clavipes F.

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cucujidae

Distribution: broadly distributed in the United States (from North Carolina to Alaska; Bennett et al., 2005) and in Canada (Kukal and Duman, 1989).

Hosts: Fraxinus and Populus spp. (Baker, 1972).

Environmental/Economic Importance: No information is available concerning the environmental or economic importance of the species. Larvae and adults of Cucujidae generally are found under the bark of dead trees (Thomas et al., 2002).

Biology: Adults are 10-14 mm long (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). Larvae are commonly found under the bark of recently dead trees (Baker, 1972). Fungi as well as plant materials are consumed (Evans and Hogue, 2006). The species also is reported to be a predator (Hammond et al., 2001; Kennedy and McCullough, 2002).

Phytosanitary Significance: This species has been intercepted in California in oak firewood from Michigan and Oklahoma (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: No information is available on management of the species.

* * * * * * * * * *

Dendroctonus ponderosae Hopkins

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: western Canada, western United States, Mexico (Baja California) (CABI/EPPO, 1997b).

Hosts: *Pinus* spp., *Picea engelmannii* Parry ex Engelm. Wood (1982) stated that all native pines and several exotic species within the species' range could be infested and killed.

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Dendroctonus ponderosae* is said to rank first in destructiveness among the bark beetles of the West, where it is epidemic almost continually in one or more of its principal hosts (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). Attacks are generally heaviest along the main trunk of a tree, from within about a meter of the ground surface to the middle branches, but may extend from the root collar almost to the top and into the larger limbs. In lodgepole pine, *Pinus contorta* Douglas ex Loudon, losses ranging from 60% of the 30-cm DBH (diameter at breast height) class to about 90% of trees of 45-cm DBH and larger have been reported (CABI/EPPO, 1997b). Wood (1982) estimated that the average annual loss in timber attributed to the beetle may approach 1.5 billion board-feet.

Biology: Adults (CABI/EPPO, 1997b; Hall and Butler, 2007; Wood) and larvae are phloeophagous, or bark-feeding (Safranyik et al., 1999).(CABI/EPPO, 1997b) outlined the reproductive biology of *D. ponderosae*. Emergence and adult flight occur in late July to mid-August. After finding a suitable host, the female initiates attack by boring through the bark and beginning excavation of a vertical egg gallery in the phloem parallel to the grain of the wood. Terpenes in the oleoresin are the primary source of attraction, guiding colonizing beetles to host trees (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). A male joins the female, and mating takes place in the lower end of the egg gallery. Average fecundity is 40-60 eggs per female. Eggs are deposited singly into niches excavated off the egg gallery, which may be as long as 2 m in length. Larvae hatch within about a week, and excavate tunnels in the phloem, at right angles to the egg gallery, as they feed. Overwintering occurs in the larval stage. One generation per year is the norm. In parts of California, two generations, and a partial third, may develop, and, in the coldest portions of the range, a generation may require two years (CABI/EPPO, 1997b).

Phytosanitary Significance: As is typical for scolytids, the most common mode of introduction into new areas for *D. ponderosae* would be via the movement of unseasoned wood with bark, including wooden crates and dunnage (CABI/EPPO, 1997b). The species has been intercepted in California in firewood from Oregon (data from CDFA), indicating its propensity for interstate transport.

Management: Cultural Control: Infestations may be reduced through management practices that maintain the health and vigor of forest stands, such as thinning stagnated young stands or removal of overmature trees in older stands (Lindgren and Borden, 1993).

Chemical Control: Infestations also may be contained and concentrated through the use of a combination of antiaggregation pheromones, such as verbenone, and aggregation pheromones (e.g., Wood, 1982).

* * * * * * * * * *

Dendroctonus pseudotsugae Hopkins

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: western Canada (Alberta, British Columbia), western United States, northern Mexico (Chihuahua, Durango) (Cibrián Tovar et al., 1995; Cibrián et al., 1982).

Hosts: Pseudotsuga menziesii (Mirb.) Franco, P. macrocarpa (Vasey) Mayr, Larix occidentalis Nutt., Tsuga heterophylla (Raf.) Sarg. (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Dendroctonus pseudotsugae* is the most important scolytid enemy of Douglas-fir (*P. menziesii*) throughout the range of the tree in western North America (Schmitz and Gibson, 1996). Ordinarily, beetles are attracted to stumps, windthrows, or otherwise injured trees, but during population outbreaks or when stands are under stress, trees in a healthy and vigorous state may be attacked and large quantities of timber destroyed. Losses may be devastating. For example, during four outbreaks that occurred in western Oregon and

Washington between 1950 and 1969, trees comprising more than 7 million board-feet of timber were killed (Solheim and Krokene, 1998). Outbreaks typically last two to four years. The beetle also has been implicated in the transmission of pathogenic, wood-rotting fungi (e.g., Ross and Solheim, 1997; Schmitz and Gibson, 1996).

Biology: Adult flight commences usually in mid- to late spring (Wood, 1982). After mating, a female may deposit as many as 160 eggs in an egg gallery excavated in the inner bark in contact with the cambium (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). There is one complete, and possibly a partial second, generation per year. Both adults and larvae overwinter, with adults predominating (Dodds et al., 2004).

Phytosanitary Significance: The species has been found in Minnesota in barked logs of *Larix occidentalis* imported from the western United States (LaBonte et al., 2005). LaBonte et al. (1991) suggested that the recent detection in the central and eastern United States of this western North American species was most likely the result of introduction of solid wood packing material or other raw wood products from the West. The beetle also has been intercepted in Great Britain in timber imports from Canada (Schmitz and Gibson, 1996). It thus exhibits a significant capacity to be moved long distances in articles of wood.

Management: Cultural Control: The most practical management approach involves removal of infested or vulnerable timber and maintenance of stands in a vigorous condition (Shore et al., 2005). Young stands should be thinned periodically to maintain vigorous growth, reduce moisture stress, and remove injured trees; in older stands, overmature trees, on which beetle attack is more successful, should be harvested.

Mechanical Control: Debarking logs significantly reduces infestations (Wood, 1982).

* * * * * * * * * *

Dendroctonus valens LeConte

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: Canada, Mexico, Guatemala, Honduras, United States (except for southern Atlantic and Gulf coast states) (CABI, 2005). Outside of the western hemisphere, the species occurs in China (Wood, 1982).

Hosts: *Pinus* and *Picea* spp., *Abies concolor* (Gordon & Glend.) Lindl. ex Hild., *Larix laricina* (Du Roi) Koch, *Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco (Baker, 1972; Wood, 1982).

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Dendroctonus valens* normally attacks injured, weakened, or dying trees, as well as freshly cut logs and stumps, but, on occasion, will attack and kill apparently healthy trees (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). Under ordinary circumstances, however, the species is not aggressive, and populations do not become irruptive (Dreistadt et al., 2004). Trees are attacked near the ground as well as below ground on the large roots (Klepzig et al., 1995). The beetle is implicated as a vector of fungi causing red pine decline disease (Schmid

and Mata, 1991). It contributes to tree mortality averaging almost 7% in *Pinus ponderosa* Douglas ex Lawson & C. Lawson (Yan et al., 2005). Following its introduction about two decades ago, the beetle now infests over 500,000 ha of pine forest in China, causing extensive tree mortality resulting in the death of more than 10 million *Pinus tabuliformis* Carr. and other pines (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Biology: The adult beetle, averaging about 8 mm in length, is the largest in its genus (Erbilgin et al., 2007). Individuals exploit volatile monoterpene compounds to locate host trees (Smith, 1971). Peak flight and attack occur usually in the spring (Dreistadt et al., 2004). The female chews through the bark to the surface of the sapwood where she is joined by a male, mates, and begins to excavate the egg gallery. Fecundity may exceed 100 eggs per female. There are 0.5 to 3 generations per year (Yan et al., 2005).

Phytosanitary Significance: *Dendroctonus valens* exhibits a capacity for rapid, long-distance dispersal. Although known to fly as far as 35 km, transport by humans appears to be the primary means of spread of the beetle in areas, in which pine stands are widely separated (Smith, 1971). The beetle was introduced into China in unprocessed pine logs imported from the western United States; it has since spread rapidly in China, presently occupying four provinces. Domestically, it has been intercepted in California in firewood from Arizona (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: Cultural Control: Unthrifty, injured, or diseased trees should be removed to eliminate breeding sites for the beetle (Dreistadt et al., 2004; Hall, 1984).

Chemical Control: Application of insecticides, such as carbaryl and fenitrothion, may provide protection from *D. valens* attack (CABI/EPPO, 1997c).

* * * * * * * * * *

Dryocoetes confusus Swaine

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: western Canada, western United States (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: *Abies* spp., *Picea engelmannii* Parry ex Engelm., *Pinus contorta* Douglas ex Loudon (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Dryocoetes confusus* has been described as "the most destructive species in the genus" (Stock et al., 1994). In British Columbia, the beetle killed trees of subalpine fir, *Abies lasiocarpa* (Hook.) Nutt., amounting to more than 6.3 billion board-feet of timber between 1948 and 1975 (CABI/EPPO, 1997c). In 2001, over 1 million forested ha there sustained mortality caused by *D. confusus*; earlier, in 1996, attack by the beetle resulted in the death of an estimated 51,000 subalpine firs in one USDA Forest Service region (CABI/EPPO, 1997c). Attack is focused on the lower bole of standing trees; successive generations of beetles may girdle the tree (Bleiker and Uzunovic, 2004). Pathogenic, blue-stain fungi (*Ceratocystis*)

spp., *Ophiostoma* spp.), introduced by the beetle (Furniss and Carolin, 1977; Garbutt, 1992), contribute significantly to tree mortality (Wood, 1982).

Biology: Adults (3.2-4.3 mm long and dark reddish brown in color; (CABI/EPPO, 1997c) and larvae of *D. confusus* are phloeophagous, or bark-feeding (Mathers, 1931). Mathers (1997c) outlined the biology of the beetle in British Columbia. Young adults emerged from hibernation during the second half of June and throughout most of July, and attacked trees (*A. lasiocarpa*), in which they excavated the first brood chambers. Both sexes are attracted to plant chemicals, such as monoterpenes and other terpenoid compounds, emanating from uninfested hosts (CABI/EPPO, 1997c). Males attack first, thereupon emitting an aggregation pheromone that mediates simultaneous mass attack on the new host. Oviposition was completed in August, after which both sexes made feeding tunnels, in which they overwintered. Eggs, five to 14 per brood chamber, hatched during the second half of August. By the following June, the overwintered larvae had cut mines up to 25 mm in length. The first pupa of this brood was observed at the end of July, and, by mid-August, new adults had appeared. Females of the parental generation resumed oviposition in the spring. The species is polygamous, each male mating with two to five females (Hansen, 1996). The life cycle may span three years (CABI/EPPO, 1997c).

Phytosanitary Significance: *Dryocoetes confusus* presumably is moved to new areas in the same manner as other scolytid beetles, in unseasoned wood, including wood packaging material, retaining bark (CABI/EPPO, 1997c).

Management: Cultural Control: *Dryocoetes confusus* may be controlled by sanitation-salvage harvesting, which removes infested trees from a stand and kills the beetles during the manufacturing process in a saw mill or pulp mill (Stock et al., 1994).

Chemical Control: Infestations also may be contained and concentrated through the use of aggregation pheromones, such as (\pm) -*exo*-brevicomin (Rabaglia and Williams, 2002).

* * * * * * * * * *

Hylesinus californicus (Swaine)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: western United States historically (detected recently [1999] in Maryland), northern Mexico, Canada (Manitoba to British Columbia) (Langor, 1994; Wood, 1982).

Hosts: Fraxinus spp., Olea europaea L. (Cranshaw et al., 1994).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Larval tunneling may girdle and kill branches; on rare occasions, entire trees may be killed (Langor, 1994). Under outbreak conditions, extensive branch death may occur, resulting in significant loss of aesthetic and commercial value in ash trees (McKnight and Aarhus, 1973). McKnight and Aarhus (1982) reported severe dieback and some mortality in stands of green ash, *Fraxinus pennsylvanica* Marsh., a tree widely used in

protective plantings for wind barriers, snow fences, wildlife habitat, noise abatement, and aesthetic purposes.

Biology: Adults are 2.0-3.1 mm in length (Cranshaw et al., 1994). Adults, which hibernate within chambers in the trunk, become active in early to mid-spring, at which time females begin to construct egg galleries beneath the bark of host trees (McKnight and Aarhus, 1973). Larval tunneling may cause extensive scoring of the sapwood. The excavated galleries become stained by fungi of the genus *Ceratocystis* Ell. & Halst. (Langor and Hergert, 1993). Average fecundity appears to be about 21 eggs per female (Cranshaw et al., 1994). One generation per year is the norm; a partial second generation may occasionally occur (LaBonte et al., 2005).

Phytosanitary Significance: (Langor, 1994) suggested that the recent detection in the eastern United States of this western North American species was most likely the result of its introduction in solid wood packing material or other raw wood products from the western United States.

Management: Cultural Control: Good cultural practices, which maintain stand vigor and sanitation (i.e., removal of infested wood), are fundamental to *H. californicus* management (Cranshaw et al., 1994; Wood, 1982).

* * * * * * * * * *

Hylesinus criddlei (Swaine)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: western and mid-western United States (Colorado to Iowa), Canada (Saskatchewan to Quebec) (Rabaglia and Williams, 2002). The beetle recently was detected in Maine, Maryland, and Oregon (Donahue et al., 2007; ODA, 2007; Wood, 1982).

Hosts: Fraxinus spp. (Solomon et al., 1993).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Trees that are weakened, storm-damaged, or felled are most susceptible to attack, although the beetle occasionally may attack healthy trees, causing branch- and top-kill (McKnight and Aarhus, 1973). Injury results from larval tunneling in the inner bark and surface of the sapwood. McKnight and Aarhus (1982) reported severe dieback and some mortality in stands of green ash, *Fraxinus pennsylvanica* Marsh., a tree widely used in protective plantings for wind barriers, snow fences, wildlife habitat, noise abatement, and aesthetic purposes.

Biology: Adults are 1.9-2.4 mm in length (Wood, 1982). Overwintered adults emerge in the spring, fly to susceptible hosts, and begin to oviposit; egg galleries may be excavated in the bole, limbs, and larger branches (LaBonte et al., 2005; Solomon et al., 1993). There are one to two generations per year.

Phytosanitary Significance: LaBonte et al. (1993) suggested that the recent detection in the eastern United States of this western North American species was most likely the result of its introduction in solid wood packing material or other raw wood products from the western United States.

Management: Mechanical Control: Debarking of felled trees prevents brood development (Wood, 1982).

* * * * * * * * * *

Ips mexicanus (Hopkins)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: western Canada, western United States, Mexico, Guatemala (Wood, 1982).

Hosts: Pinus spp. (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Environmental/Economic Importance: This beetle attacks the bole of living, injured, dying, and recently felled pines (Cibrián Tovar et al., 1995). Attack may result in the death of trees, particularly those that are under stress (Cibrián et al., 1996). The species also has been implicated as a vector of *Fusarium circinatum* Nirenberg & O'Donnell, the fungus that causes pitch canker of pines and Douglas-fir (Erbilgin et al., 2008; Trimble, 1924).

Biology: Fecundity in *I. mexicanus* (= *I. radiatae* Hopkins) averages 90 eggs per female (Cibrián Tovar et al., 1995). The number of generations in a year ranges from three to seven (Cibrián et al., 1995). Males initiate attack on host trees through cracks in the bark, penetrating to the cambium where they construct a chamber. There, they mate with three to five females. Each female excavates a tunnel and deposits three to four eggs in chambers within it. Larvae extend galleries outward from the egg chambers (Cibrián et al., 1995).

Phytosanitary Significance: The species is considered to be of "medium" importance in Mexico, as it is a forest pest in various ways: as a tree killer, vector of tree pathogens, and competitor for other bark beetles (Cibrián et al., 1977). It has been intercepted in California in firewood from Arizona (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: Cultural Control: As outbreaks are likely to occur where weakened trees grow near accumulations of fresh slash, which are favored breeding sites for the beetle, infestations may be reduced by prompt disposal of slash larger than 80 mm in diameter (Ebeling, 1975).

* * * * * * * * * *

Lyctus cavicollis LeConte

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Lyctidae

Rev.Original May, 2010

Distribution: United States (widespread) (Ebeling, 1975).

Hosts: *Eucalyptus, Carya, Fraxinus*, and *Quercus* spp., *Citrus* × *sinensis* (L.) Osbeck (Geis, 1997; Smith, 1968). In addition, in Germany, where it has been introduced, the species is reported to attack Ulmus spp., *Prunus* spp., *Platanus* spp., *Robinia pseudoacacia* L., and *Juglans regia* L. (Smith, 1968).

Environmental/Economic Importance: This pest often attacks lumber during air-drying, which may take as long as 18 months; the lumber is particularly susceptible after its moisture content falls below 30% (Jarratt, 2001). *Lyctus cavicollis* is considered to be a significant pest of finished wood or lumber in buildings (Ebeling, 1975). It may be found in hardwood flooring, paneling, and furniture (ODFW, 2005). The beetle is considered an invasive species in Oregon (Ebeling, 1975).

Biology: The size of adults varies from 2.5 to 5 mm, although usually not exceeding 3 mm in length (Geis, 1996). No information is available on the reproductive biology of the species.

Phytosanitary Significance: *Lyctus cavicollis* has been intercepted in California in oak firewood from Minnesota (data from CDFA). The major pathway via which it has been introduced into central Europe is thought to be consignments of sawn hardwood imported from the United States (Smith, 1968). The species thus exhibits a tendency to be moved frequently with the interstate and international transport of wood products.

Management: Chemical Control: Insecticidal dips (e.g., 0.06% lindane) may be used to protect lumber during the air-drying phase (Suomi, 2007). Infestation of structures may require tent fumigation (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

* * * * * * * * * *

Megacyllene antennata (White)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: southwestern United States (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: Prosopis spp. (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Environmental/Economic Importance: (Craighead and Hofer, 1921) considered this species to be the most destructive borer in mesquite. Larvae typically mine the wood extensively, rendering it unfit for use in construction.

Biology: Craighead and Hofer (1921) provided an account of the biology of the species. Overwintering adults emerge and fly during March and April. Eggs are laid in crevices or under scales of the bark. Freshly cut wood is preferred. Larvae bore through the bark into the sapwood, in which they may feed for 40-60 days. They finally enter the heartwood, excavating long galleries. There are two generations per year.

Phytosanitary Significance: *Megacyllene antennata* has been intercepted in California in firewood from Texas (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: Cultural Control: Wood should be cut later in the season (mid-October to the end of November) when adult beetles are absent (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

* * * * * * * * * *

Melanophila drummondi (Kirby)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Buprestidae

Distribution: western Canada, western and eastern United States (Baker, 1972; Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: *Abies, Larix, Picea,* and *Tsuga* spp., *Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco (Dodds et al., 2004; Scott, 1974). Scott (1977) reported an infestation in *Pinus ponderosa* Lawson, which may be an unusual host.

Environmental/Economic Importance: Although usually seen to infest injured, mistletoeinfected, dying, fire-killed, or recently felled trees, *M. drummondi* occasionally will attack and kill apparently healthy trees, particularly those under stress (Snyder, 1927). It causes defects, such as gum spots or streaks, in timber, likely lowering its value (Overhulser, 1986). The species is considered one of the most important pests of conifers in Oregon (ODF, 2007).

Biology: Adults emerge from overwintering in the spring, and fly to a suitable host tree (Dodds et al., 2004). Eggs are laid in bark crevices, and, upon hatch, larvae bore into the inner bark to feed and develop in the phloem/cambium interface. There is one generation per year (Dodds et al., 2004).

Phytosanitary Significance: *Melanophila drummondi* has been found in Minnesota in barked logs of *Larix occidentalis* imported from the western United States (Ciesla, 1992). It was introduced into China in unprocessed logs imported from western North America (ODF, 2007). These examples indicate the facility, with which the beetle may be moved both intracontinentally and intercontinentally in articles of wood.

Management: Cultural Control: Practices that maintain stand vigor, such as sanitation, removal of injured trees, and thinning, are thought to reduce susceptibility to attack by the beetle (Scott, 1938).

* * * * * * * * * *

Micromalthus debilis LeConte

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Micromalthidae

Distribution: native to the eastern United States (Massachusetts to Michigan, south to Virginia; Pollock and Normark, 2002), but found also in Florida, New Mexico, Texas, Oregon, Washington, and British Columbia (Durden, 1999; Mudge et al., 2001; Philips and Young, 2001). Outside of North America, the species has been reported from South Africa, Austria, Gibraltar, Hong Kong, Japan, Hawaii, Brazil, Cuba, and Belize (Beutel and Hörnschemeyer, 2002; Perkovsky, 2007; Scott, 1938).

Hosts: *Pinus*, *Tsuga*, *Castanea*, and *Quercus* spp. (Lawrence, 1991). The species also is capable of infesting building materials of various woods, including species of *Pinus*, *Pseudotsuga*, *Acacia*, and *Eucalyptus*, when used in flooring, furniture, telephone poles, railroad ties, bridge abutments, and mine timbers (Philips and Young, 2001).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Larval boring causes damage to buildings and other wooden structures (Craighead, 1950; Mudge et al., 2001). Larvae have been found infesting the wood panels comprising the walls and floors of bank vaults and safes (Anonymous, 1994). The mass emergence of adults within buildings may create a nuisance (Pollock and Normark, 2002).

Biology: The biology of the species is complex, with several reproductive types possible. For example, reproduction may be via thelytokous parthenogenesis and viviparity in paedogenetic females, in which case, fecundity averages 10 female larvae per female (Scott, 1941). Alternatively, each female may produce a single male via arrhenotokous parthenogenesis or give birth to both male and female offspring (Pollock and Normark, 2002). Sexual reproduction also has been reported in the species (Scott, 1938). Larvae tunnel through the wood, producing long galleries that may extend deep into the heartwood (Kuhne and Becker, 1976; Scott, 1936). Development occurs apparently only in wood infected with decay fungi, particularly brown-rot fungi (Lawrence, 1991).

Phytosanitary Significance: It is generally thought that *M. debilis* has expanded its range in historical times through the transport of infested articles of wood (Mudge et al., 2001). Dunnage and other solid wood packing material were implicated as probable pathways for the introduction of this eastern North American species into Oregon and Washington (Craighead, 1950). It was thought to have been introduced into South Africa in lumber from North America (Wood, 1982).

Management: No information is available on control of the beetle.

* * * * * * * * * *

Monarthrum fasciatum (Say)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: eastern United States primarily, but found as far west as Texas (Frank and Iii, 2006).

Hosts: Betula, Quercus, Carya, Malus, Mimosa, Nyssa, Populus, Prunus, Pinus, and Tsuga spp., Acer rubrum L., Castanea dentata (Marsh.) Borkh., and Liquidambar styraciflua L. (Baker, 1972; Craighead, 1950; Wood, 1982).

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Monarthrum fasciatum* attacks only dying, injured, or recently felled trees, and its burrows in logs left unsawed too long reduce the value of the final product (Dorsey and Leach, 1956; Roling and Kearby, 1974). Attacks from ground level to over 13 m up the bole and occasionally in the larger branches have been recorded (Baker, 1972). The beetle is highly destructive of green lumber (Deyrup, 1978). It is considered one of the most serious scolytid pests of hardwoods in the midwestern United States (Roling and Kearby, 1974).

Biology: Roling and Kearby (1963) recorded aspects of the life history of the species. Adult flight commences in March. The male initiates an entrance hole in a susceptible tree, which leads into a nuptial chamber. Eggs are deposited in niches off galleries branching from the nuptial chamber. A sex ratio of 2:1 (females:males) was reported. There are at least two generations per year (LaBonte et al., 2005).

Phytosanitary Significance: LaBonte et al. (1963) suggested that this eastern North American species likely was introduced into Oregon in solid wood packing material or other raw wood products. The beetle is thought to have been introduced into Germany in sawtimber or other wood imported from North America (Roling and Kearby, 1974).

Management: No information is available concerning management of *M. fasciatum*. Roling and Kearby (1977) suggested that the insect was beneficial in that it hastened decomposition of deadwood in forest ecosystems.

* * * * * * * * * *

Monochamus obtusus Casey

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: western Canada, western United States (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: Abies and Pinus spp., Pseudotsuga menziesii (Mirb.) Franco ((CABI, 2005).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Larval galleries that are bored deeply into the wood may result in a reduced value of the final product (e.g., veneer logs downgraded to saw logs) (CABI/EPPO, 1997a). The presence of one larval gallery in a structural pole log may

compromise its integrity, resulting in its rejection for use as, for example, a utility pole. The beetle also is a vector of the nematode, *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus* (Steiner & Buhrer) Nickle, a parasite of pines, which causes losses in excess of 847 million board-feet annually in Japan (CABI/EPPO, 1997a).

Biology: *Monochamus* beetles generally attack only trees under stress or those recently felled (CABI, 2005). Fecundity ranges from 40 to over 200 eggs per female. Eggs are laid in the bark. After hatch, larvae feed on phloem and cambial tissues, later boring into the sapwood. Pupation occurs in a chamber excavated in the sapwood.

Phytosanitary Significance: *Monochamus obtusus* has been intercepted in California in firewood from Washington and Michigan (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood. Because it easily may be transported outside its natural range in untreated wood (EPPO, 2007b), it has been proposed as an A1 quarantine pest for the European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization (McIntosh et al., 2001).

Management: Mechanical Control: Mass-trapping shows promise as an efficient means for suppressing population densities of the beetle over the flight season (CABI/EPPO, 1997a). Wood may be disinfested by heating it to 56°C for at least 30 minutes (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

* * * * * * * * * *

Neoclytus muricatulus Kirby

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: western Canada, western United States, eastern United States (Maine to Ohio, North Carolina) (Baker, 1972; Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: Abies, Larix, Picea, and Pinus spp., Quercus stellata Wangenh., Pseudotsuga menziesii (Mirb.) Franco (Baker, 1972; Solomon, 1995).

Environmental/Economic Importance: No information is available on the impact of the species. The related species, *N. acuminatus* (F.), produces numerous galleries throughout the wood; lumber cut from infested logs is riddled with tunnels, rendering it unmarketable (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Biology: Larvae bore through dead, dry branches and larger woody material (Dodds et al., 2004).

Phytosanitary Significance: The beetle has been found in Minnesota in barked logs of *Larix occidentalis* imported from the western United States (Furniss and Carolin, 1977), indicating the facility, with which it may be moved intracontinentally in articles of wood.

Management: No information is available on management options.

* * * * * * * * * *

Phymatodes decussatus (LeConte)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: western North America (British Columbia to California) (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: Quercus spp. (Swift, 2008).

Environmental/Economic Importance: No information is available on the impact of the species.

Biology: Larvae feed in the dead or dying branches, or thin-barked parts of the bole (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Phytosanitary Significance: *Phymatodes decussatus* has been intercepted at the California border in oak firewood (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: No information is available on management of the species.

* * * * * * * * * *

Phymatodes dimidiatus (Kirby)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: western Canada, western and northern United States (Baker, 1972; Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: Abies, Larix, Picea, Pseudotsuga, and Tsuga spp. (Baker, 1972; Leech, 1944).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Adults have been observed emerging from structural timbers of cedar (*Thuja plicata* Don) and fir (Dodds et al., 2004) used in houses.

Biology: No information is available on the biology of the species.

Phytosanitary Significance: The beetle has been found in Minnesota in barked logs of *Larix occidentalis* imported from the western United States (Furniss and Carolin, 1977), indicating the facility, with which it may be moved intracontinentally in articles of wood.

Management: No information is available on management of the species.

* * * * * * * * * *

Phymatodes lecontei Linsley

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: western North America (British Columbia to California) (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: Quercus spp. (Cranshaw and Tisserat, 2008).

Environmental/Economic Importance: No information is available on the impact of the species.

Biology: No information is available on the biology of the species.

Phytosanitary Significance: The species has been intercepted in California in firewood with an origin listed as Tennessee (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: No information is available on management of the species.

* * * * * * * * * *

Pityophthorus juglandis Blackman

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: The insect occurs in eight western states (Arizona, California, Colorado, Idaho, New Mexico, Oregon, Utah, and Washington) and northern Mexico (Chihuahua) (Cranshaw and Tisserat, 2008).

Hosts: Walnut (Juglans spp.) (Graves et al., 2009).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Although *P. juglandis* historically was not considered a pest of walnut trees (Tisserat et al., 2009), it is a vector of thousand cankers disease of walnuts, caused by a newly recognized *Geosmithia* fungus (Seybold et al., 2009). Brood galleries on branches (1.5 cm and greater) are frequently associated with staining and initiation of *Geosmithia* canker formation (Clark, 2010). A great number of cankers tend to be formed, which coalesce to girdle twigs and branches (Hasey, 2009). The disease progresses from a thinning and yellowing of the upper crown to dieback of larger branches and eventual collapse. Trees often die within three years of initial symptoms (Cranshaw and Tisserat, 2008).

Biology: Adults, which are minute in size (1.5-1.9 mm), overwinter in cavities excavated in the bark of the trunk (Anonymous, 2009). In spring, they emerge and fly to branches to mate and initiate new tunnels for egg galleries. The *Geosmithia* fungus is introduced during tunneling. Larvae feed for four to six weeks under the bark in tunnels running perpendicular to the egg galleries. Pupation occurs in the tunnels. Adults emerge to produce a second generation.

Phytosanitary Significance: *Pityophthorus juglandis* is a phloem feeder, and not a wood borer, which reduces the probability that it will be successfully moved in processed wood products (Brockerhoff et al., 2003). Long-distance movement with unfinished wood is possible. The beetle has been intercepted in New Zealand on walnut from the United States (Jacobi et al., 2010a). The possibility of interstate movement in firewood has been suggested, and the beetle and the fungus, *Geosmithia* sp., have been observed on firewood for sale in Colorado (Rose, 2008).

Management: Controls for thousand cankers disease have not yet been developed (Clark, 2010). At present, no state quarantines exist for the disease (Cranshaw and Tisserat, 2008). Prompt detection and removal of affected trees currently is the primary means of managing infestations, but insecticides applied to the trunk in late summer may be effective in killing adults as they seek overwintering sites (Wood, 1982).

* * * * * * * * * *

Polygraphus rufipennis (Kirby)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: Canada (all provinces), United States (broadly distributed) (Baker, 1972).

Hosts: Pinus, Larix, Abies, and Picea spp. (Baker, 1972; Wood, 1982).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Although *P. rufipennis* infestations usually occur in slash and in dead and dying trees, during periods, in which high population densities develop, healthy trees may be subject to attack (Bowers et al., 1996a). Under such conditions, trees may be killed, particularly if they have been weakened by other pests (Simpson, 1929). Mining by the larvae may be so extensive as to destroy almost completely the inner bark (Haberkern et al., 2002). The beetle is a vector of at least four species of wood-infecting fungi: *Leptographium abietinum* (Peck) Wingf., *Ophiostoma bicolor* Davidson & Wells, *O. piceaperdum* (Rumbold) Arx, and *O. ips* (Rumbold) Nannf. (Simpson, 1929).

Biology: Hibernation takes place in the larval, pupal, or adult stages, in the bark of stumps, logs, and the tops of trees cut during the previous spring or summer (Bowers et al., 1996b). Adults emerge in May and June, and attack the bark of unthrifty trees or those recently felled. Females cut a tunnel through to the inner bark where a chamber is excavated and mating takes place. Eggs are laid in tunnels radiating from the nuptial chamber. One female may produce up to four distinct broods, extending over one or more seasons. In Newfoundland, there is one generation per year (Winter, 1991).

Phytosanitary Significance: *Polygraphus rufipennis* has been intercepted at the U.S. border in dunnage and firewood, among other wooden items (data from the USDA-APHIS, PPQ Port Information Network [PIN 309] database), and in Great Britain in timber imports (Dodds et al., 2004), from Canada. It has been found in Minnesota in barked logs of *Larix occidentalis*

imported from the western United States (Tomalak et al., 1989). These examples illustrate the facility with which the species may be moved both intracontinentally and intercontinentally in articles of wood.

Management: Biological Control: Entomopathogenic nematodes have been suggested as possible agents for the biological control of *P. rufipennis* (Solomon, 1995).

* * * * * * * * * *

Pseudopityophthorus pubipennis (LeConte)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: western United States (Arizona, California, Oregon, Washington), western Canada (British Columbia) (LU, 2006; Swiecki and Bernhardt, 2006).

Hosts: *Quercus, Lithocarpus*, and *Castanea* spp., *Aesculus californica* (Spach) Nutt. (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Environmental/Economic Importance: The beetles typically infest the bole and branches of injured, diseased, felled, or recently dead trees, or the dead branches of healthy trees (Rizzo et al., 2002; Švihra et al., 2004), and may cause occasional tree mortality. Penetration of xylem tissues by the beetle impedes water transport in trees (Švihra et al., 2004). With the emergence and spread of the pathogen causing sudden oak death, *Phytophthora ramorum* Werres *et al., P. pubipennis* populations have reached outbreak densities, and are thought to be a factor in the decline of oaks in coastal forests of California (Swain, 2002). It has been suggested that mass attacks by beetles are more likely the proximate cause of sudden death in trees, rather than the comparatively slow-developing infection produced by the pathogen (Swiecki and Bernhardt, 2006).

Biology: Adults bore through the bark to the sapwood where two tunnels are excavated perpendicular to the wood grain (Swiecki and Bernhardt, 2006). Eggs are laid in niches along the tunnels. Upon hatch, larvae begin tunneling and feeding in the phloem. Pupation occurs just below the bark surface. Both larvae and adults overwinter. Depending on latitude, there may be two or more generations per year (Švihra et al., 2004).

Phytosanitary Significance: *Pseudopityophthorus pubipennis* has been intercepted in California in firewood with an origin listed as Texas (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: Chemical Control: Application of insecticides, such as permethrin, may be effective in suppressing beetle populations on a local scale (Solomon, 1995).

Cultural Control: Judicious pruning, watering, and fertilizing of valuable trees can reduce their susceptibility to attack (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

* * * * * * * * * *

Scobicia declivis (LeConte)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Bostrichidae

Distribution: western United States (e.g., California, Oregon, Utah) (Halbert, 2000; Pitts and Alston, 2004). The species was detected in Florida in 2000 (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: *Quercus, Acer, Acacia,* and *Eucalyptus* spp., *Umbellularia californica* (Hook. & Arn.) Nutt. (Swiecki and Bernhardt, 2006).

Environmental/Economic Importance: The species usually feeds in seasoned hardwood, but will also attack living trees (Bentley et al., 2006). Larvae may tunnel through grape vines, weakening them (Ebeling, 1975). The beetle has been known to infest hardwood paneling and floors in dwellings (Furniss and Carolin, 1977), and to damage wine casks (Linsley, 1942) and asphalt roofing material (Ebeling, 1975).

Biology: Ebeling (2006) summarized the life cycle of the species. The female bores an egg gallery to a depth of about 8 mm. She then turns perpendicularly, across the wood grain, and continues to excavate the gallery, where mating and oviposition occur. Eggs are deposited one each in pores in the wood. After hatch, larvae tunnel and feed, excavating long galleries (50-60 cm), and maturing in about nine months. Pupation occurs in the wood. Peak emergence of adults is in July and August. There is one generation per year.

Phytosanitary Significance: *Scobicia declivis* has been intercepted in California in firewood from Missouri and Colorado (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: Cultural Control: Maintaining proper sanitation, such as removal and destruction of prunings and dead wood before adults emerge in the spring, is perhaps the most effective means of control (Wood, 1982).

* * * * * * * * *

Scolytus laricis Blackman

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: western Canada (British Columbia), western United States (Idaho, Montana, Oregon, Washington) (Wood, 1982).

Hosts: Larix occidentalis Nutt. and L. lyallii Parl. (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Environmental/Economic Importance: The species attacks distressed trees of pole size, suppressed limbs on larger trees, and slash (Wood, 1982).

Biology: According to Wood (2004), the biology is similar to that of *S. unispinosus* LeConte. Adults of the latter species form uniramous and biramous parental galleries in the wood, from which larval mines radiate. Pupation occurs in the phloem. Adult flight periods are in May and July and there are up to two generations per year.

Phytosanitary Significance: The beetle has been found in Minnesota in barked logs of *Larix occidentalis* imported from the western United States (Winter, 1991). It also has been intercepted in Great Britain in timber imports from Canada (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). These examples illustrate the facility with which the species may be moved both intracontinentally and intercontinentally in articles of wood.

Management: No information is available on control of this species.

* * * * * * * * * *

Tetropium velutinum LeConte

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: western Canada (British Columbia), western United States (Alaska, California, Montana, New Mexico, Utah) (Furniss and Carolin, 1977; Holsten et al., 1980; Snow, 1906).

Hosts: *Abies, Picea, and Pinus spp., Larix occidentalis Nutt., Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco, *Tsuga heterophylla* (Raf.) Sarg. (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Drought-stressed, defoliated, and fire-scorched trees are susceptible to attack by the beetle and may be killed; the beetle caused widespread deterioration in larch stands in northern Washington during the 1930s (Dodds et al., 2004). Mortality in apparently healthy trees also has been reported (Dodds et al., 2004).

Biology: Oviposition extends from May to August; eggs are laid under loose bark or between bark scales (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). Larvae feed within the phloem and cambial tissues, and pupate in the sapwood. In Canada, one generation per year has been reported (Dodds et al., 2004).

Phytosanitary Significance: The beetle has been found in Minnesota in barked logs of *Larix occidentalis* imported from the western United States (Ross and Geistlinger, 1968), indicating the facility with which it may be moved intracontinentally in articles of wood.

Management: Chemical Control: A 1% emulsion of lindane (γ -hexachlorocyclohexane) was reported to protect freshly felled trees from *T. velutinum* attack and reduce damage to already infested wood (Dodds et al., 2004).

Cultural Control: Prompt salvage logging after distubance that causes mortality or reduces tree vigor can reduce the impact of *T. velutinum* in forest stands (Thomas et al., 2006).
* * * * * * * * * *

Tomicus piniperda (L.)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: Native to Europe, the species has been introduced into north Africa, East Asia, Turkey, Canada, and north central and northeastern United States (Jankowiak and Bilański, 2007).

Hosts: Primarily pines (*Pinus* spp.); the beetle also has been reported to attack *Picea* spp., *Abies pectinata*, and *Larix europea* (Anonymous, 1972; Ryall and Smith, 2000). In North America, red pine (*P. resinosa*) is a particularly favored host (Morgan et al., 2004).

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Tomicus piniperda* is generally regarded as a secondary pest, successfully colonizing only recently dead pine trees or trees suffering from stress (Anonymous, 1972; Chen et al., 2004). However, populations can quickly build up to outbreak densities lasting many years, promoted by an abundance of breeding material; during such periods, healthy trees may be attacked (Thomas et al., 2006). The beetle is considered to be the most serious scolytid pest of pines in Europe (Czokajlo et al., 1997). Damage is caused by adult and larval feeding on phloem tissue under thick bark at the base of the tree and by feeding on pith in young shoots in the tree crown, which causes them to wither and brown. Trees with severe damage to crowns show significant loss of growth increment (as high as 50%) compared to trees with less damage (Masuya et al., 1999). The beetle is a vector of blue-staining fungi of the genera *Hormonema, Leptographium, Ophiostoma, Diplodia, Aureobasidium*, and *Graphium* (Gibbs and Inman, 1991; Jankowiak, 2006; Jankowiak and Bilański, 2007; Punithalingam and Waterston, 1970; Solheim and Långström, 1991), some of which are highly virulent and capable of killing entire trees (Anonymous, 1972).

Biology: The life history was discussed by Anonymous (2006) and Thomas et al. (2000). The beetle overwinters as a fully grown larva, pupa, or adult. Adults emerge in late winter or early spring, mate, and begin excavating egg galleries under the thick bark of a living tree, fresh stump, or recently cut material. Fecundity ranges from 60 to 160 eggs per female. Development from egg to adult requires about three months, adults of the first generation beginning to emerge in June. These individuals fly to the crown to feed on the new growth throughout the summer. There are one or two generations per year, depending on climate.

Phytosanitary Significance: Logs containing overwintering adults pose a significant risk of spreading infestations (Anonymous, 1972). The species has often been intercepted at U.S. ports in wood packaging material, particularly dunnage (Thomas et al., 2006).

Management: According to Thomas et al. (1998), there appear to be no practical chemical controls for the pest, although methyl bromide is indicated as the treatment of choice for infested trees requiring a phytosanitary certificate (Morgan et al., 2004). Proper silvicultural practices, such as thinning and removal of recently dead trees, could help keep *T. piniperda* populations at

low levels (Cognato, 2004). The beetle is under a Federal quarantine in the United States (7 CFR §301.50), which restricts the movement of host material.

* * * * * * * * * *

Xyleborus glabratus Eichhoff

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: Native to Asia; the original distribution included India, Bangladesh, Burma, Taiwan, and Japan (Rabaglia et al., 2006). First detected in North America in 2002, *X. glabratus* presently is established in Florida, Georgia, and South Carolina (Mayfield and Thomas, 2009b). Recently, the beetle was detected in Mississippi (Rabaglia et al., 2006).

Hosts: Primarily Lauraceae, including *Lindera latifolia*, *Litsaea elongata*, *Phoebe lanceolata*, *Persea borbonia*, and *Sassafras albidum*; also recorded on *Shorea robusta* (Dipterocarpaceae) and *Leucaena glauca* (Fabaceae) (Fraedrich et al., 2008).

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Xyleborus glabratus* serves as a vector for *Raffaelea lauricola* Harrington, Fraedrich, & Aghayeva (Ascomycetes: Ophiostomatales), which causes a vascular wilt disease in lauraceous hosts (Fraedrich et al., 2007; Harrington et al., 2008). The disease has spread rapidly since it was first reported in Georgia in 2003, and has caused extensive mortality (estimated at 75-80%; Goldberg and Heine, 2009) in redbay (*P. borbonia*) an ecologically dominant tree in coastal hammock vegetation in the southeastern United States (Hall and Butler, 2007), the fruit and foliage of which are important sources of food for wildlife (Koch and Smith, 2008). The fungus also has been reported to infect *Lindera melissifolia* (Mayfield et al., 2008a), a Federally listed endangered species (50 CFR §17.12). Recently, *X. glabratus* and its fungal symbiont were found to attack avocado, *Persea americana* (Evans, 2005), an important revenue-generating crop in the Florida economy (Hanula et al., 2008). The beetle and its associated fungus are now considered potential threats to avocado production in Florida (Hanula et al., 2008).

Biology: Little information is available on the life history or ecology of *X. glabratus*. Hanula et al. (2008) reported a developmental period (from egg to adult) of 50-60 days and probable multiple, overlapping generations per year. The beetle, which is apparently attracted to aromatic compounds in the wood, attacks healthy as well as injured trees. The wilt fungus is introduced as the female beetle tunnels through the wood in preparation for oviposition, and provides food for the larvae (Fraedrich et al., 2007).

Phytosanitary Significance: The pest most likely was introduced into the United States in wood packaging material (Mayfield and Thomas, 2009a). Firewood also is indicated as a pathway for spread of infestations (Mayfield et al., 2008b).

Management: Systemic fungicides, such as propiconazole, have shown some promise in inhibiting infection of individual *P. borbonia* trees by the wilt fungus, and could be useful in protecting large, high-value trees in parks, residential areas, and historic sites that are currently

succumbing to the disease and for which no other preventive management options currently exist (Hanula and Sullivan, 2008). Hanula and Sullivan (1982) have evaluated attractants that may be useful in traps to detect and monitor populations of the beetle in areas, such as ports-of-entry.

* * * * * * * * * *

Xyleborus xylographus (Say)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: Primarily the eastern half of the United States, but also reported from Texas, New Mexico, Oregon, and California; Canada (Quebec, Ontario, British Columbia); and Cuba (Ak et al., 2005; Mudge et al., 2001; Snow, 1906). Outside of North America, the species occurs in Turkey, Romania, the former Czechoslovakia, Austria, the former USSR, France, Great Britain, South Africa, and the Canary Islands (Cal, 2008; Cognato, 2004; Fischer, 1954; GusEv, 1941; Hobson and Bright, 1994; IAPSC, 1999; Majernik, 1959; Michel, 1937; Munro, 1926; Negru and Pîrvescu, 1966; Wood, 1982).

Hosts: *Quercus* spp. appear to be the primary hosts (Ak et al., 2005). Other recorded hosts include *Corylus, Prunus, Malus, Alnus, Acer, Abies*, and *Juglans* spp.; *Acer pseudoplatanus* L.; and *Corylus avellana* L. (Fischer, 1954; GusEv, 1941; Michel, 1937; Pyatnitzkii, 1932; Snare, 2006).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Diseased or injured trees appear to be most susceptible to attack, although infestation of apparently healthy trees has been reported (Weldon, 1918). The beetle has been reported to be a pest of pear in California (Snare, 2006), of hazelnut in Europe and Turkey (Ak et al., 2005; Cal, 2008), and of avocado in the Canary Islands (Fischer, 1954).

Biology: Fischer (2001) discussed the reproductive biology of the species. During April and May, females emerging from hibernation select thick branches or trunks and bore down to the heartwood, then tunnel laterally, following one of the annual rings. Eggs are deposited in clusters of 8-12 in galleries. Observed fecundity ranged from 21-100 eggs per female. Larvae feed on a fungus introduced by the ovipositing female. The pupal stage lasts about one week, and adults mate soon after eclosion. A sex ratio of 20:1 (females:males) was observed. There is one generation per year.

Phytosanitary Significance: Dunnage and other solid wood packing material were implicated as probable pathways for the introduction of this eastern North American species into Oregon (Fischer, 1954).

Management: Chemical Control: Application of insecticides, such as BHC and parathion, has been reported to provide some measure of control (Wood, 1982).

* * * * * * * * * *

Xyloterinus politus (Say)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae

Distribution: primarily the eastern half of the United States, but also occurring in Washington and Alaska; Canada (Yukon to Nova Scotia) (Majka et al., 2007; Mudge et al., 2001; Wood, 1982).

Hosts: Acer, Alnus, Betula, Carya, Castanea, Fagus, Fraxinus, Magnolia, Populus, Prunus, *Quercus*, Picea, Pinus, Tsuga, and Ulmus spp. (Baker, 1972; Saint-Germain et al., 2007).

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Xyloterinus politus* breeds in injured, dying, and newly felled trees and limbs; lumber cut from infested wood may be severely degraded, and its value reduced, by adult entrance holes and associated stains (Shigo, 1966). Wounds inflicted by the beetle may expose host trees to secondary infection by organisms of decay (Finnegan and Gagnon, 1964). The beetle is considered a potential vector of the fungus causing Dutch elm disease (Robinson, 2005).

Biology: Oviposition occurs between May and August (MacLean and Giese, 1967). After tunneling through the bark, the female excavates a gallery 2-45 mm into the sapwood of a host tree. Eggs are deposited in secondary tunnels at right angles to the main gallery. Eggs are present during two periods: mid-May to mid-June and early to late August (Mudge et al., 2001), suggesting two generations per year. Larvae feed on fungi growing within the tunnels, and the beetle completes its development after about 29 days. Adults overwinter in the galleries and larval cradles.

Phytosanitary Significance: Dunnage and other solid wood packing material were implicated as probable pathways for the introduction of this eastern North American species into Washington (Anonymous, 2006). Under experimental conditions, the beetle was able to infest wood treated according to ISPM No. 15 guidelines (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Management: No information is available on control of the beetle.

* * * * * * * * * *

Xylotrechus longitarsus Casey

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: western Canada (British Columbia), western United States (California, Colorado) (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

Hosts: Pseudotsuga menziesii (Mirb.) Franco (Jackson and Bulaon, 2005).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Trees that are injured, dying, or dead tend to be most susceptible to attack by the beetle (McIntosh et al., 2001). Cerambycidae reduce the value of logs by producing large holes in the wood (Dodds et al., 2004).

Biology: No information is available on the biology of the species.

Phytosanitary Significance: The beetle has been found in Minnesota in barked logs of *Larix occidentalis* imported from the western United States (Morewood et al., 2002), indicating the facility with which it may be moved intracontinentally in articles of wood.

Management: Mechanical Control: Attack by wood borers (such as *X. longitarsus*) may be prevented by rapid utilization of wood, peeling, water sprinkling, or storage of logs in water or in compact decks with maximal shading (McIntosh et al., 2001). Mass-trapping has been proposed as a feasible means of suppressing populations of wood borers, such as *X. longitarsus* (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

* * * * * * * * * *

Xylotrechus nauticus (Mannerheim)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: predominantly western North America (British Columbia to California) (PSU, 2002), but the species also has been reported from Iowa (Ebeling, 1975).

Hosts: *Quercus*, *Arbutus*, *Eucalyptus*, *Prunus*, *Salix*, and *Juglans* spp. (Linsley and Macleod, 1942; Solomon, 1995).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Unhealthy trees seem preferentially to be attacked by *X. nauticus* (Solomon, 1995). Attack may result in extensive dieback in branches (Bennett and Shaw, 2008). The beetle is a common pest of Pacific madrone, *Arbutus menziesii* Pursh (Hagen, 1993), and of oaks (Solomon, 1995), causing extensive riddling of the wood. Eucalyptus logs cut for lumber have been destroyed (Furniss and Carolin, 1977). It commonly infests firewood (Solomon, 1995).

Biology: Adults emerge and fly from May to July (Swiecki and Bernhardt, 2006). Larvae bore into the inner bark, producing an engraved pattern in the sapwood, and tunnel within the heartwood (Hagen, 1993). There is one generation per year (Hagen, 1993).

Phytosanitary Significance: The species has been intercepted in California in firewood with an origin listed as Pennsylvania (data from CDFA), indicating its tendency to be moved interstate in articles of wood.

Management: Cultural Control: Alleviating stressful conditions in stands is recommended to maintain tree health and reduce incidence of attack by *X. nauticus* (Furniss and Carolin, 1977).

* * * * * * * * * *

Xylotrechus sagittatus (Germar)

Taxonomy: Coleoptera: Cerambycidae

Distribution: eastern Canada, northern and eastern United States, but also reported from Arizona and New Mexico (Baker, 1972; Hanula, 1996).

Hosts: Abies, Picea, and Pinus spp. (Baker, 1972).

Environmental/Economic Importance: *Xylotrechus sagittatus* generally breeds in dead conifers, and is particularly attracted to logs, slash, or standing trees killed by fire or bark beetles (Heikkenen et al., 1986). However, the beetle also will attack living trees under stress (Baker, 1972).

Biology: Little information on biology is available. After hatch, larvae feed first beneath the bark, then tunnel deeply into the heartwood (LaBonte et al., 2005).

Phytosanitary Significance: LaBonte et al. (2008) suggested that this eastern North American species was likely introduced into Oregon in solid wood packing material or other raw wood products.

Management: No information is available on management of the species.

Appendix C. Pathogens Associated with Firewood (fact sheets)

The following pathogens are native to or long-established in the United States and yet new records of damage or new geographic distributions are being reported. Based on their biology and host range, each species has the potential to be moved with unmitigated firewood.

Pathogen: *Fusarium circinatum* Nirenberg & O'Donnell Disease: Pitch Canker

Taxonomy: Ascomycetes: Hypocreales; Synonym: *Fusarium subglutinans* f.sp. *pini* Correll; Teleomorph: *Gibberella circinata* Nirenberg & O'Donnell; previously referred to as *Fusarium moniliforme* var. *subglutinans* Wollenw. & Reinking. (Gordon et al., 2001).

Distribution in the United States: In the United States, pitch canker is found in parts of California (3 distinct outbreaks) (Barnard and Blakeslee, 1980; Wikler et al., 2003b) and parts of the southeastern United States, where it is considered endemic (Enebak and Carey, 2003; Gordon et al., 2001; Storer et al., 1995; USFS, 2006). The U.S. Forest Service recently reported that pitch canker continues to spread and cause significant damage in southeast states such Georgia and Tennessee (Carlucci et al., 2007). Outside of the United States it is reported in Italy (Landeras et al., 2005), Spain (Gordon et al., 2001), Chile (Gordon et al., 2001), South Africa (Starkey et al., 2007), Haiti, Japan, and Mexico (Gordon, 2006).

Hosts: At least 51 species of pine (Gordon, 2006) as well as *Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Douglas-fir) (Enebak and Carey, 2003) are hosts. In the southeastern United States, *Pinus elliottii* (slash pine) is very susceptible (Wikler et al., 2003a). In California, most native pines are susceptible but infections on Monterey pine (*Pinus radiata*) are the most common (Wikler et al., 2003b) and at epidemic levels (Barnard and Blakeslee, 2006).

Environmental/Economic Importance: The pathogen can affect all life stages of susceptible pines (Barnard and Blakeslee, 1980; FDACS, 1983; Starkey et al., 2007) but infections are most common in trees 10 years or older (Storer et al., 1995). The pathogen causes losses due to tree mortality, reduction in lumber value from stem deformation, reduced growth, and seed contamination in seed orchards (Storer et al., 1995).

All commercially important native pine species in California are susceptible (Starkey et al., 2007). Monterey pine is used internationally as a plantation tree (Storer et al., 1995) and is widely planted in New Zealand, Australia, and Chile (Wikler et al., 2003b). Native populations of the Monterey pine are only found in five locations worldwide—two on islands off the coast of Baja California and three in mainland central California (Storer et al., 1995). The Monterey pine is considered one of the most important amenity trees in California (Worrall, 2007) and the loss of the native population would be the loss of an invaluable genetic resource (CFPC, 1994). The Christmas tree industry in California is affected because Monterey pine comprises 70% of - that market (Tompkins, 2005).

Douglas-fir is another significant commercial species in the western United States and nationally (Tompkins, 2005). It remains one of the most popular Christmas tree species (Tompkins, 2005). For a softwood species, the wood of Douglas-fir is one of the stronger woods and is widely used for structural purposes, including flooring, cabinetry, ladders, pallets, and boxes (Aegerter et al., 2003).

Currently, in the western United States, pitch canker is limited to the coastal areas of California; however, there are extensive native pine forests in Oregon, inland California, and Washington that include species susceptible to this disease (Gordon et al., 2001).

Biology/Behavior: The pathogen can be spread by wind and water to wounded hosts (Storer et al., 1995), by infested or infected seed (Wikler et al., 2003a), or by infested soil (FDACS, 1983). It can also be vectored by insects associated with the wood (Gordon et al., 2001). In California, the disease is vectored by four species of *Pityophthorus* [Coleoptera: Scoyltidae], *Conophthorus radiatae* [Coleoptera: Scolytidae], *Ernobius punctulatus* [Coleoptera: Anobiidae], (Gordon et al., 2001) and at least two species of *Ips* [Coleoptera: Scolytidae] (Wikler et al., 2003a);(FDACS, 1983). In Florida, the deodar weevil (*Pissodes nemorensis*) [Coleoptera: Curculionidae] is reported as a vector (Gordon, 2006).

The pathogen uses wounds caused by insect feeding, weather-related damage, or silvicultural practices to infect the host (Gordon et al., 2001). Cankers girdle trunks, exposed roots, or branches (Wikler et al., 2003a). Girdled branches will typically wilt and turn yellow and then red (Gordon et al., 2001). Multiple branch infections can lead to crown dieback and tree mortality (Wikler et al., 2003a). Infected trees are also more susceptible to further attack and damage by insects such as engraver beetles (Gordon, 2006).

Phytosanitary Significance: The first description of pitch canker in the United States was in 1946 by Hepting and Roth (Gordon, 2006). Until 1986, the reports of pitch canker were limited to the southeastern United States. In 1986, it was reported for the first time in California by McCain, Koehler, and Tjosvold (Gordon, 2006). Studies on the populations of the pathogen in California found them to be largely clonal and in three geographically separate areas of the state, suggesting a recent introduction with human-facilitated transport (Gordon, 2006). Molecular studies found two multilocus haplotypes shared between the populations in Florida and California, suggesting that Florida, or at least some part of the southeastern United States, was the source of the disease in California (Wikler et al., 2003a).

Asexual reproduction is the primary mode of reproduction for the fungus; however, some strains in California were found to have the ability to sexually reproduce (Wikler et al., 2003a). Sexual reproduction can result in the development of new strains that can overcome plant disease resistance. Researchers have already found that strains of the fungus in Mexico and Florida were able to infect a Monterey pine that is resistant to the eight most predominant strains of the fungus in California (Gordon et al., 2001). The domestic movement of these strains could result in increased damage to known hosts or new hosts.

Gordon et al. (1994) reported that untreated logs from infected trees could disseminate the pathogen. The pathogen is estimated to be able to survive in cut wood for a year or more

(Gordon et al., 2004). Debarking may help reduce pathogen presence; however, the California Pitch Canker Task Force recommends a fungicidal treatment to eliminate the pathogen from the surface of the logs (Storer et al., 1995).

Other phytosanitary considerations include the pathogen's ability to survive in and on pine seed (Wikler et al., 2003a), within soil, and the ability to incite cryptic infections on seedlings (Gordon et al., 2001).

Management: There are limited realistic options for managing this disease once older trees are infected, especially in the forest vs. urban landscape environment (Barnard and Blakeslee, 2006). Proven, cost-effective fungicidal controls are not available (Gordon et al., 2001). Strategies to limit the movement and handle infected materials properly as well as to replace diseased trees with those displaying some level of disease resistance are promoted (Wikler et al., 2003a). Researchers have identified some pitch canker resistant germplasm but due to sexual reproduction of the fungus, the longevity of this resistance could be short-lived (Gordon et al., 2001).

Unpublished research by McNee, Wood, Storer, and Gordon (n.d) suggests chipping branches of infected trees can greatly reduce insect populations but is not as effective on pathogens (Gordon et al., 2004). The pathogen is recoverable in chipped wood for over one year after the tree is cut (Gordon et al., 2001). Additional treatment of chipped wood or logs by either heat treatment or fumigation is recommended (Gordon et al., 2004). Research from the California Pitch Canker Task Force found that continuous exposure at or above 50° C (122° F) for ten days was an effective measure to treat infected chipped wood (Gordon, 2003).

California is currently attempting to limit the spread of the disease by restricting the transport of host material into and out-of infested areas with education and restrictions on the movement of Christmas trees, wood chips, and firewood (Farr et al., 2009; Owen, 2001).

* * * * * * * * * *

Pathogen: Ceratocystis fagacearum (T. W. Bretz) J. Hunt Disease: Oak Wilt

Taxonomy: Ascomycetes, Microascales; Synonym: *Endoconidiophora fagacearum* T.W. Bretz 1952; Anamorph: *Thielaviopsis quercina* (B.W. Henry) A.E. Paulin, T.C. Harr. & McNew; Synanamorph: *Chalara quercina* Henry (Hudler, 2008)

Distribution in the United States: Whether *C. fagacearum* is native to the United States is debatable (CABI, 2007; Juswik et al., 2008; McDonald et al., 1998); however, it is a long-established pathogen in the United States that continues to spread and move into new areas. Currently it is reported in the eastern United States (Gleason and Mueller, 2005). There are no reports of the disease west of the Rocky Mountains (Hudler, 2008). New reports in 2007 and 2008 include New York State (Kidd, 2008), and new areas of Michigan (DFMFM, 2007; TFS, 2007), and Texas (Haugen et al., 2007). In the north central region of the United States the

pathogen recently emerged as a serious threat to oaks and is expanding its distribution and impact (Appel et al., 2005).

Hosts: All *Quercus* spp. are to some degree susceptible (Appel et al., 2005; Farr et al., 2008; Gleason and Mueller, 2005). Red oaks such as *Q. buckleyi*, *Q. shumardii*, and *Q. marilandica* are very susceptible and may play a role in the establishment of new oak wilt infections (Appel, 2001). White oaks such as *Q. stellata*, *Q. macrocarpa*, and *Q. muehlenbergii* are considered more resistant than red oaks and may recover from infection with little crown loss (Appel et al., 2005). Live oaks are considered intermediate in their susceptibility to the oak wilt pathogen; however, due to their growth habit, the movement of the pathogen between adjacent trees is enhanced and the fungus is able to cause considerable damage (Appel et al., 2005). In central Texas, *C. fagacearum* occurs at epidemic levels on live oak trees (Appel et al., 2005).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Oak wilt is one of the most destructive tree diseases in the eastern United States (Hudler, 2008; O'Brien et al., 2000). On a susceptible red oak, tree death may occur in as little as three weeks (Nixon, 2007). Oaks are among the most economically important trees, providing high-quality timber, tannins for leather, firewood, dye, and food products (USFS, 2006). In Texas, live oak is a premier shade tree that is valued for its aesthetics and wildlife benefits (Billings, 2007). Up to 20% of the property value in cities like Austin or San Antonio may be attributed to the presence of live oak trees (Mehta et al., 2008).

An economic assessment was conducted on the impact of oak wilt on just one county in Minnesota (Mehta et al., 2008). The preliminary model developed by Mehta et al. estimated that if oak wilt is not managed "21,000 to 29,000 trees would die each year and approximately 20% of all oaks would be killed over the next 20 years" (Mehta et al., 2008). The removal of dead oaks from this area could incur damages of at least \$88.8 million in five years, \$111.1 million in 10 years, and \$143 million in 20 years. These damage estimates do not quantify losses such as the carbon sequestration, energy conservation, and wildlife resource that trees provide (Juswik et al., 2008).

Biology/Behavior: The fungus infects through fresh wounds or by root grafts connecting diseased trees to healthy trees (Gleason and Mueller, 2005; Pecknold, 2001). The fungus invades the xylem, leading to obstruction of water movement (Gleason and Mueller, 2005). This causes the foliage to wilt and die (Gleason and Mueller, 2005). Under appropriate environmental conditionals, dense fungal mats are produced under the bark of recently killed trees. These mats create pressure and break through the bark where they sporulate and emit a rotten melon-scented odor (Appel, 2001). This odor is attractive to nitidulids that visit the fungal mats as feeding and breeding sites (Appel, 2001). The sticky spores of the fungus adhere to the beetle, internally and externally, and can then be moved to the next host the insect visits (Gleason and Mueller, 2005). Recently made pruning wounds on oak are also attractive feeding sites for the beetle by serving as an entry point for the fungus (Rexrode and Brown, 1983). Oak bark beetles (*Pseudopityophihorus* spp.) [Coleoptera: Scolytidae] can also transmit the fungus (French and Juzwik, 1999) but do not play an important role in all parts of the United States (Appel, 2001).

Phytosanitary Significance: Fungal mats produced on the wood could move with firewood and be visited by vectors at the destination or vectors associated at the original site could move with

the firewood to the new location (Appel, 1994). The jump of the oak wilt pathogen from central Texas to west Texas has been attributed to insect transmission via mat-laden firewood moved from oak wilt areas to the east (Juzwick et al., 2008; TFS, 2007). Infested firewood is also implicated in the movement of *C. fagacearum* from Wisconsin to the south-central portion of Michigan's Upper Peninsula (Juzwick et al., 2008).

Ceratocystis fagacearum is considered adaptable enough to be a threat to oak forests in the western United States (Ward and Mistretta, 2007). As the fungus adapts to oaks in Texas there is concern it will spread throughout the southern range of oak (Appel, 1994). Inoculation studies have shown that several western red oak species are susceptible (Appel, 2001). The oak forests in California comprised of live and red oak are considered at risk from this pathogen (Tainter et al., 1984).

Tainter et al. (2000) found that *C. fagacearum* survived in air-dried lumber for 20 weeks and that lumber should be dried to a moisture content of 20% or less to devitalize *C. fagacearum*.

Management: Root trenching, pruning when vectors are inactive, removal of diseased trees, and management of firewood piles are all considered effective means to reduce the spread of the oak wilt pathogen (Appel et al., 2005). Fungicides are available as a preventative and possibly therapeutic measure but to due to high costs and risk associated with application their use is generally limited to high-value, specimen oaks (Farr et al., 2009; O'Brien et al., 2000).

* * * * * * * * * *

Pathogen: *Heterobasidion annosum* (Fr.) Bref. (North American Strains) Disease: Annosum Root Rot/Butt Rot

Taxonomy: Basidiomycetes: Russulales; Synonym: *Fomitopsis annosa* (Fr.: Fr.) P. Karst. 1881; *Fomes annosus* (Fr.: Fr.) Cooke 1885; Anamorph: *Spiniger meineckellus* (A. Olson) Stalpers (Linzer et al., 2008)

The species concept for *H. annosum* has recently changed. Intersterility groups and separate species are now reported that have unique host ranges and distributions (Ostry and Juzwik, 2008). In North America there are two reported intersterile strains of *H. annosum*, the P-type and S-type (Ostry and Juzwik, 2008).

Distribution in the United States: The P-type strain is found in the eastern states, Texas (Asiegbu et al., 2005) and west coast (Schmitt et al., 2000). The S-type strain is only found on the west coast (Ostry and Juzwik, 2008; Worrall, 2007).

Hosts: Conifers are considered the primary hosts. P-type strains damage *Pinus taeda* (loblolly pine), *P. resinosa* (red pine), and *P. elliottii* (slash pine); S-type strains are commonly reported on *Abies* (fir), *Picea* (spruce), *Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Douglas-fir), and *Tsuga* (hemlock) (Ward and Mistretta, 2007).

Environmental/Economic Importance: Plantation conifers are at a high level of risk from *H*. *annosum* due to susceptibilities from poor management practices or poor site selection (Ostry

and Juzwik, 2008). Although *H. annosum sensu lato* has been reported from North America for at least a century, reports of significant damage are more recent and in some areas have reached epidemic proportions (Ostry and Juzwik, 2008; Schmitt et al., 2000). As forest management practices change, the range and intensity of the disease is anticipated to increase due to prescribed burning and partial cutting (Schmitt et al., 2000).

Damage caused by *Heterobasidion annosum* includes root rot, butt rot, reduced growth and mortality (Asiegbu et al., 2005). The disease is regarded as one of the most economically important forest pathogens in temperate, northern hemisphere forests (Cram, 2003).

In the southern United States, the occurrence of the disease is often correlated to recent thinnings in tree plantations (Cram, 2003; USFS, 2006). In 2006, *H. annosum* caused the greatest amount of disease-related mortality of pines in Georgia, and in South Carolina the pathogen caused financial losses close to \$2 million (USFW, 2006). Damage to conifers in recreational sites creates hazardous situations with trees that become susceptible to wind fall (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005).

Biology/Behavior: The fungus infects hosts via basidiospores, mycelia, or conidia (Schmitt et al., 2000). Damage is often in the heartwood of species however for some hosts the fungus can attack living cells of the cambium and phloem (Schmitt et al., 2000). In fir trees, the fungus commonly moves from the inner sapwood to outer sapwood (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). Basidiospores can be wind blown to new hosts or moved through course soils with rainwater (Schmitt et al., 2000). Airborne basidiospores colonize stumps of recently cut trees or wounds on hosts at the exposed roots, butt, or upper bole (Kadlec et al., 1992). Conidia may be moved via insects or other small animals; however conidia of *H. annosum* were shown to survive passage through the alimentary canal of the large pine weevil (*Hylobius abietis* (L.) [Coleoptera: Curculionidae] (CABI, 2007). Larva of these types of insects tunnel into wood to feed (Lucas et al., 1992). The fungus can also form mycelial mats between the wood and bark of the infected host (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005).

Pathogen activity in stands is favored after second and subsequent thinnings due to production of spores and stump infections (Otrosina and Cobb, 1989). *Heterobasidion annosum* can spread via root to root contact and therefore infected stumps left after thinning can serve as inoculum for newly planted trees of the next stand (Greig and Pratt, 1976; Schmitt et al., 2000; Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). The pathogen can survive in stumps for decades (Demers et al., 2001; Piri, 1996). The pathogen is adapted to sandy soils with neutral to alkaline pH (Demers et al., 2001; Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). The pine plantations on sandy soils in north Florida are considered at high risk from this pathogen (Cram, 2003), however Eastern white pine is considered very susceptible to infection regardless of soil type (Kadlec et al., 1992).

Phytosanitary Significance: Because the fungus can live as a saprobe in host material for long periods, it is likely it would be able to survive in unmitigated firewood and be able to sporulate under moist conditions. Spores of the fungus may move on the exterior of certain insects associated with unmitigated firewood or be spread after passage through their bodies (Mireku and Simpson, 2002). Long-distance transport was documented by Australian researchers when *H. annosum* was found in green lumber shipments from northwestern North America (Gonthier

et al., 2004). The presence of *H. annosum* in an isolated region of Italy is attributed to the movement of unprocessed wood into the area for military purposes (Gonthier et al., 2004; Linzer et al., 2008). This particular region was sealed off from the public for centuries and contains only native plants, removing the possibility of introduction from exotic plantings (Gonthier et al., 2004; Linzer et al., 2008). Comparative molecular work suggests there was a significant lag time from the period of introduction to noticeable mortality of stone pines (*Pinus pinea*) (Cram, 2003).

Management: Proper site selection, as well as consistent and properly timed management practices is recommended (Demers et al., 2001; Schmitt et al., 2000). In some situations, chemical treatment of stumps from recently felled trees is recommended to prevent infection and further spread of the disease (Castlebury et al., 2006).

* * * * * * * * * *

Pathogen: Neonectria faginata (Lohman, Watson & Ayers) Castl. & Rossman Disease: Beech Bark Disease

Taxonomy: Ascomycetes: Hypocreales; also caused by *Neonectria ditissima* (Tul. & C. Tul.) Samuels & Rossman (syn. *N. galligena*) (Houston and O'Brien, 1983); (McCullough et al., 2001) and potentially a third species (*Nectria ochroleuca* (Schwein) Berk.) (Rossman et al., 1999)

Fungal species associated beech bark disease were transferred from the genus *Nectria* to *Neonectria* Wollenw. (Castlebury et al., 2006). Castlebury et al. (2006) re-described *Neonectria coccinea* (Pers.: Fr.) Rossman & Samuels var. *faginata* (Lohman et al.) as *Neonectria faginata* (Lohman et al.) Castl. & Rossman *comb. nov.* and *stat. nov* that only occurs on beech in North America, while the European species, *Neonectria coccinea* (Pers.: Fr.) Samuels & Rossman, only occurs on beech in Europe. Castlebury et al. (1994) also synonymized *Neonectria galligena* (Bres.) Rossman & Samuels, a species generally accepted as native to North America (Castlebury et al., 2006; MacKenzie and Iskra, 2005; Mahoney et al., 1999; O'Brien et al., 2001; Plante et al., 2002), with *Neonectria ditissima* (Tul. & C. Tul.) Samuels & Rossman. *Neonectria ditissima* appears to have North America and European populations (MacKenzie and Iskra, 2005).

Distribution in the United States: The disease was reported in the United States in the early 1900s and new reports of its movement in the United States are still surfacing (O'Brien et al., 2001; USDAFS, 2005). The disease is reported in Michigan, Virginia, West Virginia, Pennsylvania, New York, Massachusetts, Connecticut, Vermont, New Hampshire, Maine, New Jersey, North Carolina, Tennessee, and Ohio (Houston and O'Brien, 1983).



Figure 14. U.S. distribution of beech bark disease constituents in 2005 (USDA Forest Service, 2005).

Hosts: Fagus grandifolia (Griffin et al., 2003)

Environmental/Economic Importance: Beech bark disease is a significant and ongoing threat to U.S. American beech trees, and its damage will have lasting effects on the forest composition of affected areas (Depolo, 2008). Beech trees play an important role in forest ecosystems as the beech nuts are staple source of nutrition for many animals (McCullough et al., 2001). Beech trees are an important source of "mast" because they provide food and habitat for more than 40 species of birds and mammals (WDNR, 2007). Beech wood is also used for timber and the trees have ornamental value in parks and landscape plantings (Depolo, 2008).

In Michigan alone, 75 million beech trees larger than 10 inches diameter are considered at risk from beech bark disease (McCullough et al., 2001). In the initial phases of infection in Pennsylvania, 50 percent of the trees larger than 10 inches in diameter were killed. The other trees were severely compromised or somewhat resistant (McCullough et al., 2001). Other insects and pathogens may invade the weakened trees and the trees are easily broken by high winds (McCullough et al., 2001). In Maine, most of the older beech trees have been killed and those that survive are compromised and of low timber value (McCullough et al., 2001). Trees that survive or regenerate after the initial wave of disease may be colonized by a second scale insect, *Xylococculus betulae* (Perg.) Morrison whose feeding can cause bark swelling and fissures easily colonized by another generation of scales (Houston, 1994; Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). Regenerated stands can also cause a shift in forest species composition. Excessive root sprouting from trees killed by the pathogen can lead to dense thickets of deformed beech trees that exclude other species and lead to long-term beech bark susceptibility of the stand (Depolo, 2008; McCullough et al., 2001).

Biology/Behavior: The pathogen is associated with the introduced beech scale (*Cryptococcus fagisuga* Lind.) [Hemiptera: Eriococcidae], a minute scale easily moved by wind or on animals (Depolo, 2008; Houston and O'Brien, 1983). Scales are protected by a white wooly waxy layer that is noticeable when scales are in mass (Houston and O'Brien, 1983). All scales are female and reproduction is parthenogenic (Depolo, 2008). Feeding by the scales makes the tree susceptible to infection by the *Nectria* fungus (Depolo, 2008). The fungus infects the inner bark of the host into the sapwood and can eventually girdle the tree (Houston and O'Brien, 1983). Sexual reproductive structures mature in the fall and continue to produce viable spores into the next year (Houston and O'Brien, 1983). Asexual spores can be found mid-summer until fall and are easily moved by wind (Houston, 1997).

There are two distinct phases of the disease. The first involves the epidemic build up of the scale and fungus called the killing front, and the second phase involves the effects of the complex on successionary trees emerging after the killing front (Farr et al., 2009).

Two North American species are associated with the disease in the United States, *Neonectria faginata* and *N. ditissima* (syn. *N. galligena*) (Houston and O'Brien, 1983; MacKenzie and Iskra, 2005). *Neonectria ditissima* is generally accepted as a native species and is typically associated with the killing front of the disease rather than the introduced species *N. faginata* (MacKenzie and Iskra, 2005); O'Brien et al., 2001). However, recently *N. galligena* (*N. faginata*) was found associated with a killing front of American beech in Ohio (Michigan, 2005).

Phytosanitary Significance: Movement of beech bark disease in parts of Michigan is believed to be from the movement of infected firewood/human activity (Houston, 1994; O'Brien et al., 2001). Movement of the scale in parts of Michigan, West Virginia, and Ohio were all around campgrounds or scenic areas (McCullough et al., 2001; ODNRDF, 1998). Beech wood is considered excellent firewood (MacKenzie and Iskra, 2005). In some cases, the scale is reported present for many years prior to introduction of the disease or disease development (USDAFS, 2005; WDNR, 2007). The native range of beech extends along the eastern seaboard to the southern border of the United States including parts of Louisiana and Mississippi (Liebhold et al., 2002). The majority of this large range is not yet affected but it is anticipated that the impacts of the disease will increase in the future (Depolo, 2008).

Management: Approximately 1% of American beech trees in the northeastern United States are considered resistant to this disease (Houston, 1994; McCullough et al., 2001). Retaining resistant trees and removing susceptible species is encouraged (Depolo, 2008). For small infestations on high value trees, scrubbing the exterior of the trees to rid them of the scales or application of insecticides is recommended (Houston, 1994; Houston and O'Brien, 1983). Management of the scale is critical as heavy scale infestations will allow a rapid spread of the pathogen (Hessburg and Hansen, 2000).

* * * * * * * * * *

Pathogen: *Leptographium wageneri* (Kendr.) Wingf. Disease: Black Stain Root Disease **Taxonomy:** Ascomycetes: Ophiostomatales. There are three fungal taxa associated with black stain disease:

- L. wageneri var. ponderosum (Harr. & Cobb) Harr and Cobb
- L. wageneri var. pseudotsugae Harr. & Cobb
- L. wageneri var. wageneri (Kendr.) Wingf.

Distribution in the United States: All three fungal taxa are in the United States west of Rocky Mountains (Jacobs and Wingfield, 2001; Sinclair and Lyon, 2005)

Hosts:

- L. wageneri var. ponderosum infects Pinus ponderosa Dougl. ex P.& C. Laws., P. jeffreyi Grev. & Balf., and P. contorta Dougl. ex Loud.
- L. wageneri var. pseudotsugae infects Pseudotsuga menziesii (Mirbel) Franco
- *L. wageneri* var. *wageneri* mainly infects *Pinus monophylla* Torr. & Frem., *P. edulis* Engelm., as well as other coniferous hosts (Jacobs and Wingfield, 2001; Schweigkofler et al., 2005)

Other host records compiled by Jacobs and Wingfield (2005) for *L. wageneri* (encompassing all varieties) included: *Abies grandis, Larix occidentalis, Picea engelmannii, P. glauca, Pinus aristata, P. attenuata, P. lambertiana, P. monticola, P. strobus, P. sylvestris, Tsuga heterophylla, and T. mertensiana.*

Environmental/Economic Importance: Black stain is a debilitating and usually lethal disease of important conifer species in the United States (Ayer et al., 1989). Metabolites of *L. wageneri* cause water inhibition in pine seedlings (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). It is found in a wide range of elevations and habitats (Schweigkofler et al., 2005).

Biology/Behavior: There are differences in the epidemiology and biology of the three host specific varieties, and not all are well understood (Schweigkofler et al., 2005). Black stain is a vascular wilt growing mainly in the root and 3-4 m above the crown. The disease is vectored by root feeding beetles, although the exact identity of the major species involved in disease spread are unknown on the West Coast (Jacobs and Wingfield, 2001). Jacobs and Wingfield (2001) compiled a list of insects reported with *L. wageneri*; species included were *Dendroctonus brevicomis*, *D. ponderosae*, *D. valens*, *Hylastes macer*, *H. nigrinus*, *Hylurgops porosus* [Coleoptera: Scolytidae], *Ips latidens*, *I. mexicanus*, *Pissodes fasciatus*, and *Steremnius carinatus* [Coleoptera: Curculionidae].

Causal fungi are restricted to the tracheids of the host and do not colonize ray parenchyma like other fungi that cause stain in conifer sapwood. This results in a longitudinal "streaking" pattern on infected logs and not the typical pie-shaped stain seen with other species (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). Fungi sporulate in beetle galleries or other wounded tissue of the host (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). Conidia are 4-8 x1-3 µm, sticky, and produced in minute droplets (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). Sticky conidia adhere to the beetle's exterior and are transferred to new hosts visited by the beetle (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). The vectors initiate new disease foci (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). Conidia may also be moved via rain splash (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005).

Phytosanitary Significance: Because the pathogen is found in a wide range of elevations and habitats (NRCS, 2009) it has the potential to establish in other parts of the United States. The host range includes species present on the East coast (Eglitis, 2001). The association of this fungus with diverse taxa of bark beetles and weevils increases the likelihood of movement in firewood.

The introduced bark beetle, *Hylurgus ligniperda* Fabricius [Coleoptera: Scolytidae], is considered a potential vector of *L. wageneri* (Cavey et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2007a). It was first detected in the United States in New York in 2000 (USDA, 2000). In 2003, it was detected in California (Liu et al., 2007). In other countries, this beetle is an efficient vector of other *Leptographium* species and therefore there is concern it will associate with *L. wageneri* and become a more efficient vector than the native vectors (Cavey et al., 2002). The beetle could spread the pathogen to new areas, or cause greater levels of disease where the pathogen is known to occur. The global spread of this beetle is attributed to trade involving wood products (PestID, 2009). Between 1985 and 2009, the beetle was intercepted approximately 300 times at U.S. ports of entry (Eglitis, 2001). *Hylurgus ligniperda* is considered readily transported on cut logs and wood packing material (EPPO, 2004) and therefore is likely to move in firewood.

Management: Few control options are available for black stain. Management is limited to cultural practices and sanitation (Farr et al., 2009).

* * * * * * * * * *

Pathogen: Gremmeniella abietina var. abietina (Lagerb.) M. Morelet Disease: Scleroderris Canker

Taxonomy: Ascomycetes: Helotiales; Anamorph: *Brunchorstia pinea* (P. Karst.) Höhn. (EPPO, 2004)

This species is indigenous to Europe but is long established in North America (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005; Skilling et al., 1986). There are three races of *G. abietina* var. *abietina:* the North American race, the European race, and the Asian race (Skilling et al., 1986). Evidence indicates the North American race has been in the United States since at least 1950 (Hamelin et al., 1998). The European race was first reported in the United States in 1975 (Hamelin et al., 2000).

Distribution in the United States: Both races are only found in the northeastern United States; however, the European race is not as widely distributed as the North American race (Skilling et al., 2004). The European race is limited to New York, Vermont, New Hampshire, and Maine (Skilling et al., 2004). The North American race can be found in the lakes states and New England (Hamelin and Rail, 1997).

Hosts: The North American race occurs on *P. banksiana* Lamb. (jack pine), *P. contorta* Douglas & Loud. (lodgepole pine) (Skilling et al., 2004) and *P. sylvestris* (Scots pine) (NRCS, 2009). Jack pine is considered a threatened or endangered species in some northeastern states (Skilling et al., 2004). In Canada, *P. monticola* (Western white pine), *Picea glauca* (white spruce) and *Picea mariana* (black spruce) are also infected (Hamelin and Rail, 1997).

The European race occurs on several *Pinus* and *Larix* species (NRC, 2009), in particular *P. strobus* (Eastern white pine), *P. banksiana* (jack pine), and *P. resinosa* (red pine) (Skilling et al., 2004). It also infects *Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Douglas fir) and most species of *Abies* (fir), *Picea* (spruce), and *Tsuga* (hemlock) (Hamelin and Rail, 1997).

Environmental/Economic Importance: The North American race causes cankers in areas with heavy snowfall (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005) and generally only affects seedlings and trees up to 2 m tall (CABI, 2005). If the young trees do survive, they are stunted or deformed thereby reducing log quality (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). The European race differs from the North American race in that it causes dieback and canker on trees of all sizes (Hamelin and Rail, 1997). The European race is capable of infecting the entire crown of the tree and killing mature trees over a few years (Hamelin et al., 2000; NRC, 2009; Skilling et al., 1986). When first discovered in New York, the mortality in 30-40 year red pine stands was more than 90% (CABI, 2005). *Gremmeniella abietina* is considered a threat to *Picea* and *Pinus* forests in North America particularly if they are planted at high density and a low diversity of other species (NRC, 2009).

Biology/Behavior: Infection begins at the needles and moves to the shoots (NRC, 2009). Infected shoots and buds turn a greenish-yellow color and die off (NRC, 2009; Skilling et al., 2004). Cankers may form when the infection reaches the trunk (Skilling et al., 2004).

The causal fungus is spread by airborne or rain-splashed spores and infected trees may not show symptoms until the following year (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005). Scleroderris canker is very cold tolerant and is promoted with snowy winters (CABI, 2005). Continued cool, wet conditions in spring and summer favor large-scale outbreaks of the disease (NRC, 2009; Sinclair and Lyon, 2005).

Phytosanitary Significance: *Gremmeniella abietina* is primarily a concern with the movement of nursery stock however the European race is also able to infect mature trees. Trunk cankers can form on the bark (Yakota, 1975) and therefore could be associated with wood utilized for firewood. This pathogen is also known to be able to infect and remain latent in host tissues and therefore would be difficult to detect (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005).

In the United States, the European race is more aggressive than the North American race and has a wider host range (Ostry and Juzwik, 2008); however, damage from the European race is no longer causing epidemics documented in the early 1970s (Ostry and Juzwik, 2008). This is believed to be from certain climatic factors at the time and cultural practices now in place (Hamelin et al., 2000). Movement of the fungus via firewood could distribute the pathogen to high hazard areas.

The European race and North American race of *G. abietina* are not distinguishable morphologically and the fungus can remain latent in host tissues (Hamelin et al., 2000; Skilling et al., 2004). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) can be used to differentiate the races and detect latent infections (Sinclair and Lyon, 2005).

Management: Planting resistant species (Skilling et al., 2004) and preventative fungicide applications in nursery situations are recommended .

Appendix D. Literature Cited

- 7 CFR § 301.92. 2010. U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 7, Part 301, Subpart 92 (7 CFR § 301.92-1 Domestic Quarantine Notices, *Phytophthora ramorum*, Definitions).
- Aegerter, B. J., T. R. Gordon, A. J. Storer, and D. L. Wood. 2003. Pitch Canker: A Technical Review Publication 21616. University of California, Agriculture and Natural Resources. 13 pp.
- Ak, K., M. Uysal, and C. Tuncer. 2005. Giresun, Ordu ve Samsun illerindeki findik bahçelerinde zarar yapan yaziciböcek (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) türleri kisa biyolojileri ve bulunuş oranlari. Ondokuz Mayis Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakultesi Dergisi 20(2):37-44.
- Alamouti, S. M., J. J. Kim, and C. Breuil. 2006. A new *Leptographium* species associated with the northern spruce engraver, *Ips pertubatus*, in western Canada. Mycologia 98(1):149-160.
- Alamouti, S. M., J. J. Kim, L. M. Humble, A. Uzunovic, and C. Breuil. 2007. Ophiostomatoid fungi associated with the northern spruce engraver, *Ips perturbatus*, in western Canada. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 91:19-34.
- Alexander, K. 2003. Changing distributions of Cantharidae and Buprestidae within Great Britain (Coleoptera). Pages 87-91 *in* M. Reemer, P. J. v. Helsdingen, and R. M. J. C. Kleukers, (eds.). Changes in Ranges: Invertebrates on the Move. European Invertebrate Survey, Leiden, Netherlands.
- Allen, E. A., and L. M. Humble. 2002. Nonindigenous species introductions: a threat to Canada's forest and forest economy. Proceedings from the Importation of Wood and Wood Products Impact on Quarantines and New Pest Introductions, Victoria, British Columbia, June 2000. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 24:103-110.
- Anonymous. 1972. Insects not known to occur in the United States: a bark beetle (Tomicus piniperda [Linnaeus]). USDA-ARS Plant Pest Control Division Cooperative Economic Insect Report 22:234-236.
- Anonymous. 1994. Beetlemania on Wall Street. Pages p. 16 *in* New York Times Magazine, May 15, 1994.
- Anonymous. 2005. Sirex noctilio is a savvy traveler. American Nurseryman 201(8):10.
- Anonymous. 2006. Examination of Phytosanitary Issues Related to Bark on Wood Packaging Material and ISPM 15 Treatments. International Forest Quarantine Research Group Meeting, Rome.
- Anonymous. 2007. Sirex woodwasp found in Michigan. American Nurseryman 206(6):9.
- Anonymous. 2008. The invertebrate fauna of wood-decay. Woodland Trust, Lincolnshire, U.K. Last accessed February 2009, http://www.woodland-trust.org.uk/ancient-tree-forum/atfecology/invertebrate.htm.
- Anonymous. 2009. Walnut twig beetle and thousand cankers disease of black walnut. USDA Forest Service.
- Anulewicz, A. C., D. G. McCullough, D. L. Cappaert, and T. M. Poland. 2008. Host range of the emerald ash borer (*Agrilus planipennis* Fairmaire) (Coleoptera: Buprestidae) in North America: results of multiple-choice field experiments. Environmental Entomology 37(1):230-241.
- APHIS. 2007. Asian longhorned beetle: questions and answers. USDA Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service.

- Appel, D. N. 1994. Identification and Control of Oak Wilt in Texas Urban Forests. Journal of Arboriculture. 20(5):250-258.
- Appel, D. N. 2001. The basics of oak wilt biology and factors influencing disease incidence and severity. Pages 71-81 in C. Ash, (ed.). Shade Tree Wilt Diseases; Proceedings from Wilt Diseases of Shade Trees: A National Conference, August 25-28, 1999. APS Press, St. Paul, MN.
- Appel, D. N., R. S. Cameron, A. D. Wilson, and J. D. Johnson. 2005. How to Identify and Manage Oak Wilt in Texas. USDA, Forest Service, South Research Station, New Orleans, LA. 4 pp.
- Asiegbu, F. O., A. Adomas, and J. Stenlid. 2005. Conifer root and butt rot caused by *Heterobasidion annosum* (Fr.) Bref. *s.l.* Molecular Plant Pathology 6(4):395-409.
- Ayer, W. A., L. M. Browne, and G. Lin. 1989. Metabolites of *Leptographium wageneri*, the causal agent of black stain root disease of conifers. Journal of Natural Products 52(1):119-129.
- Baker, W. L. 1972. Eastern forest insects (1175).
- Barak, A. V., Y. Wang, L. Xu, Z. Rong, X. Hang, and G. Zhan. 2005. Methyl bromide as a quarantine treatment for *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) in regulated wood packing material. Journal of Economic Entomology 98(6):1911-1916.
- Barak, A. V., Y. Wang, G. Zhan, Y. Wu, L. Xu, and Q. Huang. 2006. Sulfuryl fluoride as a quarantine treatment for *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) in regulated wood packing material. Journal of Economic Entomology 99(5):1628-1635.
- Barnard, E. L., and G. M. Blakeslee. 1980. Pitch Canker of Slash Pine Seedlings: A New Disease in Forest Tree Nurseries. Plant Disease 64:695-696.
- Barnard, E. L., and G. M. Blakeslee. 2006. Pitch Canker of Southern Pines. Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, Division of Plant Industry. 1-4 pp.
- Batra, L. R. 1963. Ecology of ambrosia fungi and their dissemination by beetles. Transactions of the Kansas Academy of Science 66(2):213-236.
- Bennett, M., and D. Shaw. 2008. Diseases and insect pests of Pacific madrone. Oregon State University Extension Service Forest Health Fact Sheet, EC 1619-E.
- Bennett, V. A., T. Sformo, K. Walters, O. Toien, K. Jeannet, R. Hochstrasser, Q. Pan, A. S. Serianni, B. M. Barnes, and J. G. Duman. 2005. Comparative overwintering physiology of Alaska and Indiana populations of the beetle *Cucujus clavipes* (Fabricius): roles of antifreeze proteins, polyols, dehydration and diapause. Journal of Experimental Biology 208(23):4467-4477.
- Bentley, W. J., L. G. Varela, F. G. Zalom, R. J. Smith, A. H. Purcell, P. A. Phillips, D. R. Haviland, K. M. Daane, M. C. Battany, W. D. Gubler, J. J. Stapleton, G. M. Leavitt, B. B. Westerdahl, K. J. Hembree, C. A. Ingels, and W. T. Lanini. 2006. UC IPM pest management guidelines: Grape. University of California Agriculture and Natural Resources Publication, No. 3448 (3448).
- Beutel, R. G., and T. Hörnschemeyer. 2002. Larval morphology and phylogenetic position of *Micromalthus debilis* LeConte (Coleoptera: Micromalthidae). Systematic Entomology 27(2):169-190.
- Billings, R. F. 2007. Partnerships and Cooperation Combat Oak Wilt in Texas. Texas Forest Service.
- Bílý, S. 1982. The Buprestidae (Coleoptera) of Fennoscandia and Denmark. Scandinavian Science Press Ltd., Klampenborg, Denmark.

- Bleiker, K. P., and A. Uzunovic. 2004. Fast- and slow-growing subalpine fir produce lesions of different sizes in response to inoculation with a blue-stain fungus associated with *Dryocoetes confusus* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Canadian Journal of Botany 82(6):735– 741.
- Bowers, W. W., J. H. Borden, and A. Raske. 1996a. Incidence and impact of *Polygraphus rufipennis* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) in Newfoundland. Forest Ecology and Management 89(1-3):173-187.
- Bowers, W. W., J. H. Borden, and A. G. Raske. 1996b. Bionomics of the four-eyed spruce bark beetle, *Polygraphus rufipennis* (Kirby) (Col., Scolytidae) in Newfoundland. II. Host colonization sequence. Journal of Applied Entomology 120(8):449-461. [CAB Abstracts]
- Brockerhoff, E. G., M. Knížek, and J. Bain. 2003. Checklist of indigenous and adventive bark and ambrosia beetles (Curculionidae: Scolytinae and Platypodinae) of New Zealand and interceptions of exotic species (1952-2000). New Zealand Entomologist 26:29-44.
- Buck, J. 2008. Responsibilities, regulations & risks. APHIS Cooperative EAB Project. Presented at the Northeastern Area, State & Private Forestry, Proceedings of Firewood Forum 2008, Frelinghuysen Arboretum, New Jersey, April 15, 2008.
- Butler, B. J. 2008. Family forest owners of the United States- 2006. A technical document supporting the forest service 2010 RPA assessment:79 pp.
- CABI. 2005. Forestry Compendium. Wallingford, U.K.: CAB International. http://www.cabicompendium.org/fc/home.asp. (Archived at PERAL).
- CABI. 2007. Crop Protection Compendium. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau International (CABI), Wallingford, UK.
- CABI/EPPO. 1997a. Data sheets on quarantine pests: *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus*. Pages 581-592 *in* I. M. Smith, D. G. McNamara, P. R. Scott, and M. Holderness, (eds.). Quarantine Pests for Europe (2nd). CAB International, Wallingford, U.K.
- CABI/EPPO. 1997b. Data sheets on quarantine pests: *Dendroctonus ponderosae*. Pages 217-222 *in* I. M. Smith, D. G. McNamara, P. R. Scott, and M. Holderness, (eds.). Quarantine Pests for Europe (2nd). CAB International, Wallingford, U.K.
- CABI/EPPO. 1997c. Data sheets on quarantine pests: *Dryocoetes confusus*. Pages 242-244 in I.M. Smith, D. G. McNamara, P. R. Scott, and M. Holderness, (eds.). Quarantine Pests for Europe (2nd). CAB International, Wallingford, U.K.
- Cal, F. J. S. M. D. l. 2008. Insectos perjudiciales. Last accessed http://agriculturacanaria.com/perjudiciales.htm
- Camilli, K. 2009. Goldspotted oak borer: Agrilus coxalis Waterhouse.
- Campbell, F., and N. Tisserat. 2008. Twig beetle and black walnut disease; Pests in significant area, but in a small fraction of total potential range. The Global Invasive Species Team, The Nature Conservancy. Last accessed February 2009, http://tncinvasives.ucdavis.edu/products/gallery/pitju1.html.
- Čapek, M. 1986. The braconids (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) as parasitoids of oak bark-mining and wood-boring insects - carriers of tracheomycoses. Biológia. Séria B (Zoológia) 41(6):535-542. [CAB Abstracts]
- Capelouto, R. 1949. Notes on the Florida Buprestidae (Coleoptera). Florida Entomologist 32(3):109-114.
- Carlucci, A., L. Colatruglio, and S. Frisullo. 2007. First Report of Pitch Canker caused *Fusarium circinatum* on *Pinus halepensis* and *P. pinea* in Apulia (Southern Italy). Plant Disease 91(12):1683.

- Castello, J. D., D. J. Leopold, and P. J. Smallidge. 1995. Pathogens, Patterns, and Processes in the Forest Ecosystems. BioScience 45(1):16-24.
- Castlebury, L. A., A. Y. Rossman, and A. S. Hyten. 2006. Phylogenetic relationships of *Neonectria/Cylindrocarpon* on *Fagus* in North America. Canadian Journal of Botany 84(9):1417-1433.
- Cavey, J. F., S. Passoa, and E. R. Hoebeke. 2002. Pest Alert: New Introduction: The Red-haired Bark Beetle, *Hylurgus ligniperda* Fabricius (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) (NA-PR-03-02). U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, Northeastern Area.
- CDFA. 2009. Interception data. California Department of Food and Agriculture.
- CFPC. 1994. 'Grinch' fungus threatens Christmas trees. California Forest Pest Council, Pitch Canker Task Force. Last accessed August, 2008, http://frap.cdf.ca.gov/pitch_canker/research/grinch_fungus.html.
- Chaloux, P. 2008. Personal communication: Email from Paul Chaloux, APHIS PPQ, to Dan Borchert, CPHST PERAL, on 4/21/2008.
- Chen, P., N. Zhou, T. Zhao, G. Hu, Z. Feng, and L. Li. 2004. Relationship between stand status of Pinus yunnanensis and damage of Tomicus piniperda. Journal of Northeast Forestry University 32:13-15. [CAB Abstracts].
- Christie, F. J., and D. F. Hochuli. 2005. Elevated levels of herbivory in urban landscapes: are declines in tree health more than an edge effect? Ecology and Society 10:10 pp.
- Chung, W. H., J. J. Kim, Y. Yamaoka, A. Uzunovic, H. Masuya, and C. Breuil. 2006. *Ophiostoma breviusculum* sp. nov. (Ophiostomatales, Ascomycota) is a new species in the *Ophiostoma piceae* complex associated with bark beetles infesting larch in Japan. Mycologia 98(5):801-814.
- Cibrián Tovar, D., J.T. Méndez Montiel, R. Campos Bolaños, H.O. Yates III, and J.E. Flores Lara. 1995. Insectos Forestales de México. Universidad Autónoma Chapingo, Chapingo, México.
- Ciesla, W. M. 1992. Introduction of bark beetles and wood borers into China in coniferous logs from North America. FAO Plant Protection Bulletin 40(4):154-158. [CAB Abstracts]
- Ciesla, W. M. 2003. European woodwasp: a potential threat to North America's conifer forests. Journal of Forestry 101(2):18-23.
- Clark, B. 2010. New pathogens discovered in the US. Oregon Department of Agriculture.
- Claudi, R. 2002. Environmental and Economic Costs of Alien Invasive Species in Canada. RNT Consulting Inc., Picton, ON.
- Cognato, A. 2004. *Xyleborus xylographus* (Say) 1826 (*Bostrichus*). Department of Entomology. Texas A&M University. Last accessed August 2008, http://xyleborini.tamu.edu/query.php?tax_id=1680.
- Coleman, T. W., and S. J. Seybold. 2008a. New pest in California: the goldspotted oak borer, Agrilus coxalis Waterhouse.
- Coleman, T. W., and S. J. Seybold. 2008b. Previously unrecorded damage to oak, Quercus spp., in southern California by the goldspotted oak borer, Agrilus coxalis Waterhouse (Coleoptera: Buprestidae). Pan-Pacific Entomologist 84:288-300.
- Colorado State FS. 2008. Colorado's Primary Forest Insect and Diseases in 2007 (December 30, 2008). Colorado State Forest Service.
- Contarini, M., K. S. Onufrieva, K. W. Thorpe, K. F. Raffa, and P. C. Tobin. 2009. Mate-finding failure as an important cause of Allee effects along the leading edge of an invading insect population. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata 133:307–314.

- Cooley, R. R. 2008. EAB Bristol blitz pictures. Personal communication: Email from Ralph Cooley, TN SPHD, to Jamie Perrie, APHIS PPQ ER on 2/1/2010; forwarded to Leslie Newton, PPQ CPHST PERAL on 2/2/2010.
- Craighead, F. C. 1950. Insect enemies of eastern forests.
- Craighead, F. C., and G. Hofer. 1921. Protection of mesquite cordwood and posts from borers.
- Cram, M. 2003. Annosum Root Rot, Bugwood Factsheets. Last accessed www.bugwood.org/factsheet/98-031.html.
- Cranshaw, W., D. Leatherman, and B. Kondratieff. 1994. Insects that feed on Colorado trees and shrubs.
- Cranshaw, W., and N. Tisserat. 2008. Walnut twig beetle and thousand cankers disease of black walnut.
- Cregg, B. M., and M. E. Dix. 2001. Tree moisture stress and insect damage in urban areas in relation to heat island effects. Journal of Arboriculture 27(1): January 2001 21:10.
- CSU. 2008. PEST ALERT: Walnut Twig Beetle and Thousand Cankers Disease of Black Walnut. Colorado State University.
- Czokajlo, D., R. A. Wink, J. C. Warren, and S. A. Teale. 1997. Growth reduction of Scots pine, Pinus sylvestris, caused by the larger pine shoot beetle, Tomicus piniperda (Coleoptera, Scolytidae), in New York State. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 27:1394-1397.
- Dale, V. H., L.A. Joyce, S. McNulty, R.P. Neilson, M.P. Ayres, M.D. Flannigan, P.J. Hanson, L.C. Irland, A.E. Lugo, C.J. Peterson, D. Simberloff, F.J. Swanson, B.J. Stocks, and B. M. Wotton. 2001. Climate Change and Forest Disturbances. BioScience 51(9):723-734.
- Demers, C., A. Long, T. Groh, and C. McKelvy (eds.). 2001. Annosum Root Rot, The Florida Forest Stewart, Vol. 8, No. 2. University of Florida; Florida Cooperative Extension Service; Florida Division of Forestry.
- Depolo, J. 2008. Forest Crusaders Work to Foil Invaders. Futures, Invasive Species in Michigan: Controlling the Known and Identifying the Unknown Summer 2008. Last accessed February 25, 2009,

http://www.maes.msu.edu/publications/futures/summer2008/forestinvasive.pdf.

- Deyrup, M. 1978. Impact of bark and ambrosia beetles (Scolytidae) on Indiana hardwoods. Pages 140-149 in P. E. Pope, (ed.). Proceedings of the Central Hardwood Forest Conference II, Purdue University.
- DFMFM. 2007. Michigan Forest Health Highlight. Michigan Department of Natural Resources, Department of Forest, Mineral, and Fire Mangement.
- Dodds, K. J., R. R. Cooke, and D. W. Gilmore. 2007. Silvicultural options to reduce pine susceptibility to attack by a newly detected invasive species, *Sirex noctilio*. Northern Journal of Applied Forestry 24(3):165-167.
- Dodds, K. J., D. W. Gilmore, and S. J. Seybold. 2004. Ecological risk assessments for insect species emerged from western larch imported to northern Minnesota (174).
- Donahue, C., A. Kanoti, and B. Ostrofsky. 2007. Forest & shade tree insect & disease conditions for Maine: a summary of the 2006 situation.
- Dorsey, C. K., and J. G. Leach. 1956. The bionomics of certain insects associated with oak wilt with particular reference to the Nitidulidae. Journal of Economic Entomology 49(2):219-230.
- Dreistadt, S. H., D. L. Dahlsten, and T. D. Paine. 2004. Pest notes: bark beetles.

Dubois, T., A. E. Hajek, J. Hu, and Z. Li. 2004a. Evaluating the efficiency of entomopathogenic fungi against the Asian longhorned beetle, *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae), by using cages in the field. Environmental Entomology 33(1):62-74.

- Dubois, T., Z. Li, J. Hu, and A. E. Hajek. 2004b. Efficacy of fiber bands impregnated with *Beauveria brongniartii* cultures against the Asian longhorned beetle, *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae). Biological Control 31(3):320-328.
- Durden, C. 1999. Learn About Texas Insects. Texas Parks and Wildlife Press, Austin.
- Ebeling, W. 1975. Urban Entomology. University of California Division of Agricultural Sciences, [s.l.].
- Eckardt, M. A., and D. D. Kane. 2008. Potential changes in the forest community structure of the Lake Erie islands due to the invasion of the emerald ash borer (*Agrilus planipennis*) [abstract]. Ohio Journal of Science 108(1):A-10.
- Eckhardt, L. G., R.A. Goyer, K.D. Klepzig, and J. P. Jones. 2004. Interactions of *Hylastes* species (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) with *Leptographium* species Associated with Loblolly Pine Decline. Journal of Economic Entomology 97(2):468-474.
- Eglitis, A. 2001. Pest Reports Exotic Forest Pest Information System for North America: *Hylurgus ligniperda*. North American Forest Commission Exotic Forest Pest Information System.
- Eklund, S., and E. Larsson. 2004. Inventory report on insects depending on logs of *Pinus* sylvestris, S:t Anna, Östergötland, Sweden. University of Linköping.
- Ellis, J. 2008. Firewood initiative of the Continental Dialogue on Non-Native Forest Insects and Diseases. Proceedings of the 2008 Firewood Forum, Northeastern Area, State and Private Forestry (Available at: http://na.fs.fed.us/firewood/proceedings/08/proceedings08.shtm).
- emeraldashborer. 2010. www.emeraldashborer.info. Michigan State University, Brighton. Last accessed May 20, http://www.emeraldashborer.info.
- Enebak, S. A., and W. A. Carey. 2003. Pitch Canker caused by *Fusarium circinatum* Identified on Spruce Pine in Alabama. Plant Disease 87(4):449.
- EPA. 2009. Strategies for reducing residential wood smoke. EPA Document #EPA-456/B-09-001, Air Quality Planning Division, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, NC.
- EPPO. 2004. Datasheets on Quarantine Pests: *Ophiostoma wageneri*. European Plant Protection Organization. Last accessed February 27, 2009, http://www.eppo.org/QUARANTINE/fungi/Ophiostoma_wageneri/LEPGWA_ds.pdf.
- EPPO. 2005. Data sheets on quarantine pests: *Agrilus planipennis*. EPPO Bulletin 35(3):436-438.
- EPPO. 2006. Distribution Maps of Quarantine Pests for Europe: *Anoplophora glabripennis*. European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization, Paris.
- EPPO. 2007a. Data sheets on quarantine pests: *Anoplophora glabripennis*. European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization, Paris.
- EPPO. 2007b. EPPO A1 List of Pests Recommended for Regulation. European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization, Paris. Last accessed August 2008, http://www.eppo.org/QUARANTINE/listA1.htm.
- Erbilgin, N., S. R. Mori, J. H. Sun, J. D. Stein, D. R. Owen, L. D. Merrill, R. C. Bolaños, K. F. Raffa, T. M. Montiel, D. L. Wood, and N. E. Gillette. 2007. Response to host volatiles by native and introduced populations of *Dendroctonus valens* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae, Scolytinae) in North America and China. Journal of Chemical Ecology 33(1):131–146.

- Erbilgin, N., G. Ritokova, T. R. Gordon, D. L. Wood, and A. J. Storer. 2008. Temporal variation in contamination of pine engraver beetles with *Fusarium circinatum* in native Monterey pine forests in California. Plant Pathology. Last accessed June 2008, ERN 10.1111/j.1365-3059.2008.01887.x.
- Evans, A. V., and J. N. Hogue. 2006. Field Guide to Beetles of California. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- Evans, E. A. 2005. Florida avocado production and profitability analysis.
- Evans, H. F., L. G. Moraal, and J. A. Pajares. 2004. Biology, ecology and economic importance of Buprestidae and Cerambycidae. Pages 447-474 *in* F. Lieutier, K. R. Day, A. Battisti, J.-C. Grégoire, and H. F. Evans, (eds.). Bark and Wood Boring Insects in Living Trees in Europe, a Synthesis. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherlands.
- Fallon, D. J., L. F. Solter, M. Keena, M. McManus, J. R. Cate, and L. M. Hanks. 2004. Susceptibility of Asian longhorned beetle, *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Motchulsky) (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) to entomopathogenic nematodes. Biological Control 30(2):430–438.
- Farr, D. F., A. Y. Rossman, M. E. Palm, and E. B. McCray. 2008. Fungal Databases. United States Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, Systematic Mycology and Microbiology Laboratory. http://nt.ars-grin.gov/fungaldatabases/. (Archived at PERAL).
- Farr, D. F., A. Y. Rossman, M. E. Palm, and E. B. McCray. 2009. Fungal Databases. United States Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, Systematic Mycology and Microbiology Laboratory. http://nt.ars-grin.gov/fungaldatabases/. (Archived at PERAL).
- FDACS. 1983. Diseases of Conifer Stem, Pitch Canker. *in* Forest Health, Insects and Diseases Publication, Bulletin No. 196-A. Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, Division of Forestry.
- FDACS. 2008. Laurel Wilt. *in* Forest and Shade Tree Pests, Leaflet No. 13. Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, Division of Forestry.
- Fernández-Arhex, V., and J. C. Corley. 2005. The functional response of *Ibalia leucospoides* (Hymenoptera: Ibaliidae), a parasitoid of *Sirex noctilio* (Hymenoptera: Siricidae). Biocontrol Science and Technology 15(2):207-212.
- Finnegan, R. J., and C. Gagnon. 1964. *Xyloterinus politus* (Say), another possible vector of the Dutch elm disease. Canadian Department of Forestry Bi-Monthly Progress Report 20(6):2-3. [CAB Abstract Archives]
- Fischer, M. 1954. Investigations on *Xyleborus xylographus*. Pflanzenschutzberichte 12(9-12):137-180. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Fraedrich, S. W., T. C. Harrington, and R. J. Rabaglia. 2007. Laurel wilt: a new and devastating disease of redbay caused by a fungal symbiont of the exotic redbay ambrosia beetle. Newsletter of the Michigan Entomological Society 52:15-16.
- Fraedrich, S. W., T. C. Harrington, R. J. Rabaglia, M. D. Ulyshen, A. E. M. Iii, J. L. Hanula, J. M. Eickwort, and D. R. Miller. 2008. A fungal symbiont of the redbay ambrosia beetle causes a lethal wilt in redbay and other Lauraceae in the southeastern United States. Plant Disease 92:215-224.
- Frank, D. L., and R. F. M. Iii. 2006. Native and exotic insect borers are important crop pests in the U.S.

- French, D. W., and J. Juzwik. 1999. Oak Wilt in Minnesota. University of Minnesota Extension and College of Natural Resources.
- Furniss, R. L., and V. M. Carolin. 1977. Western forest insects. Misc. Publ. 1339. Personal communication to on from

Garbutt, R. 1992. Western balsam bark beetle.

- Garcia, C. M., and J. J. Morrell. 1999. Fungal associates of *Buprestis aurulenta* in western Oregon. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29(4):517-520.
- Gardner, W. E. 1997. Producing firewood from your woodlot. Woodland Owner Notes, North Carolina Cooperative Extension Service.
- Garnett, R. T. 1918. Notes on the genus *Buprestis*, Linne, in California. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 11(1):90-92. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Geis, K.-U. 1996. Unbemerkte Einbürgerung und Ausbreitung des nordamerikanischen Grubenhalsigen Splintholzkäfers, *Lyctus cavicollis* LeConte, in Mitteleuropa, nebst Anmerkungen zur möglichen Einschleppung zweier anderer nearktischer Lyctiden (Coleoptera, Lyctidae). Anzeiger für Schädlingskunde Pflanzenschutz Umweltschutz 69(2):31-39.
- Geis, K. U. 1997. North American sapwood beetle conquers new territory. Holz-Zentralblatt 123(106):1518. [CAB Abstracts]
- Gellermann, M., and M. Schreiber. 2007. Schutz wildlebender Tiere und Pflanzen in staatlichen Planungs- und Zulassungsverfahren: Leitfaden für die Praxis. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Gibbs, J. N., and A. Inman. 1991. The pine shoot beetle Tomicus piniperda as a vector of blue stain fungi to windblown pine. Forestry 64:239-249.
- Gleason, M., and D. Mueller. 2005. Oak Wilt Identification and Mangement. USDA Forest Service, Iowa State University, University Extension.
- Goldberg, N., and J. Heine. 2009. A comparison of arborescent vegetation pre- (1983) and post-(2008) outbreak of the invasive species the Asian ambrosia beetle Xyleborus glabratus in a Florida maritime hammock. Plant Ecology & Diversity 2:77-83.
- Gonthier, P., R. Warner, G. Nicolotti, A. Mazzaglia, and M. M. Garbelotto. 2004. Mycological Research News: Pathogen introduction as a collateral effect of military action. Mycologcal. Research 108(5):467-470.
- Gordon, T. 2003. State Task Force Gives Guidelines for Christmas Tree Purchases and Disposal to Protect California Pines. *in* California Pitch Canker Task Force, ed. California Forest Pest Council.
- Gordon, T. R. 2006. Pitch Canker Disease of Pines. Phytopathology 96(6):657-659.
- Gordon, T. R., A. J. Storer, and D. L. Wood. 2001. The Pitch Canker Epidemic in California. Plant Disease 85(11):1128-1139.
- Gordon, T. R., D. L. Wood, and A. J. Storer. 2004. Summary of current research on pitch canker at the University of California, Research and Reports of the Pitch Canker Task Force.
- Grainger, S. A., P. J. Fetherston, J. Geden, A. Guthrie, M. Claussen, and K. Alexander. 2008.
 Letter to the Boulder Colorado Mayor McGrath and City Council: Information Item:
 2008 Tree Removals due to the Thousand Cankers Disease of Walnut Trees, Boulder, CO.
- Graves, A. D., T. W. Coleman, M. L. Flint, and S. J. Seybold. 2009. Walnut twig beetle and thousand cankers disease: field identification guide. UC-IPM Website Publication.
- Greig, B. J. W., and J. E. Pratt. 1976. Some observations on the longevity of *Fomes annosus* in conifer stumps. European Journal of Forest Pathology 6(4):250-253.

- Griffin, J. M., G.M. Lovett, M.A. Arthur, and K. C. Weathers. 2003. The distribution and severity of beech bark disease in the Catskill Mountains, N.Y. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 33:1754-1760.
- GusEv, V. I. 1941. Insect pests of walnut on the Black-Sea coast of the Caucasus. Bulletin of Plant Protection 1940(5):57-61. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Gutowski, J. M. 1988. Buprestidae little known insects of our forests. Las Polski (5):9-11. [CAB Abstracts]
- Haack, R. A., E. Jendek, H. Liu, K. R. Marchant, T. R. Petrice, T. M. Poland, and H. Ye. 2002. The emerald ash borer: a new exotic pest in North America. Newsletter of the Michigan Entomological Society 47(3/4):1-5.
- Haack, R. A., T. R. Petrice, and A. C. Wiedenhoeft. 2010. Incidence of Live Bark- and Wood-Boring Insects in Firewood: A Survey at Michigan's 10 Mackinac Bridge. J. Econ. Entomol in press.
- Haberkern, K. E., B. L. Illman, and K. F. Raffa. 2002. Bark beetles and fungal associates colonizing white spruce in the Great Lakes region. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32(7):1137-1150.
- Hagen, B. W. 1993. Common pests of California oaks.
- Halbert, S. E. 2000. Entomology section: food or crop plants. Last accessed http://www.doacs.state.fl.us/pi/enpp/00-sep-oct.html
- Hall, D. W., and J. F. Butler. 2007. Palamedes swallowtail, Papilio palamedes (Drury) (Insecta: Lepidoptera: Papilionidae).
- Hall, R. W. 1984. Effectiveness of insecticides for protecting ponderosa pines from attack by red turpentine beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Journal of Economic Entomology 77(2):446-448.
- Hamelin, R. C., M. Bourassa, J. Rail, and M. Dusabenyagasani. 2000. PCR detection of *Gremmeniella abietina*, the causal agent of Scleroderris on pine. Mycological Research 104(5):527-532.
- Hamelin, R. C., N. Lecours, and G. Laflamme. 1998. Molecular Evidence of Distinct Introductions of the European Race of *Gremmeniella abietina* into North America. Phytopathology 88(6):582-588.
- Hamelin, R. C., and J. Rail. 1997. Phylogeny of *Gremmeniella* spp. based on sequences of the 5.8S rDNA and internal transcribed spacer region. Canadian Journal of Botany 75:693-698.
- Hammond, H. E. J., D. W. Langor, and J. R. Spence. 2001. Early colonization of *Populus* wood by saproxylic beetles (Coleoptera). Canadian Journal of Forest Research 31(7):1175-1183.
- Hansen, E. M. 1996. Western balsam bark beetle, *Dryocoetes confusus* Swaine, flight periodicity in northern Utah. Great Basin Naturalist 56(4):348-359.
- Hanula, J. L. 1996. Relationship of wood-feeding insects and coarse woody debris. Pages 55-81 in J. W. McMinn and D. A. Crossley, Jr., (eds.). Biodiversity and Coarse Woody Debris in Southern Forests.
- Hanula, J. L., A. E. Mayfield Iii, S. W. Fraedrich, and R. J. Rabaglia. 2008. Biology and host associations of redbay ambrosia beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae), exotic vector of laurel wilt killing redbay trees in the southeastern United States. Journal of Economic Entomology 101:1276-1286.

- Hanula, J. L., and B. Sullivan. 2008. Manuka oil and phoebe oil are attractive baits for Xyleborus glabratus (Coleoptera: Scolytinae), the vector of laurel wilt. Environmental Entomology 37:1403-1409.
- Harrell, M. 2006. Imidacloprid concentrations in green ash (*Fraxinus pennsylvanica*) following treatments with two trunk-injection methods. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry 32(3):126-129.
- Harrington, T. C., S. W. Fraedrich, and D. N. Aghayeva. 2008. *Raffaelea lauricola*, a new ambrosia beetle symbiont and pathogen on the *Lauraceae*. Mycotaxon 104:399-404.
- Harrington, T. C., and M. J. Wingfield. 2000. Diseases and the Ecology of Indigenous and Exotic Pines. *in* D. M. Richardson, (ed.). Ecology and Biogeography of *Pinus*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Hasey, J. 2009. Thousand cankers disease and walnut twig beetle update.
- Haugen, D. A., R. A. Bedding, M. G. Underdown, and F. G. Neumann. 1990. National strategy for control of *Sirex noctilio* in Australia. Australian Forest Grower 13(2 Special Liftout Section No. 13).
- Haugen, D. A., and E. R. Hoebeke. 2005. Sirex woodwasp—*Sirex noctilio* F. (Hymenoptera: Siricidae), USDA Forest Service Pest Alert NA-PR-07-05.
- Haugen, L., J. O'Brien, J. Pokorny, M. Mielke, and J. Juzwik. 2007. Oak Wilt in the North Central Region. R. F. Billings and D. N. Appel, (eds.). National Oak Wilt Symposium. International Society of Arboriculture - Texas Chapter, Austin, TX.
- Hausner, G., G.G. Eyjólfsdóttir, and J. Reid. 2003. Three new species of *Ophiostoma* and notes on *Cornuvesica falcata*. Canadian Journal of Botany 81:40-48.
- Hausner, G., M. Iranpour, J.-J. Kim, C. Breuil, C.N. Davis, E.A. Gibb, J. Reid, P.C. Loewen, and A. A. Hopkin. 2005. Fungi vectored by the introduced bark beetle *Tomicus piniperda* in Ontario, Canada, and comments on the taxonomy of *Leptographium lundbergii*, *Leptographium terebrantis*, *Leptographium truncatum*, and *Leptographium wingfieldii*. Canadian Journal of Botany 83(10):1222-1237.
- Hedin, J., G. Isacsson, M. Jonsell, and A. Komonen. 2008. Forest fuel piles as ecological traps for saproxylic beetles in oak. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 23(4):348-357.
- Heikkenen, H. J., S. E. Scheckler, P. J. J. Egan, Jr., and C. B. Williams, Jr. 1986. Incomplete abscission of needle clusters and resin release from artificially water-stressed loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*): a component for plant-animal interactions. American Journal of Botany 73(10):1384-1392.
- Herms, D. A., A. K. Stone, and J. A. Chatfield. 2004. Emerald ash borer: the beginning of the end of ash in North America? Pages 62-71 *in* J. A. Chatfield, E. A. Draper, H. M. Mathers, P. J. Bennett, D. E. Dyke, and J. F. Boggs, (eds.). Ornamental Plants: Annual Reports and Research Reviews, 2003. Ohio State University Special Circular No. 193.
- Hessburg, P. F., and E. M. Hansen. 2000. Infection of Douglas-fir by *Leptographium wageneri*. Canadian Journal of Botany (78):1254-1261.
- Hilchie, G. J. 2003. Species Page Chrysobothris trinervia. Last accessed www.entomology.ualberta.ca/searching_species_details.php?s=3028
- Hobson, K. R., and D. E. Bright. 1994. A key to the *Xyleborus* of California, with faunal comments (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Pan-Pacific Entomologist 70(4):267-268. [CAB Abstracts]
- Hodges, C. 2007. Chronology of the Disposition of the Fungi Formerly Identified as *Ceratocystis fimbriata* (unpublished).

- Hoebeke, E. R., D. A. Haugen, and R. A. Haack. 2005. *Sirex noctilio*: discovery of a Palearctic siricid woodwasp in New York. Newsletter of the Michigan Entomological Society 50(1/2):24-25.
- Hoheisel, G. 2008. Fungus New to Washington Is Killing Walnut Trees. Plant Management Network International.
- Holsten, E. H., R. A. Werner, and T. H. Laurent. 1980. Insects and diseases of Alaskan forests.
- Hopkins, J. D., T. Walkingstick, and J. L. Wallace. 2008. Invasive woodwasp, *Sirex noctilio*: a potential pest of pines in Arkansas, University of Arkansas Agriculture and Natural Resources Publication No. FSA7071 (FSA7071).
- Hornby, P. L. 2010. Firewood rule. Personal communication: Email from Paul Hornby, FL SPHD, to Leslie Newton, PPQ CPHST PERAL, on 3/30/2010.
- Horntvedt, R., E. Christiansen, H. Solheim, and S. Wang. 1983. Artificial inoculation with *Ips typographus*-associated blue-stain fungi can kill healthy Norway spruce trees. Reports for the Norwegian Forest Research Institute 38(4):1-21.
- Houck, J. E., P. E. Tiegs, R. C. McCrillis, C. Keithley, and J. Crouch. 1998. Air emissions from residential heating: The wood heating option put into environmental perspective. The Proceedings of a U.S. EPA and Air Waste Management Association Conference: Emission Inventory: Living in a Global Environment 1:373-384.
- Houston, D. R. 1994. Major new tree disease epidemics: Beech Bark Disease. Annual Review of Phytopathology 32:75-87.
- Houston, D. R. 1997. Beech Bark Disease. K. O. Britton, (ed.). Exotic Pests of Eastern Forests. USDA Forest Service and Tennessee Exotic Pest Plant Council, Nashville, TN.
- Houston, D. R., and J. T. O'Brien. 1983. Beech Bark Disease. *in* Forest Insect and Disease Leaflet 75. U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service.
- Hudler, G. W. 2008. OAK WILT A new threat to forest and landscape trees in New York State. Cornell University Cooperative Extension Albany County, Voorheesville, NY. 8 pp.
- Humphreys, N., and E. Allen. 1998. The pine shoot beetle.
- Hurley, B. P., B. Slippers, and M. J. Wingfield. 2007. A comparison of control results for the alien invasive woodwasp, *Sirex noctilio*, in the southern hemisphere. Agricultural and Forest Entomology 9(3):159-171.
- IAPSC. 1999. 'Pests' of Quarantine Importance in Africa: List A2: Pests of Limited Distribution in Africa. Inter-African Phytosanitary Council, Yaounde, Cameroon.
- Imoff, M. L., L. Bounoua, T. Ricketts, C. Loucks, R. Harris, and W. T. Lawrence. 2004. Global patterns in human consumption of net primary production. Nature 429(24 June):870-873.
- Ismail, R., O. Mutanga, F. Ahmed, and L. Kumar. 2007. Predicting the potential distribution of *Sirex noctilio* infestations in Kwazulu-Natal, South Africa: comparisons between classification trees and random forest classifiers.2007 Asian Conference on Remote Sensing Proceedings, Section TS33.5.
- ISSG. 2007. Sirex noctilio (insect). Global Invasive Species Database. International Union for Conservation of Nature Invasive Species Specialist Group. http://www.issg.org/database/species/ecology.asp?si=1211&fr=1&sts=&lang=EN. (Archived at PERAL).
- Iverson, L., A. Prasad, and S. Matthews. 2008. Modeling potential climate change impacts on the trees of the northeastern Untied States. Mitig Adapt Strat. Glob Change 13:487-526.

- Jackson, M., and B. Bulaon. 2005. Changes in fire-killed western larch on the Glacier View Ranger District (Flathead National Forest), Montana: years two, three, and four report (05-06).
- Jacobi, W. 2007. Pathways and risk assessment of emerald ash borer movement into and within the western United States. United States Forest Service and Colorado State University.
- Jacobi, W., C. Cleaver, B. Goodrich, and J. Hardin. 2009. Firewood as a potential pathway for exotics in the Southern Rocky Mountains. 5th meeting of the Continental Dialogue on Non-Native Forest Insects and Diseases, October 27-28, 2009, San Francisco, CA.
- Jacobi, W., C. Cleaver, B. Goodrich, and J. Hardin. 2010a. Firewood as a potential pathway for exotics in the southern Rocky Mountains. Presentation to the Department of Soil and Crop Science, Colorado State University, March 2010.
- Jacobi, W. R., C. M. Cleaver, and B. A. Goodrich. 2010b. Personal communication: Information from Bill Jacobi, Colorado State University, to Leslie Newton, PERAL, on 4/12/2010.
- Jacobs, K., D.R. Bergdahl, M.J. Wingfield, S. Halik, K.A. Seifert, D.E. Bright, and B. D. Wingfield. 2004. *Leptographium wingfieldii* introduced into North America and found associated with exotic *Tomicus piniperda* and native bark beetles. Mycological Research 108(4):411-418.
- Jacobs, K., and M. J. Wingfield. 2001. *Leptographium* Species: Tree Pathogens, Insect Associates, and Agents of Blue-Stain. APS Press, St. Paul, MN. 207 pp.
- Jankowiak, R. 2006. Fungi associated with Tomicus piniperda in Poland and assessment of their virulence using Scots pine seedlings. Annals of Forest Science 63:801-808.
- Jankowiak, R., and P. Bilański. 2007. Fungal flora associated with Tomicus piniperda L. in an area close to a timber yard in southern Poland. Journal of Applied Entomology 131:579-584.
- Jarratt, J. H. 2001. Pest-management principles: industrial, institutional, and structural pest control, category 7-A.
- Johnson, J. A., T.C. Harrington, and C. J. B. Engelbrecht. 2005. Phylogeny and taxonomy of the North American clade of the *Ceratocystis fimbriata* complex. Mycologia 97(5):1067-1092.
- Jones, J. T. 2010. Firewood interception data. Personal communication: Email from Tyrone Jones, APHIS PIM, to Leslie Newton, PPQ CPHST PERAL, on 3/9/2010.
- Juswik, J., T. C. Harrington, W. L. MacDonald, and D. N. Appel. 2008. The Origin of *Ceratocystis fagacearum*, the Oak Wilt Fungus. Annual Review of Phytopathology 46:13-26.
- Juzwik, J., L. Haugen, J-H. Park, and M. Moore. 2008. Fungi Associated with Stem Cankers and Coincidental Scolytid Beetles on Declining Hickory in the Upper Midwest. Pages 476-482 in D. F. Jacobs and C. H. Michler, (eds.). 16th Central Hardwood Forest Conference. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station, West Lafayette, IN.
- Kadlec, Z., P. Stary, and V. Zumr. 1992. Field evidence for the large pine weevil, *Hylobius abietis*, as a vector of *Heterobasidion annosum*. European Journal of Forest Pathology 22(5):316-318.
- KDA. 2007. Firewood survey methods and results. Kansas Department of Agriculture.
- Kennedy, A. A., and D. G. McCullough. 2002. Phenology of the larger European pine shoot beetle *Tomicus piniperda* (L.) (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) in relation to native bark beetles and natural enemies in pine stands. Environmental Entomology 31(2):261-272.

- Kidd, R. 2008. New Oak Wilt cases on the rise. Pages 2 *in* Grand Traverse Herald, Traverse City, MI.
- Kim, J. J., Y.W. Lim, C. Breuil, M.J. Wingfield, X.D. Zhou, and G. H. Kim. 2004. A new *Leptographium* species associated with *Tomicus piniperda* infesting pine logs in Korea. Mycological Research 109(3):275-284.
- Kimoto, T., and M. Duthie-Holt. 2006. Exotic Forest Insect Guidebook. Canadian Food Inspection Agency.
- Klepzig, K. D., E. B. Smalley, and K. F. Raffa. 1995. *Dendroctonus valens* and *Hylastes porculus* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae): vectors of pathogenic fungi (Ophiostomatales) associated with red pine decline disease. Great Lakes Entomologist 28(1):81-87. [CAB Abstracts]
- Koch, F. H., and W. D. Smith. 2008. Spatio-temporal analysis of Xyleborus glabratus (Coleoptera: Circulionidae [sic]: Scolytinae) invasion in eastern U.S. forests. Environmental Entomology 37:442-452.
- Koehler, K. 2009. European oak borer (EOB), *Agrilus sulcicollis* Lacordaire, 1835 first report from Canada. North American Plant Protection Organization. Last accessed February 2009, http://www.pestalert.org/oprDetail.cfm?oprID=362.
- König, J. 1996. Situation und Ursachenanalyse der Eichenschäden in Sachsen. Pages 24-31 *in* A.Wulf and R. Kehr, (eds.). Eichensterben in Deutschland: Situation, Ursachenforschung und Bewertung. Parey, Berlin.
- Kovacs, K. F., R. G. Haight, D. G. McCullough, R. J. Mercader, N. W. Siegert, and A. M. Liebhold. 2009. Cost of potential emerald ash borer damage in U.S. communities, 2009– 2019. Ecological Economics.
- Kubán, V. 2004. *Agrilus sulcicollis* Boisduval & Lacordaire 1835. Last accessed March 2009, http://www.faunaeur.org/full_results.php?id=102342.
- Kuhne, H., and G. Becker. 1976. Zur Biologie und Ökologie von *Micromalthus debilis* LeConte (Col., Micromalthidae). Beihefte zu Material und Organismen (3):447-461. [CAB Abstracts]
- Kukal, O., and J. G. Duman. 1989. Switch in the overwintering strategy of two insect species and latitudinal differences in cold hardiness. Canadian Journal of Zoology 67(4):825-827.
- LaBonte, J. R., A. D. Mudge, and K. J. R. Johnson. 2005. Nonindigenous woodboring Coleoptera (Cerambycidae, Curculionidae: Scolytinae) new to Oregon and Washington, 1999-2002: consequences of the intracontinental movement of raw wood products and solid wood packing materials. Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington 107(3):554-564.
- Landeras, E., P. Garcia, Y. Fernandez, M. Brana, O. Fernandez-Alonso, S. Mendez-Lodos, A. Perez-Sierra, M. Leon, P. Abad-Campos, M. Berbegal, R. Beltran, J. Garcia-Jimenez, and J. Armegol. 2005. Outbreak of Pitch Canker Caused by *Fusarium circinatum* on *Pinus* spp. in Northern Spain. Plant Disease 89(9):1015.
- Langor, D. W. 1994. Western ash bark beetle.
- Langor, D. W., and C. R. Hergert. 1993. Life history, behaviour, and mortality of the western ash bark beetle, *Hylesinus californicus* (Swaine) (Coleoptera: Scolytidae), in southern Alberta. Canadian Entomologist 125(5):801-814.
- Lawrence, J. F. 1991. Micromalthidae (Archostemata). Pages 300-302 *in* F. W. Stehr, (ed.). Immature Insects. Kendall/Hunt Publishing Co, Dubuque, IA.

- Lee, S., J.J. Kim, and C. Breuil. 2005. *Leptographium longiclavatum* sp. nov., a new species associated with the mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus ponderosae*. Mycological Research 109(10):1162-1170.
- Lee, S., J.J. Kim, and C. Breuil. 2006. Pathogenicity of *Leptographium longiclavatum* associated with *Dendroctonus ponderosae* to *Pinus contorta*. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 36:2864-2872.
- Leech, H. B. 1944. The cerambycid beetle, *Phymatodes dimidiatus*, in cedar structural timbers. Canadian Entomologist 76(10):211.
- Lewis, R. 2008. USDA APHIS Forest Pest Budget Personal communication to L. Garrett on 11/30/2008, from Rick Lewis, APHIS PPQ
- Liebhold, A. M., W. L. Macdonald, D. Bergdahl, and V. C. Mastro. 1995. Invasion by exotic forest pests: a threat to forest ecosystems. Forest Science monographs 30:58.
- Liebhold, A. M., R. S. Morin, A. Lister, K. W. Gottschalk, E. Luzader, and D. Twardus. 2002. Mapping Forest Risk Associated with Beech Bark Disease. S. L. C. Fosbroke and K. W. Gottschalk, (eds.). U.S. Department of Agriculture Interagency Research Forum on Gypsy Moth and Other Invasive Species. USDA, Annapolis, MD.
- Liebhold, A. M., and P. C. Tobin. 2008. Population ecology of insect invasions and their management. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 53:387-408.
- Lindgren, B. S., and J. H. Borden. 1993. Displacement and aggregation of mountain pine beetles, *Dendroctonus ponderosae* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae), in response to their antiaggregation and aggregation pheromones. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23(2):286-290.
- Lindhe, A., A. Lindelöw, and N. Åsenblad. 2005. Saproxylic beetles in standing dead wood density in relation to substrate sun-exposure and diameter. Biodiversity and Conservation 14(12):3033-3053.
- Lingafelter, S. W., and E. R. Hoebeke. 2002. Revision of Anoplophora (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae). Entomological Society of Washington D.C. :236 pp
- Linnakoski, R., Z.W. De Beer, M. Rousi, P. Niemelä, A. Pappinen, and M. J. Wingfield. 2008. Fungi including *Ophiostoma karelicum* sp. nov., associated with *Scolytus ratzeburgi* infesting birch in Finland and Russia. Mycological Research, doi: 10.1016./j.mycres.2008.06.007.
- Linsley, E. G. 1942. Attack of the lead cable borer on asphalt roofing material. Journal of Economic Entomology 35(3):452. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Linsley, E. G. 1943. Delayed emergence of *Buprestis aurulenta* from structural timbers. Journal of Economic Entomology 36(2):348-349.
- Linsley, E. G., and G. F. Macleod. 1942. Ambrosia beetles attacking deciduous fruit trees in California. Journal of Economic Entomology 35(4):601. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Linzer, R. E., W.J. Otrosina, P. Gonthier, J. Bruhn, G. Laflamme, G. Bussières, and M. Garbelotto. 2008. Inferences on the phylogeography of the fungal pathogen *Heterobasidion annosum*, including evidence of interspecific horizontal genetic transfer and of human-mediated, long-range dispersal. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 46:844-862.
- Liu, D., M. J. Bohne, J. C. Lee, M. L. Flint, R. L. Penrose, and S. J. Seybold. 2007a. Pest Alert: New Introduction in California: The Redhaired Pine Bark Beetle, *Hylurgus ligniperda* Fabricius (R5-PR-07). U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Region.

- Liu, H., and L. S. Bauer. 2006. Susceptibility of Agrilus planipennis (Coleoptera: Buprestidae) to Beauveria bassiana and Metarhizium anisopliae. Journal of Economic Entomology 99(4):1096-1103.
- Liu, H., and L. S. Bauer. 2008. Microbial control of emerald ash borer, *Agrilus planipennis* (Coleoptera: Buprestidae) with *Beauveria bassiana* strain GHA: greenhouse and field trials. Biological Control 45(1):124-132.
- Liu, H., L. S. Bauer, D. L. Miller, T. Zhao, R. Gao, L. Song, Q. Luan, R. Jin, and C. Gao. 2007b. Seasonal abundance of *Agrilus planipennis* (Coleoptera: Buprestidae) and its natural enemies *Oobius agrili* (Hymenoptera: Encyrtidae) and *Tetrastichus planipennisi* (Hymenoptera: Eulophidae) in China. Biological Control 42(1):61-71.
- LU. 2006. Museum of Zoology Collection of Insects. Lund University. http://130.235.149.100:591/ZML/Insekter/FMPro. (Archived at PERAL).
- Lu, Q., C. Decock, X.Y. Zhang, and H. Maraite. 2008. Leptographium sinoprocerum sp. nov., an undescribed species associated with *Pinus tabuliformis-Dendroctonus valens* in northern China. Mycologia 100(2):275-290.
- Lucas, G. B., C. L. Campbell, and L. T. Lucas. 1992. Introduction to Plant Diseases: Identification and Management (2). Springer. 364 pp.
- MacDonald, W. L. 2003. Dominating North American Forest Pathology Issues of the 20th Century. Phytopathology 93(8):1039-1040.
- MacFarlane, D. W., and S. P. Meyer. 2005. Characteristics and distribution of potential ash tree hosts for emerald ash borer. Forest Ecology and Management 213(1-3):15-24.
- MacKenzie, M., and J. Iskra. 2005. The first report of beech bark disease in Ohio comes nineteen years after the first report of the initiating scale. Plant Disease 89:203.
- MacLean, D. B., and R. L. Giese. 1967. The life history of the ambrosia beetle *Xyloterinus politus* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Canadian Entomologist 99(3):285-299.
- Magoun, A. J., and F. C. Dean. 2000. Floodplain forests along the Tanana River, interior Alaska: terrestrial ecosystem dynamics and management considerations (2000-3).
- Mahoney, E. M., M. G. Milgroom, W. A. Sinclair, and D. R. Houston. 1999. Origin, Genetic Diversity, and Population Structure of *Nectria coccinea* var. *faginata* in North America. Mycologia 91(4):583-592.
- Majernik, O. 1959. On the harmfulness of some bark-beetles on apricot. Zeitschrift für Angewandte Entomologie 45(2):198-203. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Majka, C. G., R. S. Anderson, and D. B. McCorquodale. 2007. The weevils (Coleoptera: Curculionoidea) of the Maritime Provinces of Canada, II: New records from Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island and regional zoogeography. Canadian Entomologist 139(3):397-442.
- Malloch, D., and M. Blackwell. 1993. Dispersal Biology of the Ophiostomatoid Fungi. Pages 195-206 in M. J. Wingfield, K. A. Seifert, and J. F. Webber, (eds.). *Ceratocystis* and *Ophiostoma*, Taxonomy, Ecology, and Pathogenicity. APS Press, St. Paul, MN.
- Marcoullier, D., and S. Anderson. n.d. Managing your woodlot for firewood. Oklahoma Cooperative Extension Service. Publication No. NREM-9439.
- Masuya, H., S. Kaneko, Y. Yamaoka, and M. Osawa. 1999. Comparisons of ophiostomatoid fungi associated with Tomicus piniperda and T. minor in Japanese red pine. Journal of Forest Research 4:131-135.
- Mathers, W. G. 1931. The biology of Canadian barkbeetles: the seasonal history of *Dryocoetes confusus* Sw. Canadian Entomologist 63(11):247-248.

- Mayfield, A. E., III, J. E. Peña, J. H. Crane, J. A. Smith, C. L. Branch, E. D. Ottoson, and M. Hughes. 2008a. Ability of the redbay ambrosia beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae) to bore into young avocado (Lauraceae) plants and transmit the laurel wilt pathogen (Raffaelea sp.). Florida Entomologist 91:485-487.
- Mayfield, A. E., III, J. A. Smith, M. Hughes, and T. J. Dreaden. 2008b. First report of laurel wilt disease caused by a Raffaelea sp. on avocado in Florida. Plant Disease 92:976.
- Mayfield, A. E., III, and M. C. Thomas. 2009a. The redbay ambrosia beetle, Xyleborus glabratus Eichhoff (Scolytinae: Curculionidae). Florida Department of Agriculture & Consumer Services, Division of Plant Industry. Last accessed internal-pdf://Mayfield & Thomas (2009a)-0591901696/Mayfield & Thomas (2009a).pdf
- http://www.doacs.state.fl.us/pi/enpp/ento/x.glabratus.html
- Mayfield, A. E., and M. C. Thomas. 2009b. The redbay ambrosia beetle found in Jackson County.
- McCullough, D. G., R. L. Heyd, and J. G. O'Brien. 2001. Biology and management of beech bark disease, MSU Ext. Bull. E-2746, East Lansing, MI.
- McCullough, D. G., and S. A. Katovich. 2004. Emerald ash borer, USDA Forest Service Pest Alert No. NA-PR-02-04 (NA-PR-02-04).
- McDonald, B. A., B. K. Bellamy, J. Zhan, and D. N. Appel. 1998. The effect of an oak wilt epidemic on the genetic structure of a Texas live oak population. Canadian Journal of Botany 76:1900-1907.
- McIntosh, R. L., P. J. Katinic, J. D. Allison, J. H. Borden, and D. L. Downey. 2001. Comparative efficacy of five types of trap for woodborers in the Cerambycidae, Buprestidae and Siricidae. Agricultural and Forest Entomology 3(2):113-120.
- McKnight, M. E., and D. G. Aarhus. 1973. Bark beetles, *Leperisinus californicus* and *L. criddlei* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae), attacking green ash in North Dakota. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 66(5):955-957.
- Mehta, S. V., T. Horie, D. J. Smith, R. C. Venette, R. G. Haight, F. R. Homans, and A. J. Walter. 2008. Economic impact assessment for oak wilt in Minnesota. 93rd Entomological Society of America Annual Meeting, Milwaukee, WI. August 3-8, 2008.
- Meyers, S. W., I. Fraser, and V. C. Mastro. 2009. Evaluation of heat treatment schedules for emerald ash borer (Coleoptera: Buprestidae). Journal of Economic Entomology 102(6):2048-2055.
- Michel, M. 1937. Sur quelques insectes qui vivent aux depens des "Sycomores " des avenues de Moulins. Revue Scientifique du Bourbonnais et du Centre de la France 1937:24-28. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Michigan. 2005. Transporting Firewood Harms Campground Forests. Michigan State Goverment. Last accessed February 25, 2009, www.michigan.gov/printerFriendly/0,1687,7-153-10365-95931--,00.html.
- Mireku, E., and J. A. Simpson. 2002. Fungal and nematode threats to Australian forests and amenity trees from importation of wood and wood products. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 24:117-124.
- Moore, B. A. 2005. Alien Invasive Species: Impacts on Forests and Forestry. Last accessed December 30, 2008, http://www.fao.org/docrep/008/j6854e/J6854E00.HTM.
- Moraal, L. G. 1999. Insectenplagen op bomen en struiken in 1998: in bossen, natuurgebieden en wegbeplantingen. Nederlands Bosbouw Tijdschrift 71(3):138-143.

- Morewood, W. D., K. E. Hein, P. J. Katinic, and J. H. Borden. 2002. An improved trap for large wood-boring insects, with special reference to *Monochamus scutellatus* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae). Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32(3):519-525.
- Morewood, W. D., K. Hoover, P.R. Nelner [sic], and J. C. Sellmer. 2005. Complete development of *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) in northern red oak trees. Canadian Entomologist 137(3):376–379.
- Morewood, W. D., P. R. Neiner, J. R. McNeil, J. C. Sellmer, and K. Hoover. 2003. Oviposition preference and larval performance of *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) in four eastern North American hardwood tree species. Environmental Entomology 32(5):1028-1034.
- Morgan, R. E., P. d. Groot, and S. M. Smith. 2004. Susceptibility of pine plantations to attack by the pine shoot beetle (Tomicus piniperda) in southern Ontario. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34:2528-2540.
- Mudge, A. D., J. R. LaBonte, K. J. R. Johnson, and E. H. LaGasa. 2001. Exotic woodboring Coleoptera (Micromalthidae, Scolytidae) and Hymenoptera (Xiphydriidae) new to Oregon and Washington. Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington 103(4):1011-1019.
- Mühle, H. 2007. Die Eiche EI Dorado für Insekten. LWF aktuell (60):56-57.
- Müller, J., and M. Goßner. 2007. Single host trees in a closed forest canopy matrix: a highly fragmented landscape? Journal of Applied Entomology 131(9/10):613-620.
- Munro, J. W. 1926. British bark-beetles. Forestry Commission Bulletin (8):1-77. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Murray, M. 2008. New Threat to Walnut: Walnut Twig Beetle and Thousand Canker Disease, Utah Pest News- Fall 2008. Utah Plant Pest Diagnostic Laboratory and Utah State University Extension.
- NAPPO. 2008. North American Plant Protection Organization's Phytosanitary Alert System Official Pest Report Emerald Ash Borer Last accessed August 15, 2008, http://www.pestalert.org/oprDetail.cfm?oprID=333.
- NASDA. 2007. 2007-10-16 USDA Forest Service Letter. National Association of State Departments of Agriculture (NASDA).
- NASF. 2009. NASF Resolution No. 2009-5: Firewood movement policy statement. National Association of State Foresters.
- Negru, S., and D. Pîrvescu. 1966. Further insect pests of the blue Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirbel) Franco var. *glauca* (Boiss.) Franco). Travaux du Museum d'Histoire Naturelle 'Gr. Antipa', Bucarest 6:147-152. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- NHDR. 2006. Feature creature: Emerald ash borer. New Hampshire Department of Resources and Economic Development, NH Forest Health annual newsletter (1st edition).
- Nixon, K. C. 2007. An overview of *Quercus*: Classification and Phylogenetics with Comments on Differences in Wood Anatomy. R. F. Billings and D. N. Appel, (eds.). National Oak Wilt Symposium. International Society of Arboriculture - Texas Chapter, Austin, TX.
- Nowak, D. J., J. E. Pasek, R. A. Sequeira, D. E. Crane, and V. C. Mastro. 2001. Potential effect of *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) on urban trees in the United States. Journal of Economic Entomology 94(1):116-122.
- Nowak, D. J., and J. T. Walton. 2005. Projected urban growth (2000-2050) and its estimated impact on the US forest resource. J. Forestry 103:383-389.
- NPB. 2007. Resolution No. 2: National strategy for mitigation of risks associated with the movement of firewood. National Plant Board, August 22, 2007.
- NPS. 2010. Shenandoah National Park to ban outside firewood in March. News release. National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior.
- NRC. 2009. Scleroderris canker, European strain. Natural Resources Canada. Last accessed August, 2009, http://imfc.cfl.scf.rncan.gc.ca/maladie-disease-eng.asp?geID=7&ind=S.
- NRCS. 2009. The PLANTS Database. United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS), The National Plant Data Center. http://plants.usda.gov/index.html. (Archived at PERAL).
- Nzokou, P., S. M. Pankras, and D. P. Kamdem. 2006. Preservative treatment of ash wood from emerald ash borer (*Agrilus planipennis*) infested trees. Forest Products Journal 56(10):69-72.
- O'Brien, J. G., M.E. Ostry, M.E. Mielke, R. Mech, R.L. Heyd, and D. G. McCullough. 2001. First report of beech bark disease in Michigan. Plant Disease 85:921.
- O'Brien, J. G., M. E. Meilke, D. Starkey, and J. Juzwik. 2000. How to Identify, Prevent, and Control Oak Wilt (NA-PR-03-00). United States Department of Agriculture Forest Service. Northeastern Area State and Private Forestry, St. Paul, MN. 24 pp.
- ODA. 2007. Exotic wood boring insects (EWBI), Oregon Department of Agriculture Plant Division Annual Report 2006.
- ODF. 2007. Flatheaded fir borer (*Melanophila drummondi*), Oregon Department of Forestry Forest Health Note.
- ODFW. 2005. Oregon Invasive Species Action Plan. Oregon Department of Fish & Wildlife, Portland.
- ODNRDF. 1998. Ratings for Firewood, Environmental Task Force Newsletter, Winter, Vol. 1 No. 4. Ohio State University Extension, Ohio Department of Natural Resources Division of Forestry.
- Ohtaka, N., H. Masuya, Y. Yamaoka, and S. Kaneko. 2006. Two new *Ophiostoma* species lacking conidial states isolated from bark beetles and bark beetle-infested *Abies* species in Japan. Canadian Journal of Botany 84(2):282-293.
- Orr, R. L., S. D. Cohen, and R. L. Griffin. 1993. Generic non-indigenous pest risk assessment process "The Generic Process" (for estimating pest risk associated with the introduction of non-indigenous organisms). Planning and Risk Analysis Systems / PPD / APHIS / USDA.
- Ostry, M. E., and J. Juzwik. 2008. Selected Forest and Shade Tree Diseases of Significance in the 20th Century. American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN.
- Otrosina, W. J., and F. W. J. Cobb. 1989. Biology, Ecology, and Epidemiology of *Heterobasidion annosum*. Pages 26-33 *in* W. J. Ostrina and R. F. Scharpf, (eds.).
 Symposium on Research and Mangement of Annosus Root disease in Western North America. USDA Forest Service General Techncial Report PSW 116, Monterey, CA.
- Overhulser, D. L. 1986. Southwest Oregon forest insect pests. Pages 29-34. [CAB Abstracts] *in* O. T. Helgerson, (ed.). Forest Pest Management in Southwest Oregon, Forest Research Laboratory, Oregon State University.
- Owen, D. 2001. Living with pines infected with pitch canker. Pages 1-3 *in* Pine Pitch Canker Task Force, ed. California Pest Council.

- Panesar, T. S., F. G. Peet, J. R. Sutherland, and T. S. Sahota. 1994. Effects of temperature, relative humidity and time on survival of pinewood nematodes in wood chips. European Journal of Forest Pathology 24(5):287-299.
- Patmos, M. 2005. Estimating firewood from standing trees. University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension.
- Pecknold, P. C. 2001. Oak Wilt, Tree Diseases BP-28-W. Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN.
- Pentico, E. W. 2006. Great Smoky Mountains Regulatory Outreach Operation Gatlinburg, TN (August 22-25, 2006). USDA APHIS PPQ EAB Program, Brighton, MI.
- Pentico, E. W. 2010. Personal communication: Elizabeth Pentico, APHIS EAB Program, in a telephone conversation with Leslie Newton, PPQ CPHST PERAL, on 3/23/2010.
- Perkovsky, E. E. 2007. On the find of adult *Micromalthus* (Coleoptera, Micromalthidae) in Dominican amber. Paleontological Journal 41(6):626-628.
- PestID. 2009. Pest Identification Database (PestID). United States Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, Plant Protection and Quarantine. https://mokcs14.aphis.usda.gov/aqas/login.jsp. (Archived at PERAL).
- Peterson, A. T., R. Scachetti-Pereira, and W. W. Hargrove. 2004. Potential geographic distribution of *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) in North America. American Midland Naturalist 151(1):170-178.
- Peterson, K., and E. B. Nelson. 2009. Firewood use in Wisconsin state parks and forests: 2006 and 2008. Research/Management Findings. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 61.
- Petrice, T. R., and R. A. Haack. 2006. Efficacy of three insecticides applied to bark to control *Agrilus planipennis* (Coleoptera: Buprestidae). Great Lakes Entomologist 39(1/2):27-33. [CAB Abstracts]
- Petrice, T. R., and R. A. Haack. 2007. Can emerald ash borer, *Agrilus planipennis* (Coleoptera: Buprestidae), emerge from logs two summers after infested trees are cut? The Great Lakes Entomologist 40(1 & 2):92-95.
- Philips, T. K., and D. K. Young. 2001. Micromalthidae Barber, 1913. Pages 22-23 *in* R. H. Arnett, Jr. and M. C. Thomas, (eds.). American Beetles. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Piri, T. 1996. The spreading of the S type of *Heterobasidion annosum* from Norway spruce stumps to the subsequent tree stand. European Journal of Forest Pathology 26(4):193-204.
- Pitts, J. P., and D. G. Alston. 2004. Area-wide Survey of Tree Fruit Borers including Nurseries in Utah – 2004: Final Report for USDA APHIS Western Region CAPS Project. Utah State University.
- Plante, F., C. Hamelin, and L. Bernier. 2002. A comparative study of genetic diversity of populations of *Nectria galligena* and *N. coccinea* var. *faginata* in North America. Mycological Research 106(2):183-193.
- Poland, T. M., T. M. Ciaramitaro, D. S. Pureswaran, and A. Diss-Torrance. 2008. Evaluating the use of plastic bags to prevent escape of the emerald ash borer, Agrilus planipennis (Coleoptera: Buprestidae) from firewood. Great Lakes Entomologist 41(1/2):40-48.
- Poland, T. M., R. A. Haack, T. R. Petrice, D. L. Miller, L. S. Bauer, and R. Gao. 2006. Field evaluations of systemic insecticides for control of *Anoplophora glabripennis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) in China. Journal of Economic Entomology 99(2):383-392.

- Poland, T. M., R. A. Haack, T. R. Petrice, C. S. Sadof, and D. W. Onstad. 2000. Dispersal of Tomicus piniperda (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) from operational and simulated mill yards. Canadian Entomologist 132:853-866.
- Poland, T. M., and D. G. McCullough. 2006. Emerald ash borer: invasion of the urban forest and the threat to North America's ash resource. Journal of Forestry 104(3):118-124.
- Pollock, D. A., and B. B. Normark. 2002. The life cycle of *Micromalthus debilis* LeConte (1878) (Coleoptera: Archostemata: Micromalthidae): historical review and evolutionary perspective. Journal of Zoological Systematics & Evolutionary Research 40(2):105-112.
- PSU. 2002. Coleoptera Cerambycidae. Pennsylvania State University. Last accessed August 2008, http://www.ento.psu.edu/home/Frost/Holdings/Coleoptera/Cerambycidae.html.
- Punithalingam, E., and J. M. Waterston. 1970. Diplodia pinea.
- Pyatnitzkii, G. K. 1932. Contribution to the fauna of barkbeetles of the woods of Maicop district. Bulletin of the Institute for Controlling Farm and Forest Pests, Leningrad (3):295-302. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Rabaglia, R. J., S. A. Dole, and A. I. Cognato. 2006. Review of American Xyleborina (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae) occurring north of Mexico, with an illustrated key. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 99:1034-1056.
- Rabaglia, R. J., and G. L. Williams. 2002. Two species of western North American Hylesinus Fabricius (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) new to the eastern United States. Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington 104(4):1058-1060.
- Ranius, T., and N. Jansson. 2000. The influence of forest regrowth, original canopy cover and tree size on saproxylic beetles associated with old oaks. Biological Conservation 95(1):85-94.
- Rassi, P., A. Alanen, T. Kanerva, and I. Mannerkoski (eds.). 2001. The Red List of Finnish Species. Ministry of the Environment & Finnish Environment Institute, Helsinki.
- Rexrode, C., and D. Brown. 1983. Oak Wilt Forest Insect and Disease Leaflet 29. U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service.
- Rizzo, D. M., M. Garbelotto, J. M. Davidson, G. W. Slaughter, and S. T. Koike. 2002. *Phytophthora ramorum* as the cause of extensive mortality of *Quercus* spp. and *Lithocarpus densiflorus* in California. Plant Disease 86(3):205-214.
- Robinson, W. H. 2005. Urban Insects and Arachnids: A Handbook of Urban Entomology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.
- Rogers, J. 2008. Occurrence of blue-stain fungi on wood packing material at U.S. ports of entry. Personal communication to H. M. Hartzog on August 05, 2008, from John Rogers, PPQ.
- Roling, M. P., and W. H. Kearby. 1974. Life stages and development of *Monarthrum fasciatum* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) in dying and dead oak trees. Canadian Entomologist 106(12):1301-1308.
- Rose, J. A. 2008. Walnut twig beetle and thousand cankers disease of walnut. The Market Bulletin (West Virginia Department of Agriculture) 92:3.
- Ross, D. A., and N. J. Geistlinger. 1968. Protecting larch logs from *Tetropium velutinum* Leconte with lindane emulsion. Journal of the Entomological Society of British Columbia 65(8):14-15. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Ross, D. W., and H. Solheim. 1997. Pathogenicity to Douglas-fir of *Ophiostoma pseudotsugae* and *Leptographium abietinum*, fungi associated with the Douglas-fir beetle. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 27(1):39-43.

- Rossman, A. Y., G. J. Samuels, C. T. Rogerson, and R. Lowen. 1999. Genera of Bionectriaceae, Hypocreaceae, and Nectriaceae (Hypocreales, Ascomycetes). Studies in Mycology 42:1-248.
- Rubio G., A.E. Bustillo P., L.F. Vallejo E., J.R. Acuña Z., and P. Benavides M. 2008. Alimentary canal and reproductive tract of *Hypothenemus hampei* (Ferrari) (Coleoptera: Curculionidae, Scolytinae). Neotropical Entomology 37(2):143-151.
- Ryall, K. L., and S. M. Smith. 2000. Reproductive success of the introduced pine shoot beetle, Tomicus piniperda (L.) (Coleoptera, Scolytidae) on selected North American and European conifers. Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Ontario 131:113-121.
- Safranyik, L., H. Barclay, A. Thomson, and W. G. Riel. 1999. A population dynamics model for the mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus ponderosae* Hopk. (Coleoptera : Scolytidae), Canadian Forest Service Information Report No. BC-X-386 (BC-X-386).
- Saint-Germain, M., P. Drapeau, and C. M. Buddle. 2007. Host-use patterns of saproxylic phloeophagous and xylophagous Coleoptera adults and larvae along the decay gradient in standing dead black spruce and aspen. Ecography 30(6):737-748.
- Schmid, J. M., and S. A. Mata. 1991. Red turpentine beetles in partially cut stands of ponderosa pine.
- Schmitt, C. L., J. R. Parmeter, and J. T. Kliejunas. 2000. Annosus Root Disease of Western Conifers. United States Department of Agriculture Forest Service.
- Schmitz, R. F., and K. E. Gibson. 1996. Douglas-fir beetle.
- Schneider, I. 1963. Injurious insects introduced into Germany with imported wood. Holz-Zentralblatt 89(43/44):661. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Schweigkofler, W., W. J. Otrosina, S. L. Smith, D. R. Cluck, K. Maeda, K. G. Peay, and M. Garbelotto. 2005. Detection and quantification of *Leptographium wageneri*, the cause of black-stain root disease, from bark beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) in Northern California using regular and real-time PCR. Canadian Journal of Forestry Research 35:1798-1808.
- Scott, A. 1941. Reversal of sex production in *Micromalthus*. Biological Bulletin 81(3):420-431.
- Scott, A. C. 1936. Haploidy and aberrant spermatogenesis in a coleopteran, *Micromalthus debilis* LeConte. Journal of Morphology 59(3):485-515.
- Scott, A. C. 1938. Paedogenesis in the Coleoptera. Zeitschrift für Morphologie und Ökologie der Tiere 33(4):633-653.
- Scott, D. W. 1974. Notes on the general biology of the flatheaded fir borer *Melanophila drummondi* Kirby reared from ponderosa pine (Coleoptera: Buprestidae). Pan-Pacific Entomologist 50(2):204-205. [CAB Abstracts]
- Seybold, S. J., T. W. Coleman, and A. D. Graves. 2009. The impact of invasive organisms on hardwoods in California urban landscapes with emphasis on the goldspotted oak borer. Pages 76-78 *in* Abstracts for 93rd Annual Meeting, Pacific Branch, Entomological Society of America.
- SFIWC, S. a. 2008. Position Paper FHTF P08-1: Restriction of firewood movement to slow the spread of invasive species harmful to North American forests. Forest Health Task Force (Southern Group of State Foresters) and the Southern Forest Insect Work Conference (SFIWC).
- Sharov, A. A., and A. M. Liebhold. 1998. Model of slowing the spread of gypsy moth (Lepidoptera:Lymantriidae) with a barrier zone. Ecological Applications 8:1170-1179.
- Shigo, A. L. 1966. Defects in birch associated with injuries made by Xyloterinus politus Say.

- Shore, T. L., W. G. Riel, L. Safranyik, and J. Castonguay. 2005. Survival of the Douglas-fir beetle in peeled and unpeeled logs and in stumps. Western Journal of Applied Forestry 20(3):149-153. [CAB Abstracts]
- Simpson, L. J. 1929. The seasonal history of *Polygraphus rufipennis* Kirby. Canadian Entomologist 61(7):146-151. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Sinclair, W. A., and H. H. Lyon. 2005. Diseases of Trees and Shrubs (Second Edition). Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. 660 pp.
- Skarpaas, O., and B. Okland. 2009. Timber import and the risk of forest pest introductions. J. Applied Ecol. 46:55-63.
- Skilling, D. D., C. E. Cordell, R. L. Anderson, W. H. Hoffard, T. D. Landis, R. S. Smith, and H. V. Toko. 2004. Scleroderris Canker. Bugwood Network. Last accessed April 07, 2009, http://www.forestpests.org/nursery/scleroderriscanker.html.
- Skilling, D. D., B. Schneider, and D. Fasking. 1986. Biology and Control of Scleroderris Canker in North America, Research Paper NC-275. United States Department of Agriculture Forest Service, North Central Forest Experiment Station, St. Paul, MN.
- Skog, K. E., and I. A. Watterson. 1983. Residential fuelwood use in the United States: 1980-81.U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Madison WI. 54+ pp.
- Slusher, J. P. 1985. Wood fuel for heating. Agricultural MU Guide, University Extension, University of Missouri-Columbia.
- Smith, D. N. 1962. Prolonged larval development in *Buprestis aurulenta* L. (Coleoptera: Buprestidae): a review with new cases. Canadian Entomologist 94(6):586-593. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Smith, M. T., P. C. Tobin, J. Bancroft, G. Li, and R. Gao. 2004. Dispersal and spatiotemporal dynamics of Asian longhorned beetle (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) in China. Environmental Entomology 33(2):435-442.
- Smith, R. H. 1971. Red turpentine beetle.
- Smith, V. K. 1968. Lindane controls *Lyctus* powder-post beetles during air-drying of rough ash lumber. Journal of Economic Entomology 61(1):323-324.
- Smith, W. B., P. D. Miles, C. H. Perry, and S. A. Pugh. 2009. Forest Resources of the United States, 2007. Gen. Tech. Rep. WO-78.:378 pp.
- Snare, L. 2006. Pest and Disease Analysis in Hazelnuts (NTO5002). Horticulture Australia Ltd, Sydney, Australia.
- Snow, F. H. 1906. List of Coleoptera collected in New Mexico by the entomological expeditions of the University of Kansas. Transactions of the Kansas Academy of Science 20:165-189.
- Snyder, T. E. 1927. Defects in timber caused by insects.
- Solheim, H. 2007. Species of Ophiostomataceae isolated from *Picea abies* infested by the bark beetle *Ips typographus*. Nordic Journal of Botany 6(2):199-207.
- Solheim, H., and P. Krokene. 1998. Growth and virulence of *Ceratocystis rufipenni* and three blue-stain fungi isolated from the Douglas-fir beetle. Canadian Journal of Botany 76(10):1763-1769.
- Solheim, H., and B. Långström. 1991. Blue-stain fungi associated with Tomicus piniperda in Sweden and preliminary observations on their pathogenicity. Annales des Sciences Forestières 48:149-156.
- Solomon, J. D. 1995. Guide to insect borers of North American broadleaf trees and shrubs.

- Solomon, J. D., T. D. Leininger, A. D. Wilson, R. L. Anderson, L. C. Thompson, and F. I. McCracken. 1993. Ash pests: a guide to major insects, diseases, air pollution injury, and chemical injury.
- Starkey, D., J. Meeker, and A. Mangini. 2007. Pitch Canker of Southern Pines and Recent Cases in Florida, Louisiana, Mississippi, and Texas. Pages 97-103 in USDA Forest Servcie Proceedings RMRS-P-50.
- Stock, A. J., J. H. Borden, and T. L. Pratt. 1994. Containment and concentration of infestations of the western balsam bark beetle, *Dryocoetes confusus* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae), using the aggregation pheromone *exo*-brevicomin. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 24(3):483-492.
- Storer, A. J., T. R. Gordon, P. L. Dallara, and D. L. Wood. 1996. Pitch canker kills pines, spreads to new species and regions. California Agriculture 48(6):9-13. [CAB Abstracts]
- Storer, A. J., T. R. Gordon, D. L. Wood, and P. L. Dallara. 1995. Pitch canker in California. California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, Sacramento, CA. 15 pp.
- Suomi, D. A. 2007. Wood-infesting insect pests. Oregon State University. Last accessed August 2008, http://weeds.ippc.orst.edu/pnw/insects?26PUBH05.dat.
- Švihra, P., D. F. Crosby, and B. Duckles. 2004. Emergence suppression of bark and ambrosia beetles in infested oaks. Journal of Arboriculture 30(1):62-66.
- Swain, S. 2002. Deconstructing sudden oak death. Fremontia 30(1):3-11.
- Swiecki, T. J., and E. A. Bernhardt. 2006. A field guide to insects and diseases of California oaks.
- Swift, I. 2008. Ecological and biogeographical observations on Cerambycidae (Coleoptera) from California, USA. Insecta Mundi (26):1-7.
- Sydnor, T. D., M. Bumgardner, and A. Todd. 2007. The potential economic impacts of emerald ash borer (*Agrilus planipennis*) on Ohio, U.S., Communities. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry 33(1):48-54.
- Tainter, F. H., W. L. MacDonald, and E. J. Harner. 1984. Survival of the oak wilt fungus in airdried lumber. European Journal of Forestry 14(1):9-16.
- Taylor, R. A. J., L. S. Bauer, D. L. Miller, and R. A. Haack. 2005. Emerald ash borer flight potential. Pages 15-16 *in* V. Mastro and R. Reardon, (eds.). Emerald Ash Borer Research and Technology Development Meeting, Romulus, Michigan, Oct 5-6, 2004. USDA Forest Service Publication No. FHTET-2004-15.
- TFS. 2007. Texas Forest Health Highlights 2007. Texas Forest Service, The Texas A&M University System.
- Thomas, F. M., R. Blank, and G. Hartmann. 2002. Abiotic and biotic factors and their interactions as causes of oak decline in Central Europe. Forest Pathology 32(4/5):277-307.
- Thomas, M. C., W. N. Dixon, and T. R. Fasulo. 2006. Pine shoot beetle, Tomicus piniperda (Linnaeus) (Insecta: Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae).
- Tisserat, N., W. Cranshaw, D. Leatherman, C. Utley, and K. Alexander. 2009. Black walnut mortality in Colorado caused by the walnut twig beetle and thousand cankers disease. Plant Health Progress Published 11 August 2009.
- Tomalak, M., H. E. Welch, and T. D. Galloway. 1989. Nematode parasites of bark beetles (Scolytidae) in southern Manitoba, with descriptions of three new species of *Sulphuretylenchus* Rühm (Nematoda: Allantonematidae). Canadian Journal of Zoology 67(10):2497-2505.

- Tompkins, D. 2005. Douglas Fir. National Christmas Tree Association Inc. Last accessed December 15, 2008, http://www.christmastree.org/trees/douglas.cfm.
- Trimble, F. M. 1924. Life history and habits of two Pacific coast bark beetles. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 17(4):382-391.
- UBCF. 2004. Ophiostomatoid Fungi Database. University of British Columbia. http://fungi.forestry.ubc.ca. (Archived at PERAL).
- US DOE. 2000. Forest products industry analysis brief.
- USDA. 2000. Pest Risk Assessment for Importation of Solid Wood Packing Materials into the United States: APHIS and FS. United States Department of Agriculture. 275 pp.
- USDAFS. 2005. Map of Beech Bark Disease Distribution in Northeastern Area States. *in*. United States Department of Agriculture Forest Service.
- USFS. 2006. 2006 Forest Insect and Disease Conditions for the Southern Region, Most Significant Conditions in Brief. United States Forest Service.
- Uzunovic, A., D. Q. Yang, P. Gagne, C. Breuil, L. Bernier, A. Byrne, M. Gignac, and S. H. Kim. 1999. Fungi that cause sapstain in Canadian softwoods. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 45(11):914-922.
- Valery, L., H. Fritz, J. C. Lefueuvre, and D. Simberloff. 2009. Invasive species can also be native. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 24:1.
- Van Wyk, M., J. Roux, I. Barnes, B.D. Wingfield, D.B. Chhetri, T. Kirisits, and M. J. Wingfield. 2004. *Ceratocystis bhutanensis* sp. nov., associated with the bark beetle *Ips schmutzenhoferi* on *Picea spinulosa* in Bhutan. Studies in Mycology 50:365-379.
- Vigneault, R. 2007. Coléoptères de la Province de Québec en collection. Last accessed June 2008, http://www.longicornes.com/Coleoptera_holdings.html.
- Wang, X.-Y., Z.-Q. Yang, H. Wu, and J. R. Gould. 2008. Effects of host size on the sex ratio, clutch size, and size of adult *Spathius agrili*, an ectoparasitoid of emerald ash borer. Biological Control 44(1):7-12.
- Ward, J. D., and P. A. Mistretta. 2007. Impacts of Pests on Forest Health, Southern Forest Resource Assessment- Final Technical Report. Southern Region USDA Forest Service and Forest Health Protection.
- WDNR. 2007. Other Exotic Forest Threats Beech Bark Disease. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, Madison, WI. Last accessed February 25, 2009, http://dnr.wi.gov/forestry/fh/exotics/exotic-bb.htm.
- Weimer, J. 2008. Firewood: A major vector of forest pest movement. Presentation given at the workshop on Forest Health Issues in New Hampshire, December 4, 2008.
- Weldon, G. P. 1918. Pear growing in California. Monthly Bulletin of the State Commission of Horticulture 7(5):371-407. [CAB Abstracts Archive]
- Wermelinger, B., P. Duelli, and M. K. Obrist. 2002. Dynamics of saproxylic beetles (Coleoptera) in windthrow areas in alpine spruce forests. Forest Snow and Landscape Research 77(1/2):133-148.
- Wikler, K., T. R. Gordon, A. J. Storer, and D. L. Wood. 2003a. Pitch Canker, Pub. 74107. University of California, Agriculture and Natural Resources. 1-5 pp.
- Wikler, K., A. J. Storer, W. Newman, T. R. Gordon, and D. L. Wood. 2003b. The dynamics of an introduced pathogen in a native Monterey pine (*Pinus radiata*) forest. Forest Ecology and Management 179:209-221.

- Williamson, B. 2008. Firewood regulation in New York and our "Don't move firewood" outreach efforts. Proceedings of the 2008 Firewood Forum, Northeastern Area, State and Private Forestry (Available at: http://na.fs.fed.us/firewood/proceedings/08/proceedings08.shtm).
- Wilson, J. R. U., E. E. Dormontt, P. J. Prentis, A. J. Lowe, and D. M. Richardson. 2009. Something in the way you move: dispersal pathways affect invasion success. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 24:136-145.
- Wingfield, M. J., K.A. Seifert, and J. F. Webber. 1993. *Ceratocystis* and *Ophiostoma*: Taxonomy, Ecology, and Pathogenicity. APS Press, St. Paul, MN. 293 pp.
- Winter, T. G. 1991. Interceptions of exotic bark beetles (Col., Scolytidae) on timber imports into Great Britain, 1980-1988. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 127(1520-1523):13-17.
- Wood, S. L. 1982. The Bark and Ambrosia Beetles of North and Central America (Coleoptera: Scolytidae), A Taxonomic Monograph. Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah. 1359 pp.
- Woods, A., D. K. Coates, and A. Hamann. 2005. Is an Unprecedented *Dothistroma* Needle Blight Epidemic Related to Climate Change? BioScience 55(9):761-769.
- Worrall, J. 2007. Pitch Canker, Forest and Shade Tree Pathology. Last accessed April, 19, 2009, www.forestpathology.org/dis_pitch.html.
- Yakota, S. 1975. Scleroderris canker of Todo-fir in Hokkaido, Northern Japan. III. Dormant infection of the causal fungus. European Journal of Forest Pathology 5:7-12.
- Yan, Z., J. Sun, O. Don, and Z. Zhang. 2005. The red turpentine beetle, *Dendroctonus valens* LeConte (Scolytidae): an exotic invasive pest of pine in China. Biodiversity and Conservation 14(7):1735–1760.
- Zhou, X., Z.W. De Beer, and M. J. Wingfield. 2006. DNA sequence comparisons of *Ophiostoma* spp., including *Ophiostoma aurorae* sp. nov., associated with pine bark beetles in South Africa. Studies in Mycology. 55:269-277.
- Zipfel, R. D., Z. W. De Beer, K. Jacobs, B.D. Wingfield, and M. J. Wingfield. 2006. Multi-gene phylogenies define *Ceratocystiopsis* and *Grosmannia* distinct from *Ophiostoma*. Studies in Mycology 55:75-97.